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PART1
CAUTIONARY STATEMENT REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This 2003 Annual Report on Form 10-K contains statements which constitute forward-looking
statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933 and Section 21E of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, both as amended. Those statements include statements regarding our
intent, belief or current expectations. Prospective investors are cautioned that any such forward-looking
statements are not guarantees of future performance and involve risks and uncertainties, and that actual
results may differ materially from those projected in the forward-looking statements. Such risks and
uncertainties include, among other things, our ability to face stiff competition, profitably manage a
sourcing and distribution business, the financial strength of our major customers, the continued
acceptance of our existing and new products by our existing and new customers, dependence on key
customers, the risks of foreign manufacturing, competitive and economic factors in the textile and apparel
markets, the availability of raw materials, the ability to manage growth, weather-related delays,
dependence on key personnel, general economic conditions, China’s entry into World Trade
Organization, or “WTO”, global manufacturing costs and restrictions, and other risks and uncertainties
that may be detailed herein. See “Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition
and Results of Operations--Factors That May Affect Future Results.”

Item 1. BUSINESS
Overview

Tarrant Apparel Group is a leading provider of casual apparel, serving mass merchandisers,
department stores, branded wholesalers and specialty chains located primarily in the United States by
designing, merchandising, contracting for the manufacture of, manufacturing directly and selling casual
apparel for women, men and children. Our major customers include specialty retailers, such as Express, a
division of The Limited, as well as Lane Bryant, Lerner New York, J.C. Penney, K-Mart, Kohl’s,
Mervyn’s and Wal-Mart. Our products are manufactured in a variety of woven and knit fabrications and
include jeans wear, casual pants, t-shirts, shorts, blouses, shirts and other tops, dresses and jackets.

In 2001, our net sales decreased by 16.4% to $330 million. In 2002, our net sales increased by
5.2% to $347 million. In 2003, our net sales decreased by 7.8% to $320 million. In 2001 and 2002, we
experienced a net loss of $2.9 million and $1.2 million, respectively, before cumulative effect of
accounting change due to our adoption of SFAS No. 142, and $2.9 million and $6.1 million, respectively,
after the cumulative effect of accounting change. In 2003, we experienced a net loss of $35.9 million.
See “Ttem 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations--
Results of Operations.”

During 2003, we launched our private brands initiative, where we acquire ownership of or
exclusively license rights to a brand name and sell apparel products under this brand to a single retail
company within a geographic region. In the second quarter of 2003, we acquired an equity interest in the
owner of the trademark “American Rag CIE,” and the operator of American Rag retail stores, and our
subsidiary, Private Brands, Inc., acquired a license to certain exclusive rights to this trademark. Private
Brands then entered into a multi-year exclusive distribution agreement with Federated Merchandising
Group (“FMG”), the sourcing arm of Federated Department Stores, to supply FMG with American Rag
CIE, a new casual sportswear collection for juniors and young men. Private Brands designs and
manufactures a full collection of American Rag apparel exclusively for sale in Federated stores across the
country. Beginning in August 2003, the American Rag collection is available in approximately 100 select




Macy’s, the Bon Marche, Burdines, Goldsmith’s, Lazarus and Rich’s-Macy’s locations. During 2003, we
also began selling products under our own brand “No Jeans” exclusively to Wet Seal.

Commencing September 1, 2003, we ceased directly operating nearly all of our equipment and
fixed assets in Mexico by leasing and outsourcing the management of a substantial majority of our
Mexican operations to affiliates of Mr. Kamel Nacif, one of our shareholders. See “-- 2003
Restructuring.”

In October 2003, we sold an aggregate of 881,732 shares of the Series A Preferred Stock, at $38
per share, to a group of institutional investors and high net worth individuals and raised an aggregate of
approximately $31 million, after payment of commissions and expenses. We used the proceeds of this
offering to accounts payable and reduce debts. The preferred stock was converted into an aggregate of

8,817,320 shares of common stock following a special meeting of shareholders held on December 4,
2003.

2003 Restructuring

At inception, we relied on independent contract manufacturers located primarily in the Far East to
produce the merchandise we sold to our customers. Commencing in the third quarter of 1997, and taking
advantage of the North American Free Trade Agreement, or “NAFTA”, we substantially expanded our
use of independent cutting, sewing and finishing contractors in Mexico, primarily for basic garments.
Commencing in 1999, and concluding in December 2002 with the purchase of a denim and twill
manufacturing plant in Tlaxacala, Mexico, we engaged in an ambitious program to develop a vertically
integrated manufacturing operation in Mexico while maintaining our sourcing operation in the Far East.
We believed that the dual strategy of maintaining independent contract manufacturers in the Far East and
operating manufacturing facilities in Mexico controlled by us could best serve the different needs of our
customers and enable us to capitalize on advantages offered by both markets. We believed this
diversified approach would help to mitigate the risks of doing business outside of North America, such as
transportation delays, economic and political instability, currency fluctuations, restrictions on the transfer
of funds and the imposition of tariffs, export duties, quota, and other trade restrictions.

In August 2003, we determined to abandon our strategy of being both a trading and vertically
integrated manufacturing company, and commencing September 1, 2003, we ceased directly operating
nearly all of our equipment and fixed assets in Mexico by leasing and outsourcing the management of a
substantial majority of our Mexican operations to affiliates of Mr. Kamel Nacif, one of our shareholders.
We made our determination based on many factors, including the following:

o Our vertical integration strategy in Mexico required significant working capital, which
required us to significantly increase debt to finance our Mexico operations. Such
financing was not available to us on commercially reasonable terms.

e We faced the challenges of rising overhead costs and the need to take low and sometimes
negative margin orders in slow seasons to fill capacity at our facilities, which reduced our
overall average gross margin.

e The elimination of quotas on WTQ, member countries by 2005, and the other effects of
trade agreements among WTO countries, would soon result in increased competition
from developing countries, which historically have lower labor costs, including China
and Taiwan, both of which recently became members of the WTO.




Our withdrawal from our owned and operated facilities in Mexico on September 1, 2003, has
reduced our working capital requirements, eliminated the need to accept low or negative margin orders to
fill production capacity, and permitted us to source production in the best locations world-wide. We
believe that our strong design, merchandising and sourcing capabilities are competitive advantages that
will enable us to overcome the desire by some retailers to purchase merchandise directly from the
manufacturer. Due to our change of strategy in Mexico, at June 30, 2003, we wrote off approximately
$19.5 million in goodwill associated with certain assets we acquired in Mexico, and wrote down $11
million of inventory in Mexico in anticipation of its liquidation at reduced prices. See Note 7 of the
“Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.”

Business Strategy

We believe that the following trends are currently affecting apparel retailing and manufacturing:

) There is a decline in the dominance of the casual apparel trend and the emergence of
more upscale looks, which has put pressure on the moderately priced casual apparel
segment.

o Consolidation among appare] retailers has increased their ability to demand value-added

services from apparel manufacturers, including fashion expertise, rapid response, just-in-
time delivery, Electronic Data Interchange and favorable pricing.

. Increased competition among retailers due to consolidation has resulted in an increased
demand for private label and private brand apparel, which generally offers retailers
higher margins and permits them to differentiate their products.

. The current fashion cycle requires more design and product development, in addition to
quickly responding to emerging trends. Apparel manufacturers that offer these
capabilities are in demand.

We believe that we have the capabilities to take advantage of these trends and remain a principal
value-added supplier of casuval, moderately priced apparel as well as increase our share of the more
upscaled market segment due to the following:

Design Expertise. As one of the very few sourcing companies with our own design team, we
believe that we have established a reputation with our customers as a fashion resource and manufacturer
that is capable of providing design assistance to customers in the face of rapidly changing fashion trends.

Research and Development Capabilities. We believe our design team and our two sample rooms
in Los Angeles and China have made significant contributions to customers in developing new fabrics,
washes and finishes. :

Sample-Making and Market-Testing Capabilities. We seek to support customers with our design
expertise, sample-making capability and ability to rapidly produce small test orders of products.

On-Time Delivery. We have developed a diversified network of international contract
manufacturers and fabric suppliers which enable us to accept orders of varying sizes and delivery
schedules and to produce a broad range of garments at varying prices depending upon lead time and other
requirements of the customer.

Quality and Competitively Priced Products. We believe that our long time presence in the Far
East and our experienced product management teams provide a superior supply chain that enables us to
meet the individual needs of our customers in terms of quality and lead time.




Product Diversification. Our experiencing in designing and delivering complete apparel
collections for some of our customers has improved our overall ability to deliver product classifications
beyond our core casual bottoms offerings, which has further diversified the merchandise we offer to other
customers.

Products

Women’s jeans historically have been, and continue to be, our principal product. In recent years,
we have expanded our sales of moderately priced women’s apparel to include casual, denim and non-
denim, including twill, woven tops and bottoms, and in 1998, we commenced the sales of men’s and
children’s apparel. Our women’s apparel products currently include jeans wear, casual pants, t-shirts,
shorts, blouses, shirts, knits and sweaters, dresses and jackets. These products are manufactured in petite,
standard and large sizes and are sold at a variety of wholesale prices generally ranging from less than $3.0
to over $50.0 per garment.

Over the past three years, approximately 72% of net sales were derived from the sales of pants
and jeans, approximately 7% from the sale of shorts and approximately 5% from the sale of shirts. The
balance of net sales consisted of sales of skirts, dresses, jackets and other products.

Customers

We generally market our products to high-volume retailers that we believe can grow into major
accounts. By limiting our customer base to a select group of larger accounts, we seek to build stronger
long-term relationships and leverage our operating costs against large bulk orders. Although we continue
to diversify our customer base, the majority of any growth in sales is expected to come from existing
customers.

The following table shows the percentage of our net sales in fiscal years 2001, 2002 and 2003
attributable to each customer that accounted for more than 5% of net sales.

Percentage of Net Sales

Customer ' 2001 2002 2003
The Limited (1) ..ocooviiicicceccce 14.3 12.7 153
Lane Bryant......ccccceeeveniieierceneiincceeiee 20.5 17.6 12.1
Lerner New York (2)...ccceivieceiiinicccenicnnenns 8.5 9.9 8.3
Wal-Mart....c.coviririiriniiincecn et 12.2 9.7 8.7
Tommy Hilfiger .....ooovevviiiivieeiciieceecreee 7.8 17.4 6.7
KONP S i 1.7 5.1 6.6
MEIVYN'S (oot 7.9 7.3 59

(1) Includes Express and Limited stores.
(2) Sold by Limited Brands Inc. in November 2002.

In the same periods, virtually all of our sales were of private label apparel and several major
international brands. We currently serve over 25 customers, which, in addition to those identified above,
include, Wet Seal, J.C. Penney, K-Mart, and Seven Licensing Company, LLC. During 2003, we
launched our private brands initiative, where we acquire ownership of or exclusively license rights to a
brand name and sell apparel products under this brand to a single retail company within a geographic
region. We sell products under our company-owned brand “No Jeans” exclusively to Wet Seal, and our
licensed brand “American Rag Cie” to Federated stores. Additionally, we manufacture branded
merchandise for several major designers.




We do not have long-term contracts with any of our customers and, therefore, there can be no
assurance that any customer will continue to place orders with us of the same magnitude as it has in the
past, or at all. In addition, the apparel industry historically has been subject to substantial cyclical
variation, with consumer spending for purchases of apparel and related goods tending to decline during
recessionary periods. To the extent that these financial difficulties occur, there can be no assurance that
our financial condition and results of operations would not be adversely affected. See “Item 7.
Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations--Factors That
May Aftect Future Results.”

Design, Merchandising and Sales

While many private label producers only arrange for the bulk production of styles specified by
their customers, we not only design garments, but also assist some of our customers in market testing new
designs. We believe that our design, sample-production and test-run capabilities give us a competitive
advantage in obtaining bulk orders from our customers. We also often receive bulk orders for garments
we have not designed because many of our customers allocate bulk orders among more than one
producer,

We have developed integrated teams of design, merchandising and support personnel, some of
whom serve on more than one team, that focus on designing and producing merchandise that reflects the
style and image of their customers. Teams are divided between private label and private brands for
sourcing operations.

Each team is responsible for all aspects of its customer’s needs, including designing products,
developing product samples and test items, obtaining orders, coordinating fabric choices and
procurement, monitoring production and delivering finished products. The team seeks to identify
prevailing fashion trends that meet its customer’s retail strategies and design garments incorporating those
trends. The team also works with the buyers of its customer to revise designs as necessary to better
reflect the style and image that the customer desires to project to consumers. During the production
process, the team is responsible for informing the customer about the progress of the order, including any
difficulties that might affect the timetable for delivery. In this way, our customer and we can make
appropriate arrangements regarding any delay or other change in the order. We believe that this team
approach enables our employees to develop an understanding of the customer’s distinctive styles and
production requirements in order to respond effectively to the customer’s needs. During 2000, we opened
an office in Bentonville, Arkansas to support this approach and better service the needs of Wal-Mart.

As part of our merchandising strategy, we produce, at our own expense, four collections a year in
order to offer new designs and fabrics for customers that rely on us for fashion direction. We produce
samples at our facilities in Guangdong Province, China and in Los Angeles, California. The facilities in
China and Los Angeles currently furnish the majority of our sample requirements.

From time to time and at scheduled seasonal meetings, we present these samples to the
customer’s buyers who determine which, if any, of the samples will be produced on a test run or a bulk
order. Samples are often presented in coordinated groupings or as part of a product line. Some customers,
particularly specialty retail stores such as divisions of The Limited, may require that a product be tested
before placing a bulk order. Testing involves the production of as few as several hundred copies of a
given sample in different size, fabric and color combinations. The customer pays for these test items,
which are placed in selected stores to gauge consumer response. The production of test items enables our
customers to identify garments that may appeal to consumers and also provides us with important
information regarding the cost and feasibility of the bulk production of the tested garment. If the test is
determined to be successful, we generally receive a significant percentage of the customer’s total bulk




order of the tested item. In addition, as is typical in the private label business, we receive bulk production
orders to produce merchandise designed by our competitors or other designers, since most customers
allocate bulk orders among a number of suppliers.

Sourcing
General

When bidding for or filling an order, our international sourcing network enables us to choose
from among a number of suppliers and manufacturers based on the customer’s price requirements,
product specifications and delivery schedules. Historically, we manufactured our products through
independent cutting; sewing and finishing contractors located primarily in Hong Kong and China, and
have purchased our fabric from independent fabric manufacturers with weaving mills located primarily in
Hong Kong and China. In recent years, we have expanded our network to include suppliers and
manufacturers located in a number of additional countries, including India, Peru, Thailand, Egypt and
Mexico. Before we ceased manufacturing in Mexico on September 1, 2003, we sourced more than 50%
of our merchandise annually from our factories in Mexico. Our sourcing strategy is based on a strong
presence in Hong Kong and China, and expansion of our Indonesia and India manufacturing network in
the Far East. We are also expanding our Western Hemisphere production in Peru and other Central and
South American countries, and continue to source production in Mexico. The following table sets forth
the percentage of our merchandise, on the basis of the free on board cost at the supplier’s plant, or FOB
Basis, by country for the periods indicated:

2001 2002 2003

International Sourcing:

Hong Kong and China........ccccoeceeuaee. 293 % 253 % 286 %

Other (1) oo 95 % 133 % 244 %
Domestic Sourcing:

United States........ccovvvvvveviviiviinreecieneen, 93 % 6.1 % 4.4 %

- Mexico and Central America............... 519 % 553 % 426 %

(1) In 2003, such countries consisted of Thailand, Egypt, Bangladesh, Macau, Mongolia, Nepal, the
Philippines and Vietnam.

Dependence on Contract Manufacturers

The use of contract manufacturers and the resulting lack of direct control over the production of
our products could result in our failure to receive timely delivery of products of acceptable quality.
Although we believe that alternative sources of cutting, sewing and finishing services are readily
available, the loss of one or more contract manufacturers could have a materially adverse effect on our
results of operations until an alternative source can be located and commence producing our products.

Although we have adopted a code of vendor conduct and monitor the compliance of our
independent contractors with our code of conduct and applicable labor laws, we do not control our
contractors or their labor practices. The violation of federal, state or foreign labor laws by one of our
contractors can result in us being subject to fines and our goods, which are manufactured in violation of
such laws, being seized or their sale in interstate commerce being prohibited. Additionally, certain of our
customers may refuse to do business with us based on our contractors’ labor practices. From time to
time, we have been notified by federal, state or foreign authorities that certain of our contractors are the
subject of investigations or have been found to have violated applicable labor laws. To date, we have not
been subject to any sanctions that, individually or in the aggregate, have had or could have a material




adverse effect upon us, and we are not aware of any facts on which any such sanctions could be based.
There can be no assurance, however, that in the future we will not be subject to sanctions or lose business
from our customers as a result of violations of applicable labor laws by our contractors, or that such
sanctions or loss of business will not have a material adverse effect on us. In addition, our customers
require strict compliance by their apparel manufacturers, including us, with applicable labor laws. To that
end, we are regularly inspected by some of our major customers. There can be no assurance that the
violation of applicable labor laws by one of our contractors will not have a material adverse effect on our
relationship with our customers.

Except for a commitment to purchase six million yards of fabric annually manufactured at the
facilities in Mexico which we have leased to a related third party, we do not have any long-term contracts
with independent fabric suppliers. The loss of any of our major fabric suppliers could have a material
adverse effect on our financial condition and results of operations until alternative arrangements are
secured.

Diversified Production Network

We believe that we have the ability, through our production network, to operate on production
schedules with lead times as short as 30 days. Typically, our specialty retail customers attempt to respond
quickly to changing fashion trends and are increasingly less willing to assume the risk that goods ordered
on long lead times will be out of fashion when delivered. These retailers, including divisions of The
Limited, frequently require production schedules with lead times ranging from 30 to 120 days. Although
mass merchandisers, such as Wal-Mart, are beginning to operate on shorter lead times, they are
occasionally able to estimate their needs as much as six months to nine months in advance for “program”

- business--basic products that do not change in style significantly from season to season. Our ability to
operate on production schedules with a wide range of lead times helps us to meet our customers’ varying
needs.

By allocating an order among different manufacturers, we seek to fill the high-volume orders of
our customers, while meeting their delivery requirements. Upon receiving an order, we determine which
of our suppliers and manufacturers (both owned and third party contractors) can best fill the order and
meet the customer’s price, quality and delivery requirements. We consider, among other things, the price
charged by each manufacturer and the manufacturer’s available production capacity to complete the
order, as well as the availability of quota for the product from various countries and the manufacturer’s
ability to produce goods on a timely basis subject to the customer’s quality specifications. Qur personnel
also consider the transportation lead times required to deliver an order from a given manufacturer to the
customer. In addition, some customers prefer not to carry excess inventory and therefore require that we
stagger the delivery of products over several weeks.

International Sourcing

We conduct and monitor our sourcing operations from our international offices. At December 31,
2003, we had offices in Hong Kong, Thailand and Mexico. The staffs at these locations have extensive
knowledge about, and experience with, sourcing and production in their respective regions, including
purchasing, manufacturing and quality control. Several times each year, members of our senior
management, including local staff, visit and inspect the facilities and operations of our international
suppliers and manufacturers.

Foreign manufacturing is subject to a number of risk factors, including, among other things,
transportation delays and interruptions, political instability, expropriation, currency fluctuations and the
imposition of tariffs, import and export controls, other non-tariff barriers (including changes in the




allocation of quotas), natural disasters and cultural issues Each of these factors could have a material
adverse effect on us.

While we are in the process of establishing business relationships with manufacturers and
suppliers located in countries other than Hong Kong or China, such as in India, Peru, Thailand and
Central America, we still primarily contract with manufacturers and suppliers located in Hong Kong and
China for our international sourcing needs, and currently expect that we will continue to do so for the
foreseeable future. Any significant disruption in our operations or our relationships with our
manufacturers and suppliers located in Hong Kong or China could have a material adverse effect on us.

The Import Sourcing Process

As is customary in the apparel industry, we do not have any long-term contracts with our
manufacturers. During the manufacturing process, our quality control personnel visit each factory to
inspect garments when the fabric is cut, as it is being sewn and as the garment is being finished. Daily
information on the status of each order is transmitted from the various manufacturing facilities to our
offices in Hong Kong and Los Angeles. We, in turn, keep our customers apprised, often through daily
telephone calls and frequent written reports. These calls and reports include candid assessments of the
progress of a customer’s order, including a discussion of the difficulties, if any, that have been
encountered and our plans to rectify them.

We often arrange, on behalf of manufacturers, for the purchase of fabric from a single supplier.
We have the fabric shipped directly to the cutting factory and invoice the factory for the fabric.
Generally, the factories pay us for the fabric with offsets against the price of the finished goods. For our
longstanding program business, we may purchase or produce fabric in advance of receiving the order, but
in accordance with the customer’s specifications. By procuring fabric for an entire order from one source,
we believe that production costs per garment are reduced and customer specifications as to fabric quality
and color can be better controlled.

The anti-terrorist measures adopted by the U.S. government and in particular, by the U.S.
Customs, have meant more stringent inspection processes before imported goods are cleared for delivery
into the U.S. In some instances, these measures have caused delays in the pre-planned delivery of
products to customers.

Distribution

Based on our world wide sourcing capability and in order to properly fulfill orders, we have
tailored our distribution system to meet the needs of the customer. Some customers, like Wal-Mart and
Kohl’s, use Electronic Data Interchange, or “EDI”, to send orders and receive merchandise and invoices.
The EDI distribution function has been centralized in our Los Angeles corporate headquarters in order to
expedite and control the flow of merchandise and electronic information, and to insure that the special
requirements of our EDI customers are met. :

For orders sourced outside the United States and Mexico, the merchandise is shipped from the
production facility by truck to a port where it is consolidated and loaded on containerized vessels for
ocean transport to the United States. For customers with West Coast and Mid West distribution centers,
the merchandise is brought into the port of Los Angeles. After Customs clearance, the merchandise is
shipped by truck to either our Los Angeles warehouse facility or an independent bonded warehouse in
Ohio.  Proximity to the customer’s distribution center is important for customer support. For merchandise
produced in the Middle East and destined for an East Coast customer distribution center, the port of entry
is New York. After Customs clearance, the merchandise is trucked to an independent public warehouse




in New Jersey. The independent warehouses are instructed in writing by the Los Angeles office when to
ship the merchandise to the customer.

Backlog

As of March 22, 2004, we had unfilled customer orders of approximately $67 million as
compared to approximately $135 million as of February 26, 2003. We believe that all of our backlog of
orders as of March 22, 2004 will be filled before the end of the third quarter of fiscal 2004. Backlog is
based on our estimates derived from internal management reports. The amount of unfilled orders at a
particular time is affected by a number of factors, including the scheduling of manufacturing and shipping
of the product, which in some instances, depends on the customer’s requirements. Accordingly, a
comparison of unfilled orders from period to period is not necessarily meaningful and may not be
indicative of eventual annual bookings or actual shipments. Our experience has been that the
cancellations, rejections or returns of orders have not materially reduced the amount of sales realized from
our backlog.

Segment Information

Our predominant business is the design, distribution and importation of private label and private
brand casual apparel. Substantially all of our revenues are from the sales of apparel. We are organized
into three geographic regions: the United States, Asia and Mexico. We evaluate performance of each
region based on profit or loss from operations before income taxes not including the cumulative effect of
change in accounting principles. For information regarding the revenues and assets associated with our
geographic regions, see Note 15 of the “Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.”

Import Restrictions
Quotas

We imported approximately 96% of our products sold in 2003. Approximately 37% of this
merchandise was imported from Mexico, which is subject to special rules under NAFTA. NAFTA allows
for the duty and quota free entry into the United States of certain qualifying merchandise. We have been
able to avail ourselves of such preferential duty treatment for many of the products we import from
Mexico. While quotas have expired on non-qualifying Mexican origin apparel at the end of 2003, most of
such merchandise remains subject to duty.

A majority of the balance of the merchandise imported by us in 2003 was manufactured in
various countries (e.g., China) with which the U.S. has entered into bilateral trade agreements. These
agreements impose, among other things, certain quantitative restraints (i.e., quotas) on textile and apparel
in various categories that can be imported into the U.S. from that country during a particular quota year.
Accordingly, our operations are subject to the restrictions imposed by these trade agreements.

As of 2005, quota on apparel from all WTO countries, including China, will be eliminated. As
China is now a member of the WTO, its exports of textiles and apparel to the U.S. will be covered by the
WTO Agreement on Textiles and Clothing, see “Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations.” However, various statutory mechanisms exist which
could be invoked by the United States in order to impose “safeguard” measures (i.e., additional duties or
quotas) upon imports of products from China. These measures arise out of the accession agreement that
allowed China to join the WTO. For example, the China textile “safeguard” authorizes the imposition of
quotas in response to a textile or apparel product of China being imported into the United States in such
increased quantities or under such conditions as to cause or threaten to cause market disruption.
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In 2003, approximately 22% of the product imported by us was of Hong Kong origin, for which
Hong Kong quota was utilized upon import. Certain non-origin conferring production operations were
performed in China in connection with a large portion of our imported products of Hong Kong origin,
under the so-called Outward Processing Arrangement (“OPA™).

Duties and Tariffs

As with all goods imported into the U.S., our imported merchandise is subject to duty (unless
statutorily exempt from duty) at rates established by U.S. law. These rates range, depending on the type
of product, from approximately 2% to 61% of the appraised value of the product. In addition to duties, in
the ordinary course of our business, we are occasionally subject to claims by the U.S. Bureau of Customs
and Border Protection for penalties, liquidated damages and other charges relating to import activities.
Similarly, we are at times entitled to refunds from Customs, resulting from the overpayment of duties.

Products imported from China into the United States receive the same preferential tariff treatment
accorded goods from other countries granted Normal Trade Relations (“NTR”) status. This status has
been in place conditionally for a number of years and is now guaranteed on a more permanent basis by
China’s accession to WTO membership in December 2001.

Our continued ability to source products from foreign countries may be adversely affected by (or
benefited by) future trade agreements and restrictions, changes in U.S. trade policy, significant decreases
in import quotas, embargoes, the disruption of trade from exporting countries as a result of political
instability or the imposition of additional duties, taxes and other charges or restrictions on all imports or
specified classes of imports.

Competition

There is intense competition in the sectors of the apparel industry in which we participate. We
compete with many other manufacturers, many of which are larger and have greater resources than us.
We also face competition from our own customers and potential customers, many of which have
established, or may establish, their own internal product development and sourcing capabilities. For
example, The Limited’s wholly owned subsidiary, Mast Industries, Inc., competes with us and other
private label apparel suppliers for orders from divisions of The Limited. We believe that we compete
favorably on the basis of design and sample capabilities, the quality and value of our products, price, and
the production flexibility that we enjoy as a result of our sourcing network.

Employees

At December 31, 2003, we had approximately 150 full-time employees in the United States, 900
in Mexico, 140 in Hong Kong, 110 in China and 10 in Thailand.

Item 2. PROPERTIES

We currently conduct our operations from 15 facilities, 10 of which are leased. Our executive
offices are located at 3151 East Washington Boulevard, Los Angeles, California 90023. We lease this
facility for an annual rent of approximately $650,000 from a California corporation, which is owned by
Mr. Guez and Mr. Kay. The lease for this facility, under which we are responsible for the payment of
taxes, utilities and insurance, terminated in December 2003. The lease is currently on a month-to-month
basis pending to our planned relocation to new premises. We also sublease an office at 9000 Sunset
Boulevard, Los Angeles at a base rent of $374,000 per year. Furthermore, we lease 146,000 square feet
of warehouse space in South Gate, California for an annual rent of $399,630 from an unrelated third
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party. The lease for this facility terminates in March 2004. In Bentonville, Arkansas, we opened an
administrative office during 2000 to handle business related to Wal-Mart. This facility is leased until
2004 for approximately 2,000 square feet at an annual rent of approximately $32,000. In Columbus, Ohio
we opened an administrative office during 1999 to handle business related to The Limited. This facility is
leased until 2004, for approximately 6,000 square feet at an annual rental of approximately $74,000. We
lease approximately 36,000 square feet of warechouse and office space in Hong Kong for an annual rent of
$674,000 from a Hong Kong corporation that is owned by Mr. Guez and Mr. Kay. The base rent is
subject to increase every two years in accordance with market rates. The lease for this facility, under
which we are responsible for the payment of taxes, utilities and insurance, expires in June 2004. We lease
approximately 50,000 square feet, which we use to operate our sample-making facility in Guangdong
Province, China. The lease for this facility terminates in June 2004 and the annual rent is $60,000. We
also lease office space in Bangkok, Thailand to house the small staff we maintain there. We own two
facilities in Ruleville, Mississippi with an aggregate of 70,000 square feet. We also lease one location in
New York City for showroom and sales operations. The square footage of this location is approximately
9,000 with an annual base rent of approximately $350,000. This lease expires in 2010. Subsequent to
December 31, 2003, we exchanged this lease with a tenant in the same building for a 4,000 square foot
office with an annual base rental of approximately $146,000 for 2004 and $150,000 for 2005 to 2007,
which lease will expire in 2007. We are currently renting one storage facility at Tehuacan, Mexico at a
monthly rental of $3,500. No long-term contract has been signed for this lease. See Note 10 and Note 14
in the relevant section of “Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements” for additional information with
respect to these facilities.

On April 18, 1999, we acquired a 250,000 square foot denim mill in Puebla, Mexico with an
annual capacity of approximately 18 million meters of denim. On March 29, 2001, we completed the
acquisition of a sewing facility in Ajalpan, Mexico. This facility contains 98,702 square feet. On
December 31, 2002, we completed the acquisition of a twill mill facility, which has 1,700,000 square feet,
and a capacity of 18 million meters of denim or twill. Commencing on September 1, 2003, we leased a
substantial majority of these premises to an affiliate of Mr. Kamel Nacif, one of our shareholders, for an
annual rental of $11 million. We have agreed to purchase annually, six million yards of fabric
manufactured at the facilities leased or operated by Mr. Nacif’s affiliates at market prices to be
negotiated.

We believe that all of our existing facilities are well maintained, in good operating condition and
adequate to meet our current and foreseeable needs.

Item 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS
Patrick Bensimon

Subsequent to December 31, 2003, we reached a settlement with Patrick Bensimon relating to claims
Mr. Bensimon made against Jane Doe International, LLC relating to his employment agreement with this
company. Jane Doe International, LLC, which was beneficially owned 51% by us and 49% by Needletex Inc.,
was formed for the purpose of acquiring assets from Needletex, Inc., a company owned by Mr. Bensimon,
pursuant to the terms of an Asset Purchase Agreement. On January 21, 2003, Mr. Bensimon obtained an
arbitration award of $1,425,655 for salary and bonus plus interest accrued thereon and legal fees and costs to be
determined. On April 7, 2003, the panel issued a final award in favor of Mr. Bensimon confirming the prior
interim award and awarding Mr. Bensimon costs and attorneys fees in the amount of $489,640. On April 28,
2003, Mr. Bensimon sought a court order confirming the final award. We asked the court to vacate or modify
the final award.
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In January 2004, we settled the employment issue with Mr. Bensimon for $1.2 million in cash and
forgiveness of approximately $859,000 in debts owed by Needletex Inc. As part of the settlement, we received
the remaining 49% interest in Jane Doe International, LLC. An additional expense of approximately $379,000
was made in the fourth quarter of 2003 to cover the forgiveness of debts.

At the outset of the dispute, we tendered the claim by Mr. Bensimon to our insurance carrier, which
accepted the tender with a reservation of rights as to whether coverage existed for the claim. After the interim
arbitration award was made, the insurance carrier denied coverage. After the final award by the arbitration
panel, we made demand on the insurance carrier, which was denied. We then commenced suit against the
insurance carrier in the Los Angeles County Superior Court for breach of contract and related claims.
Subsequent to December 31, 2003, the carrier has settled the case with a cash payment of $330,000.

Item 4. SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS

On December 4, 2003, we held a Special Meeting of Shareholders. At the Special Meeting, there
were 18,597,443 shares entitled to vote, and 14,012,698 shares (75%) were represented at the meeting in
person or by proxy. The following summarizes the vote results for those matters submitted to our
shareholders for action at the Special Meeting:

1. Proposal to approve the issuance of 8,817,320 shares of common stock issuable upon
conversion of the outstanding shares of Series A Convertible Preferred Stock.

For Against Abstain Broker Non-Votes
10,076,862 56,393 20,716 3,858,727
2. Proposal to approve an amendment to the Tarrant’s Articles of Incorporation to increase

the authorized number of shares of common stock from 35,000,000 to 100,000,000.

For Against Abstain Broker Non-Votes
13,554,357 245925 20,816 191,600
3. Proposal to approve the grant of options to purchase 400,000 shares of common stock to

Barry Aved, our President.

For Against Abstain Broker Non-Votes
8,285,152 119,803 25,016 5,582,727
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PART II

Item 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER
MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY

NASDAQ National Market

Our common stock began trading on The NASDAQ Stock Market’s National Market under the
symbol “TAGS” on July 24, 1995.

The folléwing table sets forth, for the periods indicated, the range of high and low sale prices for
our common stock as reported by NASDAQ.

Low High
2002 |
FArst QUATTET ....ocvviiis et sttt et st esn et e s rresan st enraesbaenes 4.65 5.49
Second QUATLET.......ccceiiiiireie ettt sse sttt e ae st e sene et e nnnes 4.95 6.49
Third QUAITET ..ottt et st et se e e 4.79 6.45
Fourth QUarter...........ocoooiiii i 3.99 5.00
2003
First QUarter.......ccoccvvvveiieenie e eee e et ee e bbb e ra e 3.61 4.29
Second QUATTET. ... .iiiei ettt ettt e e st e e esee s resr b e sane e sabesrvesanes 2.83 4.03
THIT QUATTET ..evvieiiiieetiere ettt e e bt as e sae s eee e st e baesbe e s eseesananene 2.72 4.10
FOUrth QUATTET......coiiiieiiiieiie et e e st e et e ssreaessaeaaeas 3.40 4.70

On March 26, 2004, the last reported sale price of our common stock as reported by NASDAQ
was $1.73. As of March 26, 2004, we had 36 shareholders of record.

Dividend Policy

We have not declared dividends on our common stock during either of the last two fiscal years.
We intend to retain any future earnings for use in our business and, therefore, do not anticipate declaring
or paying any cash dividends in the foreseeable future. The declaration and payment of any cash
dividends in the future will depend upon our earnings, financial condition, capital needs and other factors
deemed relevant by the Board of Directors. In addition, our credit agreement prohibits the payment of
dividends during the term of the agreement. ’
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Equity Compensation Plan Information

The following table sets forth certain information regarding our equity compensation plans as of
December 31, 2003,

Number of securities to be

issued upon exercise of Weighted-average exercise Number of securities remaining
outstanding options, price of outstanding options, available for future issuance
warrants and rights warrants and rights under equity compensation plans

Equity compensation

plans approved by 8,926,087 $7.13 2,573,913

security holders

Equity compensation

plans not approved 881,732 . $4.65 --
by security holders
Total 9,807,819 $6.91 2,573,913

Material Features of Individual Equity Compensation Plans not Approved by Shareholders

Sanders Morris Harris Inc. acted as placement agent in connection with our October 2003 private
placement financing transaction. As partial consideration for their services as placement agent, we issued
to Sanders Morris Harris a warrant to purchase 881,732 shares of our common stock at an exercise price
of $4.65 per share. The warrant has a term of 5 years. The warrant vests and becomes exercisable in full
on April 17, 2004. See Note 12 to the “Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.”

Recent Sale of Unregistered Securities

In October 2003, we issued and sold 881,732 shares of Series A Convertible Preferred Stock (the
“Series A Shares”), at $38 per share, to a group of institutional investors and high net worth individuals
and raised an aggregate of approximately $31 million, after payment of commissions and expenses. The
Series A Shares were converted into an aggregate of 8,817,320 shares of common stock following
approval of the conversion by our sharcholders at a special meeting held on December 4, 2003 in
accordance with the original conversion terms. Each of the investors represented to us that the investor
was an “accredited investor” within the meaning of Rule 501 of Regulation D under the Securities Act of
1933, and that the investor was purchasing the securities for investment and not in connection with a
distribution thereof. The issuance and sale of the Series A Shares was exempt from the registration and
prospectus delivery requirements of the Securities Act pursuant to Section 4(2) of the Securities Act and
Regulation D promulgated thereunder as a transaction not involving any public offering. The issuance
and sale of the common stock upon conversion of the Series A Shares was exempt from the registration
and prospectus delivery requirements of the Securities Act pursuant to Section 3(a)(9) of the Securities
Act.

In November 2003, we issued an aggregate of 200,000 shares of common stock to Antonio
Haddad Haddad, Miguel Angel Haddad Yunes, Mario Alberto Haddad Yunes, and Marco Antonio
Haddad Yunes in partial settlement of the balance of approximately $2.5 million in obligations owed
these parties arising from our acquisition of their factories in 1998. Each of these investors represented to
us that the investor was an “accredited investor” within the meaning of Rule 501 of Regulation D under
the Securities Act of 1933, and that the investor was purchasing the securities for investment and not in
connection with a distribution thereof. The issuance and sale of the common stock was exempt from the
registration and prospectus delivery requirements of the Securities Act pursuant to Section 4(2) of the
Securities Act and Regulation D promulgated thereunder as a transaction not involving any public
offering. See Note 12 to the “Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.”
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Item 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The following selected financial data is qualified in its entirety by, and should be read in
conjunction with, the other information and financial statements, including the notes thereto, appearing
elsewhere herein.

Year Ended December 31,
1999 2000 2001 2002 2003
(In thousands, except per share data)

Income Statement Data:

Netsales......ooovvvveieieiiecirienne $ 395341 S 395,169 $ 330,253 $ 347,39 $ 320,423
Cost of sales.....cccoevvirivvirrenienn, 329.131 332,333 277.525 302,082 288.445

Gross profit.....cceceeeeeenrinn. 66,210 62,836 - 52,728 45,309 31,978
Selling and distribution expenses 13,692 17,580 14,345 10,757 11,329
General and administrative

CXPENSES..vcriveveanrevcairreerreaen 25,259 40,327 33,136 30,082 31,767
Amortization of

intangibles(1)(3) 2,312 2,840 3,317 - -~
Impairment of assets -- - - -- 22277

Income from operations........ $ 24,947 2,089 1,930 4,470 (33,395)
Interest expense ‘ (5,771) (9,850) (7,808) (5,444) (5,603)
Interest income ...... 396 1,295 3,256 4,748 425
Minority interest -- 1,313 (412) (4.581) 3,461
Other income(2)........ccccoovevnnne. 920 1,350 1,853 2,648 4,784
Other expense(2).....ccocevervrerenene, (172 (193) (856) (2.004) (1.425)
Income before provision for

income taxes and cumulative

effect of accounting change.. 20,320 (3,996) (2,037) (163) (31,753)
Provision for income taxes......... (7.439) 1.478 852 1.051 4,132

Income (loss) before cumulative
effect of accounting change.. § 12,881 $ (2,518) $ (2,889) $ (1,214) $  (35,885)
Cumulative effect of :

accounting change(3)............ - - - (4,871) -
Net income (1088)....ccccvvereiienenns $ 12881 $ (2,518) s (2,889) $ (6,085) $ _ (35,885)
Net income (loss) per share —
Basic:
Before cumutative effect of
accounting change .............. $ 0.85 $ (0.16) $ (0.18) $ (0.08) $ (1.97)
Cumulative effect of
accounting change .............. -- - - (0.30) --
After cumulative effect of
accounting change .............. $ 0.85 $ 0.16) $ (0.18) $ (0.38) 3 (1.97)
Net income (loss) per share —
Diluted:
Before cumulative effect of
accounting change .............. $ 0.79 $ (0.16) $ (0.18) $ (0.08) $ (1.97)
Cumulative effect of
accounting change .............. -- -- -- (0.30) --
After cumulative effect of
accounting change .............. $ 0.79 $ (0.16) $ (0.18) $ (0.38) $ (1.97)
Weighted average shares
outstanding (000)
Basic...oocrree e 15,200 15,815 15,825 15,834 18,215
Diluted ....ooveieiiier e, 16,314 15,815 15,825 15,834 18,215
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As of December 31,

1999 2000 2001 2002 2003
(In thousands)

Balance Sheet Data:
Working capital .......ccooeeverennan 8 25,196 $ 27,957 $ 25,109 3 11,731 $ (18,018)
Total asSets .....ccoervvevriireccerinenn 295,042 308,092 288,467 316,444 253,105
Bank borrowings and long-term

obligations .......cccoveervrnceeenne 99,072 114,439 111,336 106,937 68,587
Shareholders’ equity ..........c....... 139,403 130,489 125,164 121,161 107,709

(1) See “Item 1. Business--Acquisitions.”

2)  Major components of Other income (expense) (as presented above) include rental and lease income, and foreign currenc
i} p P ) P _ : ” gn Y
gains or losses. See “Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations”.

(3) Effective January 1, 2002, we adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 142, “Goodwill and Other
Intangible Assets.” According to this statement, goodwill and other intangible assets with indefinite lives are no longer
subject to amortization, but rather an annual assessment of impairment applied on a fair-value-based test. We adopted
SFAS No. 142 in fiscal 2002 and performed our first annual assessment of impairment, which resulted in an impairment

loss of $4.9 million.
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Item 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION
AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following discussion and analysis should be read together with the Consolidated Financial
Statements of Tarrant Apparel Group and the “Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements” included
elsewhere in this Form 10-K. This discussion summarizes the significant factors affecting the
consolidated operating results, financial condition and liquidity and cash flows of Tarrant Apparel Group
for the fiscal years ended December 31, 2001, 2002 and 2003. Except for historical information, the
matters discussed in this Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations are forward looking statements that involve risks and uncertainties and are based upon
judgments coricerning various factors that are beyond our control. See “Cautionary Statement Regarding
Forward-Looking Statements.”

Overview

Tarrant Apparel Group is a leading provider of casual apparel, serving mass merchandisers,
department stores, branded wholesalers and specialty chains located primarily in the United States by
designing, merchandising, contracting for the manufacture of, manufacturing directly and selling casual
apparel for women, men and children.

We generate revenues from the sale of apparel merchandise to our customers that we manufacture
or have manufactured by third party contract manufacturers located outside of the United States.
Revenues and net loss for the years ended December 31, 2001, 2002 and 2003 were as follows (dollars in
thousands):

Revenues and Net Loss: 2001 2002 2003

INEE SALES....e vttt sttt ettt be e ae e $ 330,253 $ 347,391 $ 320,423
Net loss before cumulative effect of accounting change .............. § (2,889) $ (1,214) §  (35,885)
Net loss after cumulative effect of accounting change.................. $ (2,889) § (6,085) $ (35,885)

Cash flows for the years ended December 31, 2001, 2002 and 2003 were as follows (dollars in
thousands):

Cash Flows: 2001 2002 2003

Net cash provided by operating activities.......ccoovveneirreeriennn $ 30,051 $ 15,493 $ 9,484
Net cash used in investing activities ...........cooveiviivveniesreinnc s §  (15445) § (5,670) $ (1,053)
Net cash used in financing aCtivities...........c.oceeveeiereereeeenencineenn $ (15916) § (8,435) § (6,295)

Significant Developments in 2003
Restructuring of Mexican Operations

In August 2003, we determined to abandon our strategy of being both a trading and vertically
integrated manufacturing company, and commencing September 1, 2003, we ceased directly operating
nearly all of our equipment and fixed assets in Mexico by leasing and outsourcing the management of a
substantial majority of our Mexican operations to affiliates of Mr. Kamel Nacif, one of our shareholders.
We made our determination based on many factors, including the following: '
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¢ QOur vertical integration strategy in Mexico required significant working capital, which
required us to significantly increase debt to finance our Mexico operations. Such
financing was not available to us on commercially reasonable terms.

o We faced the challenges of rising overhead costs and the need to take low and sometimes
negative margin orders in slow seasons to fill capacity at our facilities, which reduced our
- overall average gross margin.

e The elimination of quotas on WTO member countries by 2005, and the other effects of
trade agreements among WTO countries, would soon result in increased competition
from developing countries, which historically have lower labor costs, including China
and Taiwan, both of which recently became members of the WTO.

Our withdrawal from our owned and operated facilities in Mexico on September 1, 2003, has
reduced our working capital requirements, eliminated the need to accept low or negative margin orders to
fill production capacity, and permitted us to source production in the best locations world-wide. We
believe that our strong design, merchandising and sourcing capabilities are competitive advantages that
will enable us to overcome the desire by some retailers to purchase merchandise directly from the
manufacturer. Due to our change of strategy in Mexico, at June 30, 2003 we wrote off approximately
$19.5 million in goodwill associated with certain assets we acquired in Mexico, and wrote down $11
million of inventory in Mexico in anticipation of its liquidation at reduced prices. We will receive $11
million per annum from the lessor of our equipment and facilities in Mexico over the 6-year term of the
leases. We have agreed to purchase annually, six million yards of fabric manufactured at the facilities
leased and/or operated by Mr. Nacif’s affiliates at market prices to be negotiated. See Note 7 and Note 14
of the “Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.”

Equity Financings

In October 2003, we sold an aggregate of 881,732 shares of the Series A Convertible Preferred
Stock, at $38 per share, to a group of institutional investors and high net worth individuals and raised an
aggregate of approximately $31 million, after payment of commissions and expenses. We used the
proceeds of this offering to pay accounts payable and reduce debts. The preferred stock was converted
into an aggregate of 8,817,320 shares of common stock following a special meeting of shareholders held
on December 4, 2003. We have registered the shares of common stock issued upon conversion of the
Series A Preferred Stock with the Securities and Exchange Commission for resale by the investors. In
conjunction with the private placement transaction, we issued a warrant to purchase 881,732 shares of
common stock to the placement agent. The warrant is exercisable beginning April 17, 2004 through
October 17, 2008 and has a per share exercise price of $4.65.

In January 2004, we sold an aggregate of 1,200,000 shares of our common stock at a price of
$3.35 per share, for aggregate proceeds to us of approximately $3.7 million after payment of placement
agent fees and other offering expenses. We used the proceeds of this offering for working capital
purposes. The securities sold in the offering were registered under the Securities Act of 1933, as
amended, pursuant to our effective shelf registration statement. In conjunction with this public offering,
we issued a warrant to purchase 30,000 shares of our common stock to the placement agent, the warrant
has an exercise price of $3.35 per share, is fully vested and exercisable and has a term of five years.

Private Brands Initiative
During 2003, we launched our private brands initiative, where we acquire ownership of or

exclusively license rights to a brand name and sell apparel products under this brand to a single retail
company within a geographic region. In the second quarter of 2003, we acquired an equity interest in the
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owner of the trademark “American Rag CIE,” and the operator of American Rag retail stores, and our
subsidiary, Private Brands, Inc., acquired a license to certain exclusive rights to this trademark. Private
Brands then entered into a multi-year exclusive distribution agreement with Federated Merchandising
Group (“FMG™), the sourcing arm of Federated Department Stores, to supply FMG with American Rag
CIE, a new casual sportswear collection for juniors and young men. Beginning in August 2003, the
American Rag collection is available in approximately 100 select Macy’s, the Bon Marche, Burdines,
Goldsmith’s, Lazarus and Rich’s-Macy’s locations. During 2003, we also began selling products under
our owned brand “No Jeans” exclusively to Wet Seal.

With a private brand relationship, we own and control the brand and thus build equity in the
brand as the product gains acceptance by consumers. In a private label relationship, we source products
for our customers who own and control the brand and thus benefit from any increase in value of the
brand. We also control the production of private brand merchandise, unlike private label merchandise
where the brand owner controls sourcing. For instance, we experienced a significant loss of business
from Lane Bryant due to a change in their management and the subsequent shift in their sourcing strategy.

We believe that forming private brand alliances with premier retailers allows us greater
penetration of apparel categories in addition to our core casual bottoms business. In addition to the
increased breadth of classifications, we have improved our ability to compete for private label from our
private brand. We also receive higher margins for private branded merchandise, which allows us to be
more profitable on the same level of unit sales. '

Internal Revenue Service Audit

In Januwary 2004, the Internal Revenue Service completed its examination of our Federal income
tax returns for the years ended December 31, 1996 through 2001. The IRS has proposed adjustments to
increase our income tax payable for the six years under examination by an aggregate of approximately
$14.5 million. This adjustment would also result in additional state taxes and interest of approximately
$12.6 million. We believe that we have meritorious defenses to and intend to vigorously contest the
proposed adjustments. If the proposed adjustments are upheld through the administrative and legal
process, they could have a material impact on our earnings and cash flow. We believe we have provided
adequate reserves for any reasonably foreseeable outcome related to these matters on the balance sheet
included in the Consolidated Financial Statements under the caption “Income Taxes”. We do not believe
that the adjustments, if any, arising from the IRS examination, will result in an additional income tax
liability beyond what is recorded in the accompanying balance sheet.

While we do not anticipate any requirement to make significant cash payments in the coming 12
to 18 months to the taxing authorities, we intend to accumulate a contingency cash reserve from
operations to meet a potential cash outflow upon the ultimate resolution of these matters. Building this
cash reserve will require us to set aside on a periodic basis a significant portion of our cash from
operations, which we do not intend on using for other purposes.

Labor Difficulties in Mexico

In connection with the restructuring of our Mexican operations, and the resulting reduction in our
Mexican work force, a group of laid off workers attempted to form a new labor union and organized
walkouts and demonstrations at one of our sewing plants in Ajalpan, Mexico. These demonstrations took
place in August 2003 and were short-lived, but very well publicized. Workers rights groups picked up the
story and began an Internet campaign to publicize the workers” grievances. In October 2003, a local labor
board denied the group’s application to organize a new union. Nevertheless, we have remained the target
of workers rights activists who have picketed our customers, stuffed electronic mailboxes with inaccurate,
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protest e-mails, and threatened customers with retaliation for continuing business with us. While we have
defended our position to our customers, some of our larger customers for Mexico produced jeans wear
have been reluctant to place orders with us in response to actions taken and contemplated by these activist
groups. As a consequence, we project a loss of approximately $75 million in revenue from sales of
Mexico-produced merchandise in 2004.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Management’s discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations are
based upon our consolidated financial statements, which have been prepared in accordance with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. The preparation of these
financial statements requires us to make estimates and judgments that affect the reported amounts of
assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses, and related disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities. On
an ongoing basis, we evaluate estimates, including those related to returns, discounts, bad debts,
inventories, intangible assets, income taxes, and contingencies and litigation. We base our estimates on
historical experience and on various other assumptions that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances, the results of which form the basis for making judgments about the carrying values of
assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from these
estimates under different assumptions or conditions.

We believe the following critical accounting policies affect our more significant judgments and
estimates used in the preparation of our consolidated financial statements. For a further discussion on the
application of these and other accounting policies, see Note 1 of the “Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements.”

Accounts Receivable--Allowance for Returns, Discounts and Bad Debts

We evaluate the collectibility of accounts receivable and chargebacks (disputes from the
customer) based upon a combination of factors. In circumstances where we are aware of a specific
customer’s inability to meet its financial obligations (such as in the case of bankruptcy filings or
substantial downgrading of credit sources), a specific teserve for bad debts is taken against amounts due
to reduce the net recognized receivable to the amount reasonably expected to be collected. For all other
customers, we recognize reserves for bad debts and chargebacks based on our historical collection
experience. If collection experience deteriorates (for example, due to an unexpected material adverse
change in a major customer’s ability to meet its financial obligations to us), the estimates of the
recoverability of amounts due us could be reduced by a material amount.

As of December 31, 2003, the balance in the allowance for returns, discounts and bad debts
reserves was $4.2 million, compared to $4.3 million at December 31, 2002.

Inventory

Our inventories are valued at the lower of cost or market. Under certain market conditions, we
use estimates and judgments regarding the valuation of inventory to properly value inventory. Inventory
adjustments are made for the difference between the cost of the inventory and the estimated market value
and charged to operations in the period in which the facts that give rise to the adjustments become known,

Valuation of Long-lived and Intangible Assets and Goodwill

We assess the impairment of identifiable intangibles, long-lived assets and goodwill whenever
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable. Factors
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considered important that could trigger an impairment review include, but are not limited to, the
following:

. a significant underperformance relative to expected historical or projected future
operating results;

. a significant change in the manner of the use of the acquired asset or the strategy for the
overall business; or

) a significant negative industry or economic trend.

Effective January 1, 2002, we adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 142,
“Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets.” According to this statement, goodwill and other intangible
assets with indefinite lives are no longer subject to amortization, but rather an annual assessment of
impairment applied on a fair-value-based test. We adopted SFAS No. 142 in fiscal 2002 and performed
our first annual assessment of impairment, which resulted in an impairment loss of $4.9 million.

We utilized the discounted cash flow methodology to estimate fair value. At December 31, 2003,
we have a goodwill balance of $8.6 million, and a net property and equipment balance of $135.6 million,
as compared to a goodwill balance of $28.1 million and a net property and equipment balance of $160.0
million at December 31, 2002. Our goodwill balance reflects the write off of $19.5 million of goodwill as
discussed in “— Significant Developments in 2003 — Restructuring of Mexican Operations” and Note 7
of the “Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.”

Income Taxes

As part of the process of preparing our consolidated financial statements, management is required
to estimate income taxes in each of the jurisdictions in which we operate. The process involves
estimating actual current tax expense along with assessing temporary differences resulting from differing
treatment of items for book and tax purposes. These timing differences result in deferred tax assets and
liabilities, which are included in our consolidated balance sheet. Management records a valuation
allowance to reduce its deferred tax assets to the amount that is more likely than not to be realized.
Management has considered future taxable income and ongoing tax planning strategies in assessing the
need for the valuation allowance. Increases in the valuation allowance result in additional expense to be
reflected within the tax provision in the consolidated statement of operations.

In addition, accruals are also estimated for ongoing audits regarding U.S. Federal tax issues that
are currently unresolved, based on our estimate of whether, and the extent to which, additional taxes will
be due. We routinely monitor the potential impact of these situations and believe that amounts are
properly accrued for. If we ultimately determine that payment of these amounts is unnecessary, we will
reverse the liability and recognize a tax benefit during the period in which we determine that the liability
is no longer necessary. We will record an additional charge in our provision for taxes in any period we
determine that the original estimate of a tax liability is less than we expect the ultimate assessment to be.
See Note 9 of the “Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements” for a discussion of current tax matters.

Debit Covenants

Our debt agreements require the maintenance of certain financial ratios and a minimum level of
net worth as discussed in Note 8 of the “Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.” If our results of
operations erode and we are not able to obtain waivers from the lenders, the debt would be in default and
callable by our lenders. In addition, due to cross-default provisions in a majority of the debt agreements,
approximately 80% of our long-term debt would become due in full if any of the debt is in default. In
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anticipation of us not being able to meet the required covenants due to various reasons, we either
negotiate for changes in the relative covenants or an advance waiver or reclassify the relevant debt as
current. We also believe that our lenders would provide waivers if necessary. However, our expectations
of future operating results and continued compliance with other debt covenants cannot be assured and our
lenders’ actions are not controllable by us. If projections of future operating results are not achieved and
the debt is placed in default, we would be required to reduce our expenses, including by curtailing
operations, and to raise capital through the sale of assets, issuance of equity or otherwise, any of which
could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition and results of operations.

Results of Operations

The following table sets forth, for the periods indicated, certain items in our consolidated
statements of income as a percentage of net sales:

Years Ended December 31,

2001 2002 2003

NEE SAIES ..ttt ees 100.0 % 100.0 % 100.0 %
Costof sales......cooevvrenieeie s e 84.0 87.0 90.0
Gross Profit .....cccccvvverrvienonerinirenee e 16.0 13.0 10.0
Selling and distribution expenses.................. 4.4 3.1 3.5
General and administration expenses............ 10.0 8.6 9.9
Amortization expense(1}(2) .......coocovveeevrvnnnens 1.0 -- -~
Impairment of @SSets ........cocvvveveeerrierernnns -- - 7.0
Income (loss) from operations ...................... 0.6 1.3 (10.4)
INtErest EXPENSE......evvverereiieniierieeieaeeeiaranens (2.4) (1.6) (1.7)
I[nterest iNCOME.......c.cevviveeririiiiie e 1.0 1.4 0.1
MiNority INerest. . ...ovverierieecieercieecres e (0.1) (1.3) 1.0
Other INCOME......ccvveeevreirierirrenienn e 0.6 0.8 1.5
Other eXpense........cceeerereirrierneiecennennes (0.3) (0.6) (04)
Loss before provision for income taxes

and cumulative effect of accounting change (0.6) 0.0 (9.9)
INCOME 1AXES .veevnrieirecirirciiceirceiree e (0.3) (0.3) (1.3)
Loss before cumulative effect of

accounting change..........ccoevevevceveeeiiesiennennas 0.9) 0.3) (11.2)
Cumulative effect of accounting change(2).. - (1.4) -
INEL LOSS.corveviieeeecess et re s (0.9% (1.7Y% (11.2Y%

(1) Reflects amortization of the excess of cost over fair value of assets.
(2) Reflects the adoption of SFAS No. 142

Comparison of 2003 to 2002
Net sales decreased by $27.0 million, or 7.8%, from $347.4 million in 2002 to $320.4 million in
2003. The decrease in net sales was largely attributable to a decrease in Mexican sourced sales from

$186.9 million in 2002 to $139.1 million in 2003. The decrease in net sales was offset by additional
revenue of $20.5 million from our private brands.
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Gross profit (which consists of net sales less product costs, direct labor, manufacturing overhead,
duty, quota, freight in, brokerage, and warehousing) for 2003 was $32.0 million, or 10.0% of net sales,
compared to $45.3 million, or 13.0 % of net sales, for 2002, representing a decrease of $13.3 million or
29.4%. The decrease in gross profit as a percentage of net sales occurred primarily because of an
inventory write-down of $11 million in the second quarter of 2003 and severance payments to Mexican
workers of approximately $2.5 million included as part of cost of goods sold in 2003. This increase in
cost of goods sold was partially offset by a reclassification of depreciation and amortization in fourth
quarter of 2003 of $3.2 million to general and administration expense. Excluding the inventory write-
down, severance payments and reclassification of depreciation and amortization in 2003, gross profit
would have decreased by $3.0 million or 6.6% to $42.3 million or 13.2%.

Selling and distribution expenses increased by $572,000, or 5.3%, from $10.8 million in 2002 to
$11.3 million in 2003. As a percentage of net sales, these variable expenses increased from 3.1% in 2002
to 3.5% in 2003. The increase was primarily caused by an overall increase in warehousing and
distribution cost due to the private brands in smaller size shipments.

General and administrative expenses increased by $1.7 million, or 5.6%, from $30.1 million in
2002 to $31.8 million in 2003. As a percentage of net sales, these expenses increased from 8.6% in 2002
t0 9.9% in 2003. This increase was primarily caused by the reclassification of $3.2 million of depreciation
from cost of goods sold in the fourth quarter of 2003. The charge for the change in the allowances for
returns and discounts for 2003 was $183,000, or 0.1% of sales, compared to such charge of $867,000, or
0.2% of sales, during 2002,

Impairment of assets expense was $22.3 million in 2003, compared to $4.9 million in 2002 being
classified as a cumulative effect of accounting change in accordance with SFAS 142, This expense in
2003 is primarily due to our decision to cease directly operating a substantial majority of our equipment
and fixed assets in Mexico commencing in the third quarter of 2003. See Note 7 to the “Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements.”

Loss from operations was $33.4 million in 2003, or (10.4)% of net sales, compared to income
from operations of $4.5 million in 2002, or 1.3% of net sales, due to the factors described above.

Interest expense increased by $159,000, or 2.9%, from $5.4 million in 2002 to $5.6 million in
2003. This increase in interest expense was a result of an increase in interest rate applicable to our main
credit facility. Interest income was $425,000 in 2003 compared to $4.7 million in 2002. Included in
interest income for 2002 was approximately $4.5 million from a related party note receivable related to
the sale of certain equipment pertaining to the twill mill which we re-acquired in December 2002. Other
income increased by $2.1 million, or 80.7%, from $2.6 million in 2002 to $4.8 million in 2003, due to
$3.7 million of lease income received for our facilities and equipment in Mexico starting September 1,
2003, offset by a reduction of realized gain on foreign currency of $819,000. Other expenses decreased
from $2.0 million in 2002 to $1.4 million in 2003 due to a reduction of unrealized loss on foreign
currency of $454,000.

Losses allocated to minority interests in 2003 was $3.5 million, representing the minority
partner’s share of profit in UAV of $3.5 million, offset by $7.0 million attributed to the minority
shareholder in Tarrant Mexico for his 25% share in the loss inciuding $4.4 million for his share in the
special write-down on goodwill and inventory of Tarrant Mexico. In 2002, we allocated $4.6 million of
profit to minority interest, which consisted of profit shared by the minority partner in the UAV joint
venture.
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Loss before taxes and cumulative effect of accounting change was $163,000 in 2002 and $31.8
million in 2003, representing 0.0% and (9.9)% of net sales, respectively. The increase in loss before taxes
and cumulative effect of accounting change was due to the factors discussed above.

Provision for income taxes was $1.1 million in 2002 versus $4.1 million in 2003. The increase in
income tax expense is due to adjustments to the accrual for potential IRS audits and increases in the
valuation allowance.

Loss after taxes and cumulative effect of accounting change was $6.1 million in 2002 and $35.9
million in 2003, representing (1.7)% and (11.2)% of net sales, respectively. Included in the $6.1 million
loss in 2002 was a non-cash charge of $4.9 million to reduce the carrying value of goodwill to the
estimated fair value, resulting from adoption of SFAS No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets.”
Included in the $35.9 million loss in 2003 were non-cash charges of $22.3 million for the impairment of
assets and an inventory write-down of $11 million.

Comparison of 2002 to 2001

Net sales increased by $17.1 million, or 5.2%, from $330.3 million in 2001 to $347.4 million in
2002, primarily due to the success of United Apparel Venture, LLC. The increase in net sales was
attributed to $34.6 million increase in sales to Tommy Hilfiger, one of the two customers of UAV, and
$12 million to Kohl’s. The increase in sales to these two customers was offset by decreases of $6.4
million in sales to Charming group, $2.9 million to mass merchandisers, and $6.5 million to outlets, and
the rest among other less significant accounts.

Gross profit (which consists of net sales less product costs, direct labor, manufacturing overhead,
duty, quota, freight in, brokerage, and warehousing) for 2002 was $45.3 million, or 13% of net sales,
compared to $52.7 million, or 16.0 % of net sales, for 2001, representing a decrease of 14.1%. The
decrease of $7.4 million in gross profit occurred primarily because of the increase in quota prices from
Hong Kong imports and insufficient capacity utilization in Mexico in the first and fourth quarters.

Selling and distribution expenses decreased from $14.3 million in 2001 to $10.8 million in 2002
due to better control of overhead and reduction in distribution costs. As a percentage of sales, these
variable expenses decreased from 4.4% in 2001 to 3.1% in 2002. General and administrative expenses
decreased from $33.1 million in 2001 to $30.1 million in 2002. As a percentage of net sales these
expenses decreased from 10.0% in 2001 to 8.6% in 2002. Included in these expenses for 2002 was a
charge of $1.3 million for a litigation reserve. See “Item 3. Legal Proceeding.” The charge for the
change in the allowances for returns and discounts for 2002 was $867,000, or 0.2% of sales, compared to
such charge of $2.7 million, or 0.8% of sales, during 2001. The higher allowance expenses in 2001 were
caused by a special reserve of $2.4 million for bad debt related to a particular customer. After adjusting
for the reduction in the allowance expense for discounts and returns and the reserve for the litigation,
general and administrative expenses decreased by $2.6 million in 2002 as compared to 2001. This
decrease was due to our continuing cost cutting efforts.

Income from operations was $4.5 million in 2002, or 1.3% of net sales, compared to $1.9 million
in 2001, or 0.6% of net sales, due to the factors described above.

Interest expense decreased from $7.8 million in 2001 to $5.4 million in 2002. This decrease in
interest expense was as a result of reduced borrowings due to the pay down of certain debt facilities
during 2002 and interest rate reductions positively impacting the variable rate debt. Interest income was
$4.7 million in 2002 compared to $3.3 million in 2001. Included in interest income were approximately
$4.5 million for 2002 and $3.2 million for 2001 from the related party note receivable related to the sale
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of certain equipment pertaining to the twill mill which we re-acquired in December 2002. This interest
income was recorded on a cash collected basis. Other income increased from $1.9 million in 2001 to $2.6
million in 2002 while other expenses increased from $856,000 to $2.0 million in 2002.

Minority interest expense was $(4.6) million in 2002 as compared to ($412,000) in 2001. The
minority interest in 2001 and 2002 represented the minority holder’s share of the UAV subsidiary’s
income.

Loss before taxes and cumulative effect of accounting change was $2.0 million in 2001 and
$163,000 in 2002, representing 0.6% and 0.0% of net sales, respectively. The decrease in loss before
taxes as a percentage of net sales was due to the factors discussed above.

Provision for income taxes was $852,000 in 2001 versus $1.1 million in 2002.

Loss after taxes and cumulative effect of accounting change was $2.9 million in 2001 and $6.1
million in 2002, representing 0.9% and 1.7% of net sales, respectively.

Quarterly Results of Operations

The following table sets forth, for the periods indicated, certain items in our consolidated
statements of income in millions of dollars and as a percentage of net sales:

Quarter Ended

Mar.31 Jun.30 Sep.30 Dec.31 Mar.31 Jun.30 Sep.30 Dec.31
2002 2002 2002 2002 2003 2003 2003 2003
(in thousands)

Net Sales $ 652 $ 953 $ 943 $§926 $787 §782 $ 96.5 $ 67.0

Gross profit 8.4 14.5 142 8.2 8.8  (04) 11.5 12.1

Operating income

(loss) (0.8) 4.8 3.6 (3.1) (1.3) (34.4) 1.4 0.8

Net income (loss) (6.6) 1.3 1.1 (1.9) (3.9) (32.6) 0.1 04
Quarter Ended

Mar.31 Jun.30 Sep.30 Dec.31 Mar.31 Jun.30 Sep.30 Dec. 31
2003 2003 2003 2003 2003 2003 2003 2003

Net sales 100.0%  100.0% 100.0% 100.0%  100.0%  100.0% 100.0%  100.0%
Gross profit 12.9 15.1 15.1 8.9 11.2 (0.6) 11.9 18.0
Operating income

(loss) (1.3) 5.0 3.8 (3.4) (1.7) (44.0) 1.5 1.2
Net income (loss) (10.1) 1.4 1.2 (2.1) (4.9) (41.7) 0.1 0.6

As is typical for us, quarterly net sales fluctuated significantly because our customers typically
place bulk orders with us, and a change in the number of orders shipped in any one period may have a
material effect on the net sales for that period.
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Liquidity and Capital Resources

Our liquidity requirements arise from the funding of our working capital needs, principally
inventory, finished goods shipments-in-transit, work-in-process and accounts receivable, including
receivables from our contract manufacturers that relate primarily to fabric we purchase for use by those
manufacturers. Our primary sources for working capital and capital expenditures are cash flow from
operations, borrowings under our bank and other credit facilities, borrowings from principal shareholders,
issuance of long-term debt, sales of equity securities, borrowing from affiliates and the proceeds from the
exercise of stock options.

Our liquidity is dependent, in part, on customers paying on time. Any abnormal chargebacks or
returns may affect our source of short-term funding. We are also subject to market price changes. Any
changes in credit terms given to major customers may have an impact on our cash flow. Suppliers’ credit
is another major source of short-term financing and any adverse changes in their terms will have negative
impact on our cash flow.

Cash flows for the years ended December 31, 2001, 2002 and 2003 were as follows (dollars in
thousands):

Cash Flows: 2001 2002 2003

Net cash provided by operating activities..........ccoorreverrcenrrninnes $ 30,051 § 15,493 % 9,484
Net cash used in investing actiVitieS ..........corvrervrvieerrereereresenanas § (15445 § (5,670) $ (1,053)
Net cash used in financing activities........c.c.o.ooveeeereririeenrirsrienennan. $  (15916) $ (8,435) 8§ (6,295)

Net cash provided by operating activities was $9.5 million in 2003, as compared to net cash
provided by operations in 2002 of $15.5 million and $30.1 million in 2001. Net cash provided by
operations in 2003 resulted primarily from a net loss of $35.9 million offset by depreciation and
amortization of $16.1 million, asset impairment of $22.3 million and inventory write-down of $11.0
million. In addition to these items, the components of working capital impacting cash from operations
included a decrease of $7.9 million in accounts receivable, a decrease of $9.6 million in inventory, a
decrease of $4.2 million in accounts payable and an increase of $14.8 million in due from affiliates.
Changes from prior years were a result of net income provided and changes in working capital.

During 2003, cash flow used in investing activities was $1.1 million, as compared to $5.7 million
in 2001 and $15.4 million in 2001. -Cash used in investing activities in 2003 included approximately
$984,000 for purchase of other assets.

During 2003, cash used in financing activities was $6.3 million as compared to $8.4 million in
2002 and $15.9 million in 2001. Cash used in financing activities in 2003 included $36.5 million net
repayment of indebtedness under our credit facilities offset by $31.0 million of proceeds from a private
placement of equity securities.
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Contractual Obligations and Commercial Commitments

Following is a summary of our contractual obligations and commercial commitments available to
us as of December 31, 2003 (in millions):

Payments Due by Period
Between Between
Less than 2-3 4-5 After
Contractual Obligations Total 1 year years years 5 years
Long-term debt ......c..covoverivieennn, $39.3 $38.7 $0.6 $0 $0
Operating 1eases.........cccoceeviererennes $1.3 $0.8 $0.4 $0.1 $0
Minimum royalties .......c.......c..... $10.1 $0.5 $1.2 $1.6 $6.8
Purchase commitment................... $108.0 $18.0 $36.0 $36.0 $18.0
Employment COntracts.................. $3.8 $1.4 $2.4 $0 $0
Total Contractual Cash Obligations $162.5 $59.4 $40.6 $37.7 $24.8
Amount of Commitment Expiration per
Period
Total Amounts Between Between
Other Commercial Committed L?SS than 2-3 4-5 SAfter
Commitments Available to Us to Us year years years years
Lines of credit.....ocovivivcceniiercenrreieeennnens $123.1 $37.3 £85.8 - -
Letters of credit (within lines of credit)... $27.9 $27.9 - - -
Total Commercial Commitments ............ $123.1 $37.3 £85.8 - -

On June 13, 2002, we entered into a letter of credit facility of $25 million with UPS Capital Giobal
Trade Finance Corporation (“UPS”) to replace the credit facility of The Hong Kong and Shanghai Banking
Corporation Limited in Hong Kong. Under this facility, we may arrange for the issuance of letters of credit and
acceptances. The facility is a one-year facility subject to renewal on its anniversary and is collateralized by the
shares and debentures of all of our subsidiaries in Hong Kong, as well as our permanent quota holdings in Hong
Kong. In addition to the guarantees provided by Tarrant Apparel Group and our subsidiaries, Fashion Resource
(TCL) Inc. and Tarrant Luxembourg Sarl, Gerard Guez, our Chairman, also signed a guarantee of $5 million in
favor of UPS to secure this facility. This facility bears interest at 4.5% per annum at December 31, 2003. Under
this facility, we are subject to certain restrictive covenants, including that we maintain a specified tangible net
worth, fixed charge ratio, and leverage ratio. We were in compliance with all the covenants in the third
quarter of 2002. In the fourth quarter of 2002, we violated the fixed charge ratio covenant and obtained a
waiver at a cost of $5,000. In the first quarter of 2003, we were in violation of the no-consecutive-
quarterly-losses covenant and the fixed charge ratio covenant and obtained a waiver for the quarter for a
fee of $10,000. In the second quarter of 2003, we breached all the financial covenants and obtained a
waiver for the quarter for a fee of $25,000. In October 2003, we established new financial covenants with
UPS for the period ended September 30, 2003 and the remainder of fiscal 2003 based on our projections.
We were in compliance with all the covenants in the third and fourth quarters of 2003. Tangible net worth,
fixed charge ratio and leverage ratio were fixed at $65 million, 0.74 to 1 and 2.55 to 1, respectively, for the
fourth quarter of 2003. Capital Expenditures were capped at $800,000 per quarter. In December 2003, a
temporary additional line of credit consisting of a $2.8 million standby letter of credit was made available to us
against a restricted deposit of $2.8 million. This temporary facility was cancelled in February 2004 and the
deposit has since been released. The expiration date of our main credit facility with UPS has been extended to
December 31, 2004 with certain conditions. One of the conditions requires that on or before May 31, 2004, we
have to refinance the Debt Facility currently provided by GMAC Commercial Credit LLC. If we fail to satisfy
this condition, we will incur a penalty of $100,000 payable to UPS. As of December 31, 2003, $23.7 million
was outstanding under this facility, and an additional $350,000 was available for future borrowings. In addition,
$1.2 million of open letters of credit was outstanding as of December 31, 2003.
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Since March 2003, DBS Bank (Hong Kong) Limited (formerly known as Dao Heng Bank) has
made available a letter of credit facility of up to HKD 20 million (equivalent to US $2.6 million) to our
subsidiaries in Hong Kong. This is a demand facility and is secured by the pledge of our office property,
which is owned by Gerard Guez and Todd Kay, and Tarrant’s guarantee. In August 2003, the letter of
credit facility increased to HKD 23 million (equivalent to US $3.0 million). In December 2003, a tax loan
for HKD 2 million (equivalent to US $256,000) was also made available to our Hong Kong subsidiaries.
As of December 31, 2003, $2.9 million was outstanding under this facility. In addition, $0.3 million of
open letters of credit was outstanding as of December 31, 2003.

We are party to a revolving credit, factoring and security agreement (the “Debt Facility”) with GMAC
Commercial Credit, LLC. The Debt Facility provides a revolving facility of $90 million, including a letter of
credit facility not to exceed $20 million, and matures on January 31, 2005. The Debt Facility also provides a
term loan of $25 million, which is being repaid in monthly installments of $687,500. The Debt Facility
provides for interest at LIBOR plus the LIBOR rate margin determined by the Total Leverage Ratio (as
defined), and is collateralized by our receivables, intangibles, inventory and various other specified non-
equipment assets. This facility bears interest at 6% per annum at December 31, 2003. Under the facility, we are
subject to various financial covenants on tangible net worth, interest coverage, fixed charge ratio and leverage
ratio, and are prohibited from paying dividends. In 2002, we violated the net worth and fixed charge
covenants in the third quarter and obtained a waiver for the quarter for a fee of $50,000. We complied
with all the covenants in the other three quarters. In the first and second quarters of 2003, we were in
violation of all the financial covenants and obtained waivers from GMAC for each quarter at the cost of
$45,000 and $100,000 respectively. In October 2003, we established new financial covenants with
GMAC for the period ended September 30, 2003 and the remainder of fiscal 2003 based on our
projections. We were in compliance with all the covenants in the third and fourth quarters of 2003.
Tangible net worth, fixed charge ratio and leverage ratio in the final quarter were fixed at $65 million, 0.74 to 1
and 2.55 to 1, respectively.

The amount we can borrow under the Debt Facility is determined based on a defined borrowing base
formula related to eligible accounts receivable and inventories. Our borrowing base availability ranged from
approximately $30 million to $75 million from January 1, 2003 to December 31, 2003. A significant decrease
in eligible accounts receivable and inventories due to the aging of receivables and inventories, among other
factors, can have an adverse effect on our borrowing capabilities under our credit facility, which may adversely
affect the adequacy of our working capital. In addition, we have typically experienced seasonal fluctuations in
sales volume. These seasonal fluctuations result in sales volume decreases in the first and fourth quarters of
each year due to the seasonal fluctuations experienced by the majority of our customers. During these quarters,
borrowing availability under our credit facility may decrease as a result of decreases in eligible accounts
receivables generated from our sales. A total of $31.6 million (of which $4.8 million related to the term portion)
was outstanding under the Debt Facility at December 31, 2003. Based on the borrowing base formula, no
additional amounts were available for borrowing under the Debt Facility at December 31, 2003.

At December 31, 2003, Tarrant Mexico S. de R.L. de C.V., Famian division is indebted to Banco
Nacional de Comercio Exterior SNC in the amount of $2.1 million pursuant to a credit facility assumed
by Tarrant Mexico following its merger with Grupo Famian. We are now repaying $250,000 plus interest
(LTBOR plus 6%) monthly on this facility.

We have an equipment loan with an initial borrowing of $16.25 million from GE Capital Leasing
(“GE Capital™), which matures in November 2005. The loan is secured by equipment located in Puebla
and Tlaxcala, Mexico. As of December 31, 2003, this facility had a balance of $3.6 million. Interest
accrues at a rate of 2.5% over LIBOR. Under this facility, we are subject to covenants on tangible net
worth of $30 million, leverage ratio of not more than two times at the end of each financial year, and no
losses for two consecutive quarters. In the first quarter of 2002, we breached the no-consecutive-
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quarterly-losses covenant and obtained a waiver at a cost of $10,000. We complied with all the covenants
in the other three quarters. In the first and second quarters of 2003, we were in violation of the no-
consecutive-quarterly-losses covenant and obtained waivers at the cost of $25,000 and $50,000
respectively. We were in compliance with all the covenants in the third and fourth quarters of 2003. The
waiver for breach of covenants in the previous quarter required additional collateral in the form of a
second lien on our headquarters, which is owned by Messrs. Guez, our Chairman of the Board and Kay,
our Vice Chairman. Due to an objection by the first-lien holder to the second lien, we have agreed to
accelerate the monthly repayment installment by approximately $75,000 commencing January 2004 in
lieu of the additional collateral.

We also had an equipment loan of $5.2 million from Bank of America Leasing (“BOA”). The
amount outstanding as of December 31, 2002 was $2.4 million. In October 2003, we paid off the BOA
facility in its entirety.

The Debt Facility with GMAC and the credit facilities with UPS and GE Capital all carry cross-
default clauses. A breach of a financial covenant set by GMAC, UPS or GE Capital constitutes an event
of default under all of the credit facilities, entitling these financial institutions to demand payment in full
of all outstanding amounts under their respective debt and credit facilities.

During 2000, we financed equipment purchases for a new manufacturing facility with certain
vendors. A total of $§16.9 million was financed with five-year promissory notes, which bear interest
ranging from 7.0% to 7.5%, and are payable in semiannual payments commencing in February 2000. Of
this amount, $4.0 million was outstanding as of December 31, 2003. Of the $4.0 million, $2.7 million is
denominated in the Euro, and the remainder is payable in U.S. dollars.

From time to time, we open letters of credit under an uncommitted line of credit from Aurora
Capital Associates who issues these letters of credits out of Israeli Discount Bank. As of December 31,
2003, $564,000 was outstanding under this facility and $3.9 million of letters of credit were open under
this arrangement.

Unrealized losses of $1.0 million and $561,000 were recorded at December 31, 2002 and 2003,
respectively, related to foreign currency fluctuations and were recorded in other income (expense) in the
accompanying statement of operations.

The effective interest rates on short-term bank borrowing as of December 31, 2002 and 2003
were 4.1% and 5.3%, respectively.

We have financed our operations from our cash flow from operations, borrowings under our bank
and other credit facilities, issuance of long-term debt (including debt to or arranged by vendors of
equipment purchased for our Mexican twill and production facility), the proceeds from the exercise of
stock options and from time to time shareholder advances. Our short-term funding relies very heavily on
our major customers, banks, suppliers and major shareholders. From time to time, we have had temporary
over-advances from our banks. Any withdrawal of support from these parties will have serious
consequences on our liquidity. i

From time to time in the past, we borrowed funds from, and advanced funds to, certain officers
and principal shareholders, including Gerard Guez, Todd Kay and Kamel Nacif. The greatest outstanding
balance of such borrowings from Mr. Kay in 2003 was $487,000. The greatest outstanding balance of
such advances to Mr. Guez during 2003 was approximately $4,879,000. As of December 31, 2003, we
were indebted to Mr. Nacif and his affiliates in the amount of $5.4 million. Mr. Guez had an outstanding
advance from us in the amount of $4,796,000 as of December 31, 2003 payable on demand. All advances
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to, and borrowings from, Messrs. Guez and Kay bore interest at the rate of 7.75% during the period.
Total interest paid by Messrs. Guez and Kay were $368,000 and $374,000 for the years ended December
31, 2002 and 2003, respectively. Since the enactment of the Sarbanes-Oxley Actin 2002, no further
personal loans (or amendments to existing loans) have been or will be made to officers or directors of
Tarrant.

We intend to accumulate a cash reserve to meet any payment obligations we have to taxing
authorities relating to the Internal Revenue Services’ examination of our Federal income tax returns for
the years ended December 31, 1996 through 2001. We intend to fund this cash reserve from operations,
which will require us to set aside on a periodic basis a significant amount of our cash, which cannot be
used for other purposes. See “—Significant Developments in 2003 -- Internal Revenue Service Audit.”

We may seek to finance future capital investment programs through various methods, including,
but not limited to, borrowings under our bank credit facilities, issuance of long-term debt, sales of equity
securities, leases and long-term financing provided by the sellers of facilities or the suppliers of certain
equipment used in such facilities. To date, there is no plan for any major capital expenditure.

We do not believe that the moderate levels of inflation in the United States in the last three years
have had a significant effect on net sales or profitability.

Related Party Transactions |

We lease our principal offices and warehouse located in Los Angeles, California and office space
in Hong Kong from corporations owned by Gerard Guez, our Chairman and Chief Executive Officer, and
Todd Kay, our Vice Chairman of the Board of Directors. We believe, at the time the leases were entered
into, the rents on these properties were comparable to then prevailing market rents. We paid $1,330,000
in 2003 for rent for office and warehouse facilities at these locations.

On October 16, 2003, we leased to affiliates of Mr. Kamel Nacif, one of our shareholders, a
substantial portion of our manufacturing facilities and operations in Mexico including real estate and
equipment. We leased our twill mill in Tlaxcala, Mexico, and our sewing plant in Ajalpan, Mexico, for a
period of 6 years and for an annual rental fee of $11 million. The assets subject to these leases have a net
book value of approximately $92 million as of December 31, 2003. In connection with this transaction,
we also entered into a management services agreement pursuant to which Mr. Nacif’s affiliates will
manage the operation of our remaining facilities in Mexico in exchange for the use of such facilities. The
term of the management services agreement is also for a period of 6 years. We have agreed to purchase
annually, six million yards of fabric manufactured at the facilities leased and/or operated by Mr. Nacif’s
affiliates at market prices to be negotiated. Based on current market price, the purchase commitment
would be approximately $18 million annually.

From time to time, we borrowed funds from, and advanced funds to, certain officers and principal
shareholders, including Gerard Guez, Todd Kay and Kamel Nacif. The greatest outstanding balance of
such borrowings from Mr. Kay in 2003 was $487,000. The greatest outstanding balance of such advances
to Mr. Guez during 2003 was approximately $4,879,000. As of December 31, 2003, we were indebted to
Mr. Nacif and his affiliates in the net amount of $5.4 million for working capital lent by him to us to
support our Mexican operations. Mr. Guez had an outstanding advance from us in the amount of
$4,796,000 as of December 31, 2003 payable on demand. All advances to, and borrowings from, Messrs.
Guez and Kay bore interest at the rate of 7.75% during the period. Total interest paid by the Chairman
and the Vice Chairman were $368,000 and $374,000 for the years ended December 31, 2002 and
December 31, 2003, respectively. Since the enactment of the Sarbanes-Oxley Actin 2002, no further
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personal loans (or amendments to existing loans) have been or will be made to officers or directors of
Tarrant.

Since June 2003, United Apparel Venture LLC, a majority owned, controlled and consolidated
subsidiary of Tarrant, has been selling to Seven Licensing Company, LLC, jeans wear bearing the brand
“Seven7”, which is ultimately purchased by Express. Seven Licensing is beneficially owned by Gerard
Guez. Total sales during the year ended December 31, 2003 were $8.1 million.

On December 31, 2002, our wholly owned subsidiaries, Tarrant Mexico and Tarrant Luxembourg
Sarl (previously known as Machrima Luxembourg Sarl), acquired a denim and twill manufacturing plant
in Tlaxcala, Mexico, including all machinery and equipment used in the plant, the buildings, and the real
estate on which the plant is located. Pursuant to an Agreement for the Purchase of Assets and Stock,
dated as of December 31, 2002, Tarrant Mexico purchased from Trans Textil International, S.A. de C.V.
(“Trans Textil”) all of the machinery and equipment used in and located at the plant, and the Purchasers
acquired from Jorge Miguel Echevarria Vazquez and Rosa Lisette Nacif Benavides (the “Inmobiliaria
Shareholders™) all the issued and outstanding capital stock of Inmobiliaria Cuadros, S.A. de C.V.
(“Inmobiliaria™), which owns the buildings and real estate. The purchase price for the machinery and
equipment was paid by cancellation of $42 million in indebtedness owed by Trans Textil to Tarrant
Mexico. The purchase price for the Inmobiliaria shares consisted of a nominal cash payment to the
Inmobiliaria Shareholders of $500, and subsequent repayment by us and our affiliates of approximately
$34.7 million in indebtedness of Inmobiliaria to Kamel Nacif Borge, his daughter Rosa Lisette Nacif
Benavides, and certain of their affiliates, which payment was made by: (i) delivery to Rosa Lisette Nacif
Benavides of one hundred thousand shares of our newly created, non-voting Series A Preferred Stock,
which shares will become convertible into three million shares of common stock if our common
stockholders approve the conversion at the Annual Meeting; (ii) delivery to Rosa Lisette Nacif Benavides
of an ownership interest representing twenty-five percent of the voting power of and profit participation
in Tarrant Mexico; and (iii) cancellation of approximately $14.9 million of indebtedness of Mr. Nacif and
his affiliates. The Series A Preferred Stock was converted into 3,000,000 shares of common stock
following approval of the conversion by our shareholders at the annual shareholders’ meeting held on
May 28, 2003.

On July 1, 2001, we formed an entity to jointly market, share certain risks and achieve economies
of scale with Azteca Production International, Inc. (“Azteca”), called United Apparel Ventures, LLC
(“UAV?”). Azteca Production International, Inc. is owned by Hubert Guez, the brother of Gerard Guez,
our Chairman and Chief Executive Officer. This entity was created to coordinate the production of
apparel for a single customer of our branded business. UAV is owned 50.1% by Tag Mex, Inc., a wholly
owned subsidiary of ours, and 49.9% by Azteca. Results of the operation of UAV have been consolidated
into our results since July 2001 with the minority partner’s share of all gains and loses eliminated through
the minority interest line in our financial statements. Since October 2002 and March 2003, UAV has
begun to service both parties’ business with Express and Levi Strauss & Co., respectively. UAV makes
purchases from two related parties in Mexico, Azteca and Tag-It Pacific, Inc.

We purchased $5.8 million, $37.0 million and $37.1 million of finished goods and service from
Azteca and its affiliates for the years ended December 31, 2001, 2002 and 2003, respectively. Our total
sales of fabric and service to Azteca in 2001, 2002 and 2003 were $7.2 million, $2.9 million and $9.9
million, respectively. Two and one half percent of gross sales as management fees were paid in 2002 and
2003 to each of the members of UAV, per the operating agreement.

At December 31, 2003, Messrs. Guez and Kay beneficially owned 1,018,000 and 1,005,000
shares, respectively, of common stock of Tag-It Pacific, Inc. (“Tag-It”), collectively representing 17.5%
of Tag-It Pacific’s common stock at December 29, 2003. Tag-It is a provider of brand identity programs
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to manufacturers and retailers of apparel and accessories. Tag-It assumed the responsibility for managing
and sourcing all trim and packaging used in connection with products manufactured by or on our behalf in
Mexico. This arrangement is terminable by either Tag-1t or us at any time. We believe that the terms of
this arrangement, which is subject to the acceptance of our customers, are no less favorable to us than
could be obtained from unaffiliated third parties. We purchased $17.9 million, $23.9 million and $16.8
million of trim from Tag-It during the years ended December 31, 2001, 2002 and 2003. We also sold
Tag-It $1.5 million from our trim and fabric inventory during the year ended December 31, 2003. From
time to time we have guaranteed the indebtedness of Tag-It for the purchase of trim on our behalf. See
Note 8 of the “Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.”

We have adopted a policy that any future transactions between us and any of our affiliates or
related parties, including our executive officers, directors, the family members of those individuals and
any of their affiliates, must (i) be approved by a majority of the members of the Board of Directors and by
a majority of the disinterested members of the Board of Directors and (ii) be on terms no less favorable to
us than could be obtained from unaffiliated third parties.

Factors That May Affect Future Results

This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains forward-looking statements, which are subject to a
variety of risks and uncertainties. Our actual results could differ materially from those anticipated in these
forward-looking statements as a result of various factors, including those set forth below.

Risks related to our business

We depend on a group of key customers for a significant portion of our sales. A significant adverse change
in a customer relationship or in a customer’s financial position could harm our business and financial
condition.

Affiliated stores owned by The Limited (including Limited Stores and Express) accounted for
approximately 12.7% and 15.3% of our net sales in fiscal years 2002 and 2003, respectively. Lane Bryant
accounted for 17.6% and 12.1% of our net sales in fiscal years 2002 and 2003, respectively. Lerner New
York accounted for 9.9% and 8.3% of our net sales in fiscal years 2002 and 2003, respectively. Kohl’s
accounted for 5.1% and 6.6% of our net sales in fiscal years 2002 and 2003, respectively. We believe that
consolidation in the retail industry has centralized purchasing decisions and given customers greater
leverage over suppliers such as Tarrant, and we expect this trend to continue. If this consolidation
continues, our net sales and results of operations may be increasingly sensitive to deterioration in the
financial condition of, or other adverse developments with, one or more of our customers.

While we have long-standing customer relationships, we generally do not have long-term
contracts with any of them, including Express. Purchases generally occur on an order-by-order basis, and
relationships exist as long as there is a perceived benefit to both parties. A decision by a major customer,
whether motivated by competitive considerations, financial difficulties, and economic conditions or
otherwise, to decrease its purchases from us or to change its manner of doing business with us, could
adversely affect our business and financial condition. In addition, during recent years, various retailers,
including some of our customers, have experienced significant changes and difficulties, including
consolidation of ownership, increased centralization of purchasing decisions, restructurings, bankruptcies
and liquidations.

These and other financial problems of some of our retailers, as well as general weakness in the

retail environment, increase the risk of extending credit to these retailers. A significant adverse change in
a customer relationship or in a customer’s financial position could cause us to limit or discontinue
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business with that customer, require us to assume more credit risk relating to that customer’s receivables,
limit our ability to collect amounts related to previous purchases by that customer, or result in required
prepayment of our receivables securitization arrangements, all of which could harm our business and
financial condition.

Failure to manage our growth and expansion could impair our business.

Since our inception, we have experienced periods of rapid growth. No assurance can be given that
we will be successful in maintaining or increasing our sales in the future. Any future growth in sales will
require additional working capital and may place a significant strain on our management, management
information systems, inventory management, production capability, distribution facilities and receivables
management. Any disruption in our order processing, sourcing or distribution systems could cause orders
to be shipped late, and under industry practices, retailers generally can cancel orders or refuse to accept
goods due to late shipment. Such cancellations and returns would result in a reduction in revenue,
increased administrative and shipping costs and a further burden on our distribution facilities.

Failure to manage our restructuring in Mexico could impair our business.

We have determined to cease directly operating a substantial majority of our equipment and fixed
assets in Mexico, and to lease a large portion of our facilities and operations in Mexico to a related third
party, which we consummated effective September 1, 2003. As a consequence, we have become
primarily a trading company, relying on third party manufacturers to produce the merchandise we sell to
our customers. We face many challenges related to our decision to cease directly operating a substantial
majority of our equipment and fixed assets in Mexico. Any failure on our part to successfully manage
these challenges, or other unanticipated consequences may result in loss of customers and sales, which
would have an adverse impact on operations. The challenges we face include:

o We may lose customers who desire to purchase merchandise directly from the
manufacturer;,
. We may experience unanticipated expenses in winding down manufacturing operations in

Mexico, including labor costs and additional write down of inventory, which may
adversely affect our results of operations in the short term;

® The party to whom we lease our manufacturing operations in Mexico may default in its
obligations to us, in which case we may not be able to lease the facilities to another party, or
recommence use of the facilities to manufacture goods without significant cost; and

. We may not be able to transfer Mexico sales to our trading model in time to replace direct to
manufacturer orders we have experienced in the past due, for instance, to difficulty in finding
third party manufacturers, and capital constraints.

Our operating results may fluctuate significantly.

We have experienced, and expect to continue to experience, substantial variations in our net sales
and operating results from quarter to quarter. We believe that the factors which influence this variability
of quarterly results include the timing of our introduction of new product lines, the level of consumer
acceptance of each new product line, general economic and industry conditions that affect consumer
spending and retailer purchasing, the availability of manufacturing capacity, the seasonality of the
markets in which we participate, the timing of trade shows, the product mix of customer orders, the
timing of the placement or cancellation of customer orders, the weather, transportation delays, quotas, the
occurrence of charge backs in excess of reserves and the timing of expenditures in anticipation of
increased sales and actions of competitors. Due to fluctuations in our revenue and operating expenses, we
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believe that period-to-period comparisons of our results of operations are not a good indication of our
future performance. It is possible that in some future quarter or quarters, our operating results will be
below the expectations of securities analysts or investors. In that case, our stock price could fluctuate
significantly or decline.

Increases in the price of raw materials or their reduced availability could increase our cost of sales and
decrease our profitability.

The principal raw material used in our apparel is cotton. The price and availability of cotton may
fluctuate significantly, depending on a variety of factors, including crop yields, weather, supply
conditions, government regulation, economic climate and other unpredictable factors. Any raw material
price increases could increase our cost of sales and decrease our profitability unless we are able to pass
higher prices on to our customers. Moreover, any decrease in the availability of cotton could impair our
ability to meet our production requirements in a timely manner.

The success of our business depends upon our ability to offer fashion-right and timely products.

The apparel industry is characterized by constant product innovation due to changing consumer
preferences and by the rapid replication of new products by competitors. As a result, our success depends
in large part on our ability to continuously develop, market and deliver innovative products at a pace and
intensity competitive with other manufacturers in our segments. In addition, we must create products that
appeal to multiple consumer segments at a range of price points. Any failure on our part to regularly
develop innovative products and update core products could:

) limit our ability to differentiate, segment and price our products;
) adversely affect retail and consumer acceptance of our products; and
. limit sales potential.

The increasing importance of product innovation in apparel requires us to strengthen our internal
research and commercialization capabilities, to rely on successful commercial relationships with third
parties such as fiber, fabric and finishing providers and to compete and negotiate effectively for new
technologies and product components.

The financial condition of our customers could affect our results of operations.

Certain retailers, including some of our customers, have experienced in the past, and may
experience in the future, financial difficulties, which increase the risk of extending credit to such retailers
and the risk that financial failure will eliminate a customer entirely. These retailers have attempted to
improve their own operating efficiencies by concentrating their purchasing power among a narrowing
group of vendors. There can be no assurance that we will remain a preferred vendor for our existing
customers. A decrease in business from or loss of a major customer could have a material adverse effect
on our results of operations. There can be no assurance that our factor will approve the extension of credit
to certain retail customers in the future. If a customer's credit is not approved by the factor, we could
assume the collection risk on sales to the customer itself, require that the customer provide a letter of
credit, or choose not to make sales to the customer.

The success of our business depends on our ability to attract and retain qualified employees.

We need talented and experienced personnel in a number of areas including our core business
activities. Our success is dependent upon strengthening our management depth across our business at a
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rapid pace. An inability to retain and attract qualified personnel or the loss of any of our current key
executives could harm our business. Our ability to attract and retain qualified employees is adversely
affected by the Los Angeles location of our corporate headquarters due to the high cost of living in the
Los Angeles area.

We depend on our computer and communications systems.

As a multi-national corporation, we rely on our computer and communication network to operate
efficiently. Any interruption of this service from power loss, telecommunications failure, weather, natural
disasters or any similar event could have a material adverse affect on our business and operations.
Additionally, hackers and computer viruses have disrupted operations at many major companies. We
may be vulnerable to similar acts of sabotage, which could have a material adverse effect on our business
and operations.

We may require additional capital in the future.

We may not be able to fund our future growth or react to competitive pressures if we lack
sufficient funds. Currently, we believe we have sufficient cash on hand and cash available through our
bank credit facilities, issuance of long-term debt, proceeds from loans from affiliates, and proceeds from
the exercise of stock options to fund existing operations for the foreseeable future. However, in the future
we may need to raise additional funds through equity or debt financings or collaborative relationships.
This additional funding may not be available or, if available, it may not be available on economically
reasonable terms. In addition, any additional funding may result in significant dilution to existing
shareholders. If adequate funds are not available, we may be required to curtail our operations or obtain
funds through collaborative partners that may require us to release material rights to our products.

Our business is subject to risks associated with importing products.

Substantially all of our import operations are subject to tariffs imposed on imported products and
quotas imposed by trade agreements. In addition, the countries in which our products are manufactured or
imported may from time to time impose additional new quotas, duties, tariffs or other restrictions on our
imports or adversely modify existing restrictions. Adverse changes in these import costs and restrictions,
or our suppliers’ failure to comply with customs or similar laws, could harm our business. We cannot
assure that future trade agreements will not provide our competitors with an advantage over us, or
increase our costs, either of which could have an adverse effect on our business and financial condition.

Our operations are also subject to the effects of international trade agreements and regulations
such as the North American Free Trade Agreement, and the activities and regulations of the World Trade.
Organization. Generally, these trade agreements benefit our business by reducing or eliminating the duties
and/or quotas assessed on products manufactured in a particular country. However, trade agreements can
also impose requirements that adversely affect our business, such as limiting the countries from which we
can purchase raw materials and setting quotas on products that may be imported into the United States
from a particular country. In addition, the World Trade Organization may commence a new round of trade
negotiations that liberalize textile trade by further eliminating quotas or reducing tariffs. The elimination
of quotas on World Trade Organization member countries by 2005 and other effects of these trade
agreements could result in increased competition from developing countries, which historically have
lower labor costs, including China and Taiwan, both of which recently became members of the World
Trade Organization. This potential increase in competition from developing countries is one of the several
reasons why we have determined to lease our manufacturing operations in Mexico.

36




Our ability to import products in a timely and cost-effective manner may also be affected by
problems at ports or issues that otherwise affect transportation and warehousing providers, such as labor
disputes. These problems could require us to locate alternative ports or warehousing providers to avoid
disruption to our customers. These alternatives may not be available on short notice or could result in
higher transit costs, which could have an adverse impact on our business and financial condition.

Our dependence on independent manufacturers reduces our ability to control the manufacturing
process, which could harm our sales, reputation and overall profitability.

We depend on independent contract manufacturers to secure a sufficient supply of raw materials
and maintain sufficient manufacturing and shipping capacity in an environment characterized by
declining prices, continuing cost pressure and increased demands for product innovation and speed-to-
market. This dependence could subject us to difficulty in obtaining timely delivery of products of
acceptable quality. In addition, a contractor’s failure to ship products to us in a timely manner or to meet
the required quality standards could cause us to miss the delivery date requirements of our customers. The
failure to make timely deliveries may cause our customers to cancel orders, refuse to accept deliveries,
. impose non-compliance charges through invoice deductions or other charge-backs, demand reduced
prices or reduce future orders, any of which could harm our sales, reputation and overall profitability. We
do not have material long-term contracts with any of our independent contractors and any of these
contractors may unilaterally terminate their relationship with us at any time. To the extent we are not able
to secure or maintain relationships with independent contractors that are able to fulfill our requirements,
our business would be harmed.

Although we monitor the compliance of our independent contractors with applicable labor laws,
we do not control our contractors or their labor practices. The violation of federal, state or foreign labor
laws by one of the our contractors could result in our being subject to fines and our goods that are
manufactured in violation of such laws being seized or their sale in interstate commerce being prohibited.
From time to time, we have been notified by federal, state or foreign authorities that certain of our
contractors are the subject of investigations or have been found to have violated applicable labor laws. To
date, we have not been subject to any sanctions that, individually or in the aggregate, have had a material
adverse effect on our business, and we are not aware of any facts on which any such sanctions could be
based. There can be no assurance, however, that in the future we will not be subject to sanctions as a
result of violations of applicable labor laws by our contractors, or that such sanctions will not have a
material adverse effect on our business and results of operations. In addition, certain of our customers,
including The Limited, require strict compliance by their apparel manufacturers, including us, with
applicable labor laws and visit our facilities often. There can be no assurance that the violation of
applicable labor laws by one of our contractors will not have a material adverse effect on our relationship
with our customers.

QOur business is subject to risks of operating in a foreign country and trade restrictions.

Approximately 96% of our products were imported from outside the U.S. in fiscal 2003, and most
of our fixed assets are located in Mexico. We are subject to the risks associated with doing business and
owning fixed assets in foreign countries, including, but not limited to, transportation delays and
interruptions, political instability, expropriation, currency fluctuations and the imposition of tariffs,
import and export controls, other non-tariff barriers (including changes in the allocation of quotas) and
cultural issues. Any changes in those countries’ labor laws and government regulations may have a
negative effect on our profitability.
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We cannot guarantee that our future acquisitions will be successful.

In the future, we may seek to grow through acquisition. We compete for acquisition and
expansion opportunities with companies which have significantly greater financial and management
resources than us. There can be no assurance that suitable acquisition or investment opportunities will be
identified, that any of these transactions can be consummated, or that, if acquired, these new businesses
can be integrated successfully and profitably into our operations. These acquisitions and investments may
also require a significant allocation of resources, which will reduce our ability to focus on the other
portions of our business, including many of the factors listed in the prior risk factor.

Risk associated with our industry
Our sales are heavily influenced by general economic cycles.

Apparel is a cyclical industry that is heavily dependent upon the overall level of consumer
spending. Purchases of apparel and related goods tend to be highly correlated with cycles in the
disposable income of our consumers. Our customers anticipate and respond to adverse changes in
economic conditions and uncertainty by reducing inventories and canceling orders. As a result, any
substantial deterioration in general economic conditions, increases in interest rates, acts of war, terrorist
or political events that diminish consumer spending and confidence in any of the regions in which we
compete, could reduce our sales and adversely affect our business and financial condition. This has been
underscored by the events of September 11, 2001 and the war in the Middle East.

Our business is highly competitive and depends on consumer spending patterns.

The apparel industry is highly competitive. We face a variety of competitive challenges
including:

) anticipating and quickly responding to changing consumer demands;

° developing innovative, high-quality products in sizes, colors and styles that appeal to
consumers of varying age groups and tastes;

. competitively pricing our products and achieving customer perception of value; and

. providing strong and effective marketing support.

We must successfully gauge fashion trends and changing consumer preferences to succeed.

Our success is largely dependent upon our ability to gauge the fashion tastes of our customers and
to provide merchandise that satisfies retail and customer demand in a timely manner. The apparel
business fluctuates according to changes in consumer preferences dictated in part by fashion and season.
To the extent we misjudge the market for our merchandise, our sales may be adversely affected. Our
ability to anticipate and effectively respond to changing fashion trends depends in part on our ability to
attract and retain key personnel in our design, merchandising and marketing staff. Competition for these
personnel is intense, and we cannot be sure that we will be able to attract and retain a sufficient number of
qualified personnel in future periods.

Our business is subject to seasonal trends.
Historically, our operating results have been subject to seasonal trends when measured on a

quarterly basis. This trend is dependent on numerous factors, including the markets in which we operate,
holiday seasons, consumer demand, climate, economic conditions and numerous other factors beyond our
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control. There can be no assurance that our historic operating patterns will continue in future periods as
we cannot influence or forecast many of these factors.

Other risks related to an investment in our common stock

The ultimate resolution of the Internal Revenue Service’s examination of our tax returns may require
us to incur an expense beyond what has been reserved for on our balance sheet or make cash payments
beyond what we are then able to pay.

In January 2004, the Internal Revenue Service proposed adjustments to increase our federal
income tax payable for the years ended December 31, 1996 through 2001 by an aggregate of
approximately $14.5 million. This adjustment would also result in additional state taxes, penalties and
interest of approximately $12.6 million. If the proposed adjustments are upheld through the
administrative and legal process, they could have a material impact on our earnings and cash flow. We
believe we have provided adequate reserves for any reasonably foreseeable outcome related to these
matters on the balance sheet included in the Consolidated Financial Statements. If the amount of any
actual liability, however, exceeds our reserves, we would experience an immediate adverse earnings
impact in the amount of such additional liability, which could be material. Additionally, we anticipate
that the ultimate resolution of these matters will require that we make significant cash payments to the
taxing authorities. Presently we do not have sufficient cash or borrowing ability to make any future
payments that may be required. While we intend to accumulate a cash reserve to meet this cash outflow
contingency from operations, no assurance can be given that we will have sufficient surplus cash from
operations to build and maintain this reserve by the time such payments are required. Additionally, cash
used to build this reserve will not be available for other corporate purposes, which could have a material
adverse effect on our financial condition and results of operations.

The failure to establish financial covenants under our credit facility in a timely manner would result in a
default under our credit agreements, which would have a material adverse effect on our liguidity.

Our credit agreement with GMAC requires the maintenance of certain financial covenants, including
minimum levels of tangible net worth, interest coverage, fixed charge ratio and leverage ratio, as discussed in
Note 8 to our consolidated financial statements. We have agreed with GMAC to set new financial covenants for
fiscal 2004 based on our projections. In the event that the financial covenants cannot be timely established on
terms acceptable to GMAC on or prior to May 15, 2004, such failure would be an event of default under the
credit agreement. In addition, due to cross-default provisions in a majority of our debt agreements,
approximately 80% of our long-term debt would become due in full if any of the debt is in default. We have
provided GMAC with our projections and other necessary information in connection with setting the new
financial covenants, and are otherwise fully cooperating with GMAC on this matter, However, there can be no
guarantee that such financial covenants will be established prior to the deadline, or that GMAC will not in its
discretion establish financial covenants with which we are unable to comply. If the debt under our credit
facilities is accelerated and becomes due and payable prior to maturity, our default will entitle the creditors to
exercise all of their rights and remedies, including foreclosure on all of our assets which we pledged as collateral
to secure repayment of the debt.

Insiders own a significant portion of our common stock, which could limit our shareholders’ ability to
influence the outcome of key transactions.

As of March 15, 2004, our executive officers and directors and their affiliates owned
approximately 36.3% of the outstanding shares of our common stock. Gerard Guez, our Chief Executive
Officer and Chairman, and Todd Kay, our Vice Chairman, alone own approximately 22.8% and 11.8%,
respectively, of the outstanding shares of our common stock at March 15, 2004. Accordingly, our
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executive officers and directors have the ability to affect the outcome of, or exert considerable influence
over, all matters requiring shareholder approval, including the election and removal of directors and any
change in control. This concentration of ownership of our common stock could have the effect of
delaying or preventing a change of control of us or otherwise discouraging or preventing a potential
acquirer from attempting to obtain control of us. This, in turn, could have a negative effect on the market
price of our common stock. It could also prevent our shareholders from realizing a premium over the
market prices for their shares of common stock.

We have adopted a number of anti-takeover measures that may depress the price of our common stock.

Our shareholders rights plan, our ability to issue additional shares of preferred stock and some
provisions of our articles of incorporation and bylaws could make it more difficult for a third party to
make an unsolicited takeover attempt of us. These anti-takeover measures may depress the price of our
common stock by making it more difficult for third parties to acquire us by offering to purchase shares of
our stock at a premium to its market price.

Our stock price has been volatile.

Our common stock is quoted on the NASDAQ National Market System, and there can be
substantial volatility in the market price of our common stock. The market price of our common stock
has been, and 1s likely to continue to be, subject to significant fluctuations due to a variety of factors,
including quarterly variations in operating results, operating results which vary from the expectations of
securities analysts and investors, changes in financial estimates, changes in market valuations of
competitors, announcements by us or our competitors of a material nature, loss of one or more customers,
additions or departures of key personnel, future sales of common stock and stock market price and
volume fluctuations. In addition, general political and economic conditions such as a recession, or
interest rate or currency rate fluctuations may adversely affect the market price of our common stock.

In addition, the stock market in general has experienced extreme price and volume fluctuations
that have affected the market price of our common stock. Often, price fluctuations are unrelated to
operating performance of the specific companies whose stock is affected. In the past, following periods
of volatility in the market price of a company’s stock, securities class action litigation has occurred
against the issuing company. If we were subject to this type of litigation in the future, we could incur
substantial costs and a diversion of our management’s attention and resources, each of which could have a
material adverse effect on our revenue and earnings. Any adverse determination in this type of litigation
could also subject us to significant liabilities.

Absence of dividends could reduce our attractiveness to you.

Some investors favor companies that pay dividends, particularly in general downturns in the stock
market. We have not declared or paid any cash dividends on our common stock. We currently intend to
retain any future earnings for funding growth, and we do not currently anticipate paying cash dividends
on our common stock in the foreseeable future. Additionally, we cannot pay dividends on our common
stock unless the terms of our bank credit facilities and outstanding preferred stock, if any, permit the
payment of dividends on our common stock. Because we may not pay dividends, your return on this
investment likely depends on your selling our stock at a profit.
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Item 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

Foreign Currency Risk. Our earnings are affected by fluctuations in the value of the U.S. dollar as
compared to foreign currencies as a result of doing business in Mexico as well as certain debt
denominated in the Euro. As a result, we bear the risk of exchange rate gains and losses that may result in
the future as a result of this financing. At times we use forward exchange contracts to reduce the effect of
fluctuations of foreign currencies on purchases and commitments. These short-term assets and
commitments are principally related to trade payables positions and fixed asset purchase obligations. We
do not utilize derivative financial instruments for trading or other speculative purposes. We actively
evaluate the creditworthiness of the financial institutions that are counter parties to derivative financial
instruments, and we do not expect any counter parties to fail to meet their obligations.

Interest Rate Risk. Because our obligations under our various credit agreements bear interest at
floating rates (primarily LIBOR rates), we are sensitive to changes in prevailing interest rates. Any major
increase or decrease in market interest rates that atfect our financial instruments would have a material
impact on earning or cash flows during the next fiscal year.

Our interest expense is sensitive to changes in the general level of U.S. interest rates. In this
regard, changes in U.S. interest rates affect interest paid on our debt. A majority of our credit facilities are
at variable rates,

Item 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

See “Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules and Reports on Form 8K” for our financial
statements, and the notes thereto, and the financial statement schedules filed as part of this report.

Item 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH THE ACCOUNTANTS ON
ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

During 2003, our prior independent public accountants, Emst & Young, LLP, advised us and
discussed with the Audit Committee of our Board of Directors that, due in part to certain acquisitions by
our subsidiaries in Mexico and modifications to our inventory costing methodology, certain
improvements in the internal controls of those subsidiaries were necessary to ensure reporting from the
subsidiaries would be sufficient for us to develop reliable financial statements. We have and will
continue to address the deficiencies identified by Emst & Young, LLP in consultation with Grant
Thomton, LLP, our new independent public accountants.

Item 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
Evaluation of Controls and Procedures

As of December 31, 2003, our Chief Executive Officer and our Chief Financial Officer, with the
participation of our management, carried out an evaluation of the effectiveness of our disclosure controls
and procedures pursuant to Exchange Act Rule 13a-14. Based upon that evaluation, the Chief Executive
Officer and the Chief Financial Officer believe that, as of the date of the evaluation, our disclosure
controls and procedures are effective in making known to them material information relating to us
(including our consolidated subsidiaries) required to be included in this report.

Disclosure controls and procedures, no matter how well designed and implemented, can provide

only reasonable assurance of achieving an entity’s disclosure objectives. The likelihood of achieving
such objectives is affected by limitations inherent in disclosure controls and procedures. These include
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the fact that human judgment in decision-making can be faulty and that breakdowns in internal control
can occur because of human failures such as simple errors or mistakes or intentional circumvention of the
established process.

Changes in Controls and Procedures

There were no significant changes in our internal controls or in other factors that could
significantly affect internal controls, known to the Chief Executive Officer or the Chief Financial Officer,
subsequent to the date of the evaluation.

Recommendations of our Auditors

During 2003, our prior independent public accountants, Ernst & Young, LLP, advised us and
discussed with the Audit Committee of our Board of Directors that, due in part to certain acquisitions by
our subsidiaries in Mexico and modifications to our inventory costing methodology, certain
improvements in the internal controls of those subsidiaries were necessary to ensure reporting from the
subsidiaries would be sufficient for us to develop reliable financial statements. We have and will
continue to address the deficiencies identified by Ernst & Young, LLP in consultation with Grant
Thornton, LLP, our new independent public accountants.

In connection with its audit of our consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31,
2003, Grant Thornton LLP, our independent accountants, advised the Audit Committee and management of our
need for additional staff with expertise in preparing required disclosures in the notes to the financial statements,
and our need to develop greater internal resources for researching and evaluating the appropriateness of
complex accounting principles and evaluating the effect of new accounting pronouncements on the company.
Grant Thomton LLP considers these matters to be significant deficiencies as that term is defined under
standards established by the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants. We considered these matters
in connection with the preparation of the December 31, 2003 consolidated financial statements included in this
Form 10-K and also determined that no prior period financial statements were materially affected by such
matters. In response to the observations made by Grant Thornton, LLP, in 2004 we will implement certain
enhancements to our financial reporting processes, including increased training of staff on SEC financial
reporting requirements and the acquisition of accounting research tools. We believe these steps will address the
matters raised by Grant Thomton LLP.

PART III
Item 10. DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS
The information concerning our directors and executive officers will appear in our definitive
Proxy Statement to be filed pursuant to Regulation 14A within 120 days after the end of our last fiscal
year (the “Proxy Statement”), and is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The information concerning executive compensation will appear in our definitive Proxy
Statement and is incorporated herein by reference.
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Item 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND
MANAGEMENT AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

The information concerning the security ownership of certain beneficial owners and management
and related stockholder matters will appear in our definitive Proxy Statement and is incorporated herein
by reference.

Item 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS

The information concerning certain relationships and related transactions will appear in our
definitive Proxy Statement and is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

The information concerning principal accountant fees and services will appear in our definitive
Proxy Statement and is incorporated herein by reference.

PART IV
Item 15. EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES AND REPORTS ON FORM 8-K
(a) Financial Statements and Schedule. Reference is made to the Index to Financial
Statements and Schedule on page F-1 for a list of financial statements and the financial statement
schedule filed as part of this report. All other schedules are omitted because they are not applicable or the
required information is shown in the Company’s financial statements or the related notes thereto.

(b) Reports on Form 8-K filed:

Current Report on Form 8-K, reporting Items 2, 5 and 7, filed as of October 27,
2003.

Current Report on Form 8-K, reporting Items 7 and 12, filed as of November 13,
2003.

Current Report on Form 8-K, reporting Items 5 and 7, filed as of November 21,
2003.

Current Report on Form 8-K, reporting Items 5 and 7, filed as of December 10, 2003.

Current Report on Form 8-K/A, filed as of December 12, 2003, amending Item 7 of
Current Report on Form §-K filed as of November 21, 2003.

(© Exhibits. See the Exhibit Index attached to this Form 10-K annual report.
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Grant Thornton %

Accountants and Business Advisors

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS

The Boatd of Directors and Stockholders
Tarrant Apparel Group

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheet of Tarrant Apparel Group and
subsidiaries as of December 31, 2003, and the related consolidated statements of operations,
shareholders’ equity and cash flows for the vear ended December 31, 2003. These financial
statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Qur responsibility is to express an
opinion on these financial statements based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United
States of America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the financial statements are free of matetial misstatement. An audit
includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates
made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentadon. We believe
that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the
consolidated financial position of Tarrant Apparel Group and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2003
and the consolidated results of their operatons and their consolidated cash flows for the year ended
December 31, 2003, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States
of America.

We have also audited Schedule II of Tarrant Apparel Group for the year ended December 31, 2003.
In our opinion, this schedule, when considered in relation to the basic financial statements taken as a
whole, presents fairly, in all material respect, the information therein.

Los Angeles, California
Apnl 2, 2004

Suite 300

~ 1000 Wilshire Bivd.

Los Angeles, CA 90017-2464
T 213.627.1717

F 213.624.6793

W www.grantthornton.com

Grant Thornton LLP
US Member of Grant Thornton International




REPORT OF INDEPENDENT AUDITORS

Board of Directors
Tarrant Apparel Group

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheet of Tarrant Apparel Group and subsidiaries as of December
31, 2002, and the related consolidated statements of operations, shareholders’ equity, and cash flows for each of the two
years in the period ended December 31, 2002. Our audits also inciuded the financial statement schedule listed in the Index at
Item 15(a) for the years ended December 31, 2001 and 2002. These financial statements and schedule are the responsibility
of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements and schedule based
on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States. Those standards
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of
material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the
financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by
management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a
reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial
position of Tarrant Apparel Group and subsidiaries at December 31, 2002 and the consolidated results of their operations
and their cash flows for each of the two years in the period ended December 31, 2002 in conformity with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States. Also, in our opinion, the related financial statement schedule for the years
ended December 31, 2001 and 2002 when considered in relation to the basic financial statements, taken as a whole, presents
fairly in all material respects the information set forth therein.

As discussed in Note 6 to the consolidated financial statements, effective January 1, 2002, the Company adopted Statement

of Financial Accounting Standards No. 142.
é/mt £ MLL?

Los Angeles, California
March 14, 2003
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TARRANT APPAREL GROUP

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
ReSrICted Cash ...
ACcounts receivable, NEL....covvviiviiiiiieee et
Due from related Parties .........cocoeriiis i e e
TNVEIEOTY vttt et
Prepaid expenses and other receivables......c..cocovevciiiiiininic e
Income taxes receivable.. ..o

TOtal CUITENE ASSELS ..ovvviii ettt eae e st e e e eeeeeearaaeeeaes
Property and equipment, Net...........o.oiiiiiiiiiiiiie e
OFNET SSELS. . iireiiieririereeetr s iteee ettt ee et esaeser e s st e erbeebreebaesaaessbeessnananeens
Excess of cost over fair value of net assets

ACQUITEA, TIET «eeieiiii ettt et ben

TOLAL ASSELS ..vveeenriieiree ettt ettt e et ee e et e e s s e seeaeesr s e e s s e e s eare s nenes

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Current liabilities: i
Short-term bank BOITOWINGS ......ecvvviverieiiiiriitie it nre e sieeae b
Accounts payable... ...
ACCIUEA BXPEINSES -ovvenreiririeaireteeineraeteteeaesiee e e eseeaensnesine s eseebeoaeesnesone
TNCOME TAXES ..ot
Due t0 related PAITIES .....vecueeiiieriririe ettt
Due to shareholders .........ccceeieiiiiii e
Current portion of long-term obligations......c.ccocevveriiireiniriiicrre e
Total current Habillties.......c.cooieiiiiiiiie e
Long-term ObLIZAtIONS ......ooiiiiiiiiiiiccire ettt
Deferred-tax Habilities .....ccocovererenieiinriieieieie e bttt

Minority interest iN UAV Lo et
Minority interest in Tarrant MeXiCo ........ccccoevncrinenneeninccee s

Commitments and contingencies
Shareholders’ equity:
Preferred stock, 2,000,000 shares authorized;

100,000 shares (2002) and no shares (2003} issued

ANd OULSTANAING. ... ecveirer ittt
Common stock, no par value, 35,000,000 shares (2002)

and 100,000,000 shares (2003) authorized,

15,846,315 shares (2002) and 27,614,763 shares

(2003) issued and oUtStANAING «...ecviieeeiiec e
Warrant to purchase common STOCK.........cccccvirrienriiniirnnneerarr s
Contributed Capital ...c..occooiriiiiiicrre e
Retained Sarnings ......covvceriiiirieicriiet et e
Notes receivable from officer/shareholder........c.cooooiviiiiiii oo,
Accumulated other comprehensive 10SS .....oovciicieiiriiericece e

Total shareholders’ QUILY .....c.oioiiieiiii it
Total liabilities and shareholders’ €quity.........coeerviinnriciinninnnceneeee.

See accompanying notes.
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December 31,

2002 2003
$ 1,388,482 $ 3,319,964
- 2,759,742
65,287,902 57,165,926
8,967,493 18,056,488
44,782,154 23,251,591
5,135,672 1,776,142
280.200 277,695
125,841,903 106,607,548
159,998,629 135,645,751
2,539,040 2,269,011
28.064,019 8.582.845

$ 316,443,591

§ 253,105,155

$ 29,326,924

$ 29,293,323

27,722,445 23,514,894
12,566,475 11,194,421
12,640,388 16,497,939

9,661,647 5,418,795
486,875 496
21.706.502 38,705,240

114,111,256 124,625,108

55,903,976 588,272
407,751 275,129
3,205,167 5,141,620
21,654,538 14,766,215
8,820,573 -
69,368,239 107,891,426
- 1,798,733
1,434,259 1,505,831
56,873,094 20,988,434
(5,601,804) (4,796,428)
(9.733.458) (19.679.185)
121.160.903 107.708.811

§ 316,443,591

$.253,105,155




TARRANT APPAREL GROUP

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

NEESAIES ..ttt
Cost of sales.....ocooevvinirrie e
GTOSS PrOfit....oseieeieiriceiririeieere e
Selling and distribution expenses .............c.e...
General and administrative expenses................
Amortization of excess of cost over

fair value of net assets acquired ...................
Write-off of prepaid expenses ........c..ccococeerenen.
Impairment of excess of cost over

fair value of net assets acquired ...................

Income (loss) from operations...........ccccceneene.
INterest EXPENSE vevvvvvviveeeecir i
Interest INCOME .......cevvvervrerrreer e
MINOTILY INEEIESE . .v.v.vereserereieieeeee e
Other INCOME ...c. vt
Other EXPENSE ..v.vvveveeiieriereee e bererenene

Loss before provision for income taxes and
cumulative effect of accounting change.......
Provision for income taxes .........cccoeevrieeceneenne

Loss before cumulative effect of
accounting change............cocoevmviinircinecnn.
Cumulative effect of accounting change ..........

NELLOSS wiiiiiiiiiee e

Net loss per share — Basic and Diluted:
Before cumulative effect of
accounting Change .........ccoceevevcverieiveeeecen
Cumulative effect of accounting change......
After cumulative effect of
accounting change........c.oocovvviveerereeecenne

Weighted average shares outstanding:
Basic and Diluted .........ccocooiciniiiniiniicnene

See accompanying notes.
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Year Ended December 31,
2001 2002 2003

$ 330,253,548 $ 347,390,930 $ 320,422,850

277.525.010 302.082.144 288.445.173

52,728,538 45,308,786 31,977,677

14,345,356 10,757,029 11,329,414

33,136,008 30,082,061 31,767,122

3,317,428 - --

- - 2,771,989

- -- 19,504,521
1,929,746 4,469,696 (33,395,369)
(7,807,918) (5,443,995) (5,602,556)

3,255,843 4,748,144 424,518

(412,022) (4,580,766 3,461,243

1,853,066 2,647,975 4,784,479
(855,994) (2.004,073) (1.425.346)
(2,037,279 ) (163,019) (31,753,031)

851,977 1,051,018 4,131,629
(2,889,256) (1,214,037) (35,884,660)

- (4,871.244) --
(2,889.256) §_(6,085.281) $ (35,884.660)
0.18) § (0.08) $ (1.97)

- (0.30) --
(018) § (0.38) S (1.97)

15,824,750 15,834,122 18,215,071
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TARRANT APPAREL GROUP

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Operating activities:
INEE LOSS 1revrrerieeereesetribrir et e eet e s ea et s en s ebtsate sen st e ia s ens
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash provided by
operating activities:
Deferred taXes. ..o et
Depreciation and amortization............
Accrued interest on note receivable
Cumulative effect of accounting change....................
Asset IMPAIrmMENts ......coooeoverecornieiiier e
Inventory write-dowTl .............. ettt
Loss on sale of fixed assets..........cccoovrrnnnee
Unrealized (gain) loss on foreign currency..........
MINOTIEY INTEIESt . euttieeiieiteeiirieinreeti e iae et r s sbe st sas oo
Gain on legal settlement .......cccoovviiiir i
Compensation expense related to stock option ...
Change in the provision for returns and discounts..............coceceevnennne
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Restricted cash.......cc.oooiiiiiii i
Accounts TECEIVADLE. ...
Due to/fromt related Parties....ccoovvcrrivreciineeiiccre et
Inventory .....cccooevvcveniciicinn
Temporary qUOta .....ooceevvvriviininii e
Prepaid expenses and other receivables..........
ACCOUNts payable ....ooeeveeeeieeiincieneene
Accrued expenses and income tax payable

Net cash provided by operating activities .......cooecevevrerrermicriecenincreennne

Investing activities:

Purchase of fiXed GSSELS . .coviiiieiiiiiciiii et
Proceeds from sale of fixed assets
Acquisitions, N8t 0F CaSh........coiiiiiiii e
Collection on note receivable........coooviiviivieciiece et
(Increase) decrease in other assets
Advances to shareholders/officers
Collection of advances from shareholders/officers..........cccecvvivniiveeiennnn.

Net cash used in investing aCVIHES .........eeeeveeviricieiene e

Financing activities:

Short-term bank borrowings, Net ........c.cocovcivirccimiiiinciccir e
Proceeds from long-term obligations ...........c.ocecvvvcrnuricnnne

Payment of long-term obligations and bank borrowings .....

Repayments of borrowings from shareholders/officers .......
Proceeds from issuance of preferred stock and warrant..........cc.ooecceveneeces
Repurchase of Shares ..o e
Exercise of stock options including related tax benefit.............ccccoceineee.

Net cash used in financing activities..........cocvecermriniicnneironreneene
Effect of exchange rate on cash ..o

Increase(decrease}in cash and cash equivalents..........ccccoeveeiriiiiiniicronenn,
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year...........cccoonvcvnrrnarecnnes

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year.......c.ccccveeieci i

Year Ended December 31,
2001 2002 2003
$ (2,889,256) $ (6,085,281) $(35,884,660)
1,273,305 (107,162) (132,622)
14,564,623 10,130,132 16,097,595
-- (4,452,490) --
-- 4,871,244 --
- R 22,276,510
- -- 10,986,153
26,861 5,291 593,626
(103,705) 1,014,696 560,602
757,927 4,426,080 (3,218,069)
-- (473,041) (235,785)
-- -- 71,572
1,830,841 453,167 (324,387)
- - (2,759,742)
5,902,995 (7,141,536) 7,856,700
(2,102,811) (673,650) (14,801,324)
10,474,030 5,818,431 9,626,509
(142,221) 369,849 --
1,385,875 1,551,324 590,046
2,343,419 (3,772,979) (4,207,552)
(3.270.616) 8.211,770 2,388,976
30,051,267 15,493,145 9,484,148
(3,918,602) (2,984,547) (368,113)
- - 209,788
(6,750,391) (2,355,954) --
2,036,924 - -
(594,660) 509,524 (983,593)
(6,218,458) (1,008,591) --
-- 169,991 88,723
(15,445,187) (5,669,577) (1,053,195)
(16,927,528) 7,241,576 (161,194)
52,894,023 198,551,201 239,280,109
(40,376,783) (211,894,730) (275,640,677)
(11,543,640) (2,359,847) (486,379)
-- - 31,024,774
-- -- (311,427)
38.407 27.149 --
(15,915,521) (8,434,651) (6,294,794)
184.591 (1.524.882) (204.677)
(1,124,850) (135,965) 1,931,482
2,649.297 1,524,447 1,388.482
$ 1.524.447 S 1,388.482 $ 3319964

See accompanying notes
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TARRANT APPAREL GROUP
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Organization and Basis of Consolidation

The accompanying financial statements consist of the consolidation of Tarrant Apparel Group, a California
corporation (formerly “Fashion Resource, Inc.”), and its majority owned Subsidiaries located primarily in the U.S.,
Mexico, and Asia. At December 31, 2003, we own 75% of our subsidiaries in Mexico, 51% of Jane Doe
International, LLC (“JDI”), and 50.1% of United Apparel Ventures (“UAV™). In January 2004, we acquired the
remaining 49% interest in JDI. We consolidate these entities and reflect the minority interests in earnings (losses) of
the ventures in the accompanying financial statements. All inter-company amounts are eliminated in consolidation.
The 25% minority interest in our subsidiaries in Mexico are owned by affiliates of Mr. Kamel Nacif, one of our
sharéholders. The 49.9% minority interest in UAV is owned by Azteca Production International, a corporation
owned by the brothers of our Chairman, Gerard Guez.

We serve specialty retail, mass merchandise and department store chains and major international brands by
designing, merchandising, contracting for the manufacture of, manufacturing directly and selling casual apparel for
women, men and children under private label. Commencing in 1999, we expanded our operations from sourcing
apparel to sourcing and operating our own vertically integrated manufacturing facilities. In August 2003, we
determined to abandon our strategy of being both a trading and vertically integrated manufacturing company, and
effective September 1, 2003, we leased and outsourced operation of our manufacturing facilities in Mexico to
affihiates of Mr. Kamel Nacif, one of our shareholders. (See Note 14).

~ Revenue Recognition

Revenue is recognized at the point of shipment for all merchandise sold based on FOB shipping point. For
merchandise shipped on landed duty paid (“LDP”) terms, revenue is recognized at the point of either leaving
Customs for direct shipments or at the point of leaving our warehouse where title is transferred.

We often arrange, on behalf of manufacturers, for the purchase of fabric from a single supplier. We have the fabric
shipped directly to the cutting factory and invoice the factory for the fabric. Generally, the factories pay us for the
fabric with offsets against the price of the finished goods.

Shipping and Handling Costs

Freight charges are included in selling and distribution expenses in the statement of operations and amounted to
$2,509,000, $2,136,000 and $1,817,000 for the years ended December 31, 2001, 2002 and 2003, respectively.

Cash and Cash Equivalents and Restricted Cash

Cash equivalents consist of cash and highly liquid investments with an original maturity of three months or less
when purchased. Restricted cash refers to cash deposit(s) held as collateral by landing institution(s) to either
guarantee our liabilities and/or loans. Cash and cash equivalents, including restricted cash, held in foreign financial
institutions totaled to $982,000 and $3,930,000 as of December 31, 2002 and 2003, respectively. Restricted cash is
not constdered a cash equivalent for purposes of the statement of cash flow.

Accounts Receivable--Allowance for Returns, Discounts and Bad Debts
We evaluate the collectibility of accounts receivable and chargebacks (disputes from the customer) based upon a
combination of factors. In circumstances where we are aware of a specific customer’s inability to meet its financial

obligations (such as in the case of bankruptcy filings or substantial downgrading of credit sources), a specific
reserve for bad debts is taken against amounts due to reduce the net recognized receivable to the amount reasonably
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expected to be collected. For all other customers, we recognize reserves for bad debts and uncollectible chargebacks
based on our historical collection experience. If collection experience deteriorates (for example, due to an
unexpected material adverse change in a major customer’s ability to meet ifs financial obligations to us), the
estimates of the recoverability of amounts due us could be reduced by a material amount.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost (first-in, first-out) or market. Under certain market conditions, we use
estimates and judgments regarding the valuation of inventory to properly value inventory. Inventory adjustments are made
for the difference between the cost of the inventory and the estimated market value and charged to operations in the period
in which the facts that give rise to the adjustments become known.

Cost of Sales

Cost of sales includes costs related to product costs, direct labor, manufacturing overhead, duty, quota, freight in,
brokerage and warehousing.

Selling and Distribution Expenses

Selling and distribution expenses include expenses related to samples, travel and entertainment, salaries, rent and
other office expenses, professional fees, freight out and selling commissions incurred in the sales process.

General and Administrative Expenses

General and administrative expenses include expenses related to research and product development, travel and
entertainment, salaries, rent and other office expenses, depreciation, professional fees and bank charges.

Product Design, Advertising and Sales Promotion Costs

Product design, advertising and sales promotion costs are expensed as incurred. Product design, advertising and
sales promotion costs included in operating expenses in the accompanying statements of operations (excluding the
costs of manufacturing production samples) amounted to approximately $1,621,000, $1,225,000 and $1,306,000 in
2001, 2002 and 2003, respectively.

Quota

We purchase quota rights to be used in the importation of our products from certain foreign countries. The effect of
quota transactions is accounted for as a product cost.

Permanent quota entitlements were principally obtained through free allocations by the Hong Kong Government
pursuant to an import restraint between Hong Kong and the United States and are renewable on an annual basis,
based upon the prior year utilization. Permanent quota entitlements acquired from outside parties are amortized over
three years on a straight-line basis, and were fully amortized at December 31, 2002 and 2003.

Temporary quota represents quota rights acquired from other permanent quota entitlement holders on a temporary
basis. Temporary quota has a maximum life of twelve months. The cost of temporary quota purchased for use in the
current year is assigned to inventory purchases while the cost of temporary quota acquired for usage in the year
following the balance sheet date is recorded as a current asset. At December 31, 2002 and 2003, there were no
temporary quota rights included in current assets.
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Property and Equipment

Property and equipment is recorded at cost. Additions and betterments are capitalized while repair and maintenance
costs are charged to operations as incurred. Depreciation of property and equipment is provided for by the straight-
line method over their estimated useful lives. Leasehold improvements are amortized using the straight-line method
over the lesser of their estimated useful lives or the term of the lease. Upon retirement or disposal of property and
equipment, the cost and related accumulated depreciation are eliminated from the accounts and any gain or loss is
reflected in the statements of operations. Repair and maintenance costs are charged to expense as incurred. The
estimated useful lives of the assets are as follows:

Buildings 35to 40 years

Equipment 7 to 15 years

Fumniture and Fixtures Sto 7 years

Vehicles 5 years

Leasehold Improvements Term of lease
Intangibles

The excess of cost over fair value of net assets acquired was amortized over five to thirty years through December
31, 2001. Effective January 1, 2002, we adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 142,
“Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets.” According to this statement, goodwill and other intangible assets with
indefinite lives are no longer subject to amortization, but rather an annual assessment of impairment applied on a
fair-value-based test. We adopted SFAS No. 142 in fiscal 2002 and performed our first annual assessment of
impairment, which resulted in an impairment loss of $4.9 million. This amount is presented as cumulative effect of
accounting change in our Consolidated Statements of Operations and Cash Flows.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

The carrying value of long-lived assets are reviewed when events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable. If it is determined that an impairment loss has occurred based
on the lowest level of identifiable expected future cash flow, then a loss is recognized in the statement of operations
using a fair value based model.

Deferred Financing Cost

Included in the other assets are deferred financing costs of $949,000, $638,000 and $327,000 at December 31, 2001,
2002 and 2003, respectively. These costs of obtaining financing are being amortized as mterest expense over the
term of the related debt.

Income Taxes

We utilize SFAS No. 109, “Accounting for Income Taxes”, which prescribes the use of the liability method to
compute the differences between the tax basis of assets and liabilities and the related financial reporting amounts
using currently enacted tax laws and rates. A valuation allowance is recorded to reduce deferred taxes to the amount
that is more likely than not to be realized.

Our Hong Kong corporate affiliates are taxed at an effective Hong Kong rate of 17.5%. As of December 31, 2003,
no domestic tax provision has been provided for $59.5 million of un-remitted retained earnings of these Hong Kong
corporations, as we intend to maintain these amounts outside of the U.S. on a permanent basis.’
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Net Income (Loss) Per Share

Basic and diluted income (loss) per share has been computed in accordance with SFAS No. 128, “Earnings Per
Share”. All options and warrants have been excluded from the computation in 2001, 2002 and 2003 as the impact
would be anti-dilutive.

Foreign Currency Translation

Assets and liabilities of the Mexico and Hong Kong subsidiaries are translated at the rate of exchange in effect on
the balance sheet date; income and expenses are translated at the average rates of exchange prevailing during the
year. The functional currencies in which we transact business are the Hong Kong dollar and the peso in Mexico.

Foreign currency gains and losses resulting from translation of assets and liabilities are included in other
comprehensive income (loss). Transaction gains or losses, other than inter-company debt deemed to be of a long-
term nature, are included in net income (loss) in the period in which they occur.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The fair value of financial instruments is determined by reference to various market data and other valuation
techniques as appropriate. Considerable judgment is required in estimating fair values. Accordingly, the estimates
may not be indicative of the amounts that we could realize in a current market exchange. The carrying amounts of
cash and cash equivalents, receivables and accounts payable approximate fair values. The carrying amounts of our
variable rate borrowings under the various short-term borrowings and long-term debt arrangements approximate fair
value.

Concentration of Credit Risk

Financial instruments, which potentially expose us to concentration of credit risk, consist primarily of cash
equivalents, trade accounts receivable, related party receivables and amounts due from factor.

Our products are primarily sold to mass merchandisers and specialty retail stores. These customers can be
significantly affected by changes in economic, competitive or other factors. We make substantial sales to a relatively
few, large customers. In order to minimize the risk of loss, we assign certain of our domestic accounts receivable to
a factor without recourse or requires letters of credit from our customers prior to the shipment of goods. For non-
factored receivables, account-monitoring procedures are utilized to minimize the risk of loss. Collateral is generally
not required. At December 31, 2002 approximately 31.7% of accounts receivable were due from two customers. At
December 31, 2003 approximately 15.6% of accounts receivable were due from one customer. The following table
presents the percentage of net sales concentrated with certain customers. Customer A represents a group of
customers under common ownership.

2001 2002 2003
CUSLOIMIET A .ooveiieeiie ettt ettt e et e et e r s et etaestaesrseseneresenee e 14.3% 12.7% 15.3%
CUSTOMET B oiiiiiiiicee ettt ettt a e e 20.5% 17.6% 12.1%
CUSTOMET C oottt ettt et ettt ae e e etreeesaeesteaaeresennas 12.2% 9.7% 8.7%
CUSLOMET Dottt ettt eete et a s ens 8.5% 9.9% 8.3%
CUStOMET E Lo et 7.8% 17.4% 6.7%

We maintain demand deposits with several major banks. At times, cash balances may be in excess of Federal
Deposit Insurance Corporation or equivalent foreign insurance limits.
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Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the financial
statements and accompanying notes. Significant estimates used by us in preparation of the financial statements
include allowance for returns, discounts and bad debts, valuation of long-lived and intangible assets and goodwill,
and tax provision. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Employee Stock Options

We account for employee stock options using the intrinsic value method rather than the alternative fair-value
accounting method. Under the intrinsic-value method, if the exercise price of the employee’s stock options equals
the market price of the underlying stock on the date of the grant, no compensation expense is recognized. For the
periods ended December 31, 2001 and 2002, no compensation cost was reflected in net income related to our stock
options. For period ended December 31, 2003, $72,000 was recorded as an expense.

Pro forma information regarding net income and earnings per share is required by SFAS 148, and has been
determined as if we had accounted for our employee stock options under the fair value method of that Statement.
The fair value for these options was estimated at the date of grant using a Black-Scholes option pricing model with
the following weighted-average assumptions: weighted-average risk-free interest rate of 6% for 2001, 4% for 2002
and 2003; dividend yields of 0% for 2001, 2002 and 2003; weighted-average volatility factors of the expected
market price of our common stock of 1.22 for 2001, 0.65 for 2002 and 2003; and a weighted-average expected life
of the option of four years.

For purposes of pro forma disclosures, the estimated fair value of the options is amortized to expense over the
options’ vesting period. Our pro forma information follows:

2001 2002 2003

Pro forma net 1SS .....eeeeceericniisirreeetcineee e $ (7,035501) $ (9,519,060) $ (39,928,351)
Pro forma compensation expense, net of tax......... $ (4,146,245) $ (3,433,779) $ (4,043,691)
Net 1oss as reported......ccoieeviviieiienieneesriareeen $ (2,889,256) $ (6,085,281) $(35,884,660)
Pro forma loss per share

Basic and diluted ........ooooveoiviiiiiniie $ (0.44) $ (0.60) $ (2.19)
Net loss per share

Basic and diluted ......cccooeiieiiiin e $ (0.18) h) (0.38) $ (1.97)

Other Comprehensive Income (Loss)

Other comprehensive income (loss) includes all changes in equity (net assets) from non-owner sources such as foreign
currency translation adjustments. We account for other comprehensive income (loss) in accordance with SFAS 130,
“Reporting Comprehensive Income.”

Impact of Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements

In July 2002, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued SFAS No.146, “Accounting for Costs Associated
with Exit or Disposal Activities.” This statement requires that a liability for a cost associated with an exit or disposal
activity be recognized when the liability is incurred. Under previous guidance, a liability for an exit cost was recognized at
the date of the commitment to an exit plan. The provisions of this statement are effective for exit or disposal activities that
are initiated after December 31, 2002 and will be applied prospectively, as applicable. We applied the provisions of SFAS
No. 146 to the costs associated with our decision in 2003 to abandon its strategy of being both a trading and vertically
integrated manufacturing company, as discussed in Notes 7 and 14 to the financial statements.

F-12



TARRANT APPAREL GROUP

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - (Continued)

In November 2002, FASB issued FASB Interpretation No. (“FIN”) 45, “Guarantor’s Accounting and Disclosure
Requirements for Guarantees, Including Indirect Guarantees of Indebtedness of Others.” FIN 45 requires that
guarantees issued after December 31, 2002 are recorded as liabilities at fair value, with the offsetting entry recorded
based on the circumstances in which the guarantee was issued. Adoption of FIN 45 did not have a material impact
on our financial statements.

In December 2002, the FASB issued SFAS 148, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation — Transition and
Disclosure — an amendment of SFAS 123.” This statement provides alternate methods of transition for a voluntary
change to the fair value method of accounting for stock-based compensation. This statement also amends the
disclosure requirements of SFAS 123 and APB Opinion 28, “Interim Financial Reporting” to require prominent
disclosure in both annual and interim financial statements about the method of accounting for stock-based
compensation and the effect of the method used on reported results. We have adopted the disclosure provisions of
SFAS 148.

In January 2003, the FASB issued Interpretation No. 46 (“FIN 46”), “Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities.”
FIN 46 addresses when a company should consolidate in its financial statements the assets, liabilities and activities
of a variable interest entity (“VIE”). It defines VIEs as entities that either do not have any equity investors with a
controlling financial interest, or have equity investors that do not provide sufficient financial resources for the entity
to support its activities without additional subordinated financial support. FIN 46 also requires disclosures about
VIE’s that a company is not required to consolidate, but in which it has a significant variable interest. The
consolidation requirements of FIN 46 applied immediately to variable interest entities created after January 31,
2003. We have not obtained an interest in a VIE subsequent to that date. A modification to FIN 46 (FIN 46(R)) was
released in December 2003. FIN 46(R) delayed the effective date for VIEs created before February 1, 2003, with
the exception of special-purpose entities, until the first fiscal year or interim period ending after March 15, 2004.
FIN 46(R) delayed the effective date for special-purpose entities until the first fiscal year or interim period after
December 15, 2003. We are not the primary beneficiary of any SPEs at December 31, 2003. We will adopt FIN
46(R) for non-SPE entities as of March 31, 2004. The adoption of FIN 46 did not result in the consolidation of any
VIEs, nor is the adoption of FIN 46(R) expected to result in the consolidation of any VIEs. We are continuing to
evaluate the impact FIN 46(R) will have on its financial statements.

In May 2003, the FASB issued SFAS 150, “Accounting for Certain Financial Instruments with Characteristics of
both Liabilities and Equity.” This statement establishes standards for how an issuer classifies and measures in its
statement of financial position certain financial instruments with characteristics of both liabilities and equity. In
accordance with the standard, financial instruments that embody obligations for the issuer are required to be
classified as liabilities. SFAS 150 is effective for all financial instruments created or modified after May 31, 2003,
and otherwise shall be effective at the beginning of the first interim period beginning after June 15, 2003. The
adoption of SFAS 150 as of July 1, 2003 did not have a material impact on our consolidated financial condition or
results of operations.

Currency Rate Hedging

We manufacture in a number of countries throughout the world, including Hong Kong and Mexico, and, as a result,
are exposed to movements in foreign currency exchange rates. Periodically we will enter into various currency rate
hedges. The primary purpose of our foreign currency hedging activities is to manage the volatility associated with
foreign currency purchases of materials and equipment in the normal course of business. We utilize forward
exchange contracts with maturities of one to three months. We do not enter into derivative financial instruments for
speculative or trading purposes. We enter into certain foreign currency derivative instruments that do not meet hedge
accounting criteria. As a result, we mark to market all derivative instruments with the gain or loss included in other
income (expense) (see Note 17). These instruments are intended to protect against exposure related to financing
transactions (equipment) and income from international operations. The fair value of the exchange contracts was not
significant at December 31, 2002 and 2003.
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Reclassifications
Certain prior year amounts have been reclassified to conform to the current year presentation.
2. Accounts Receivable

Accounts receivable consists of the following:

December 31,
2002 2003
U.S. trade accounts reCeivable ..........ooooo oo $ 42979762 $ 30,729,774
Foreign trade accounts receivable .............oooeiiiinciiiiieiee 16,445,868 24,528,500
DUE TTOM fACEOT 1ottt ettt et r e e e e e s ea e s e eeeeaees 4,176,598 955,534
Other 1CIVADIES viiviiiiee ettt 6,002,295 5,178,501
Allowance for returns, discounts and bad debts ........c..ccocccoeriinne, (4.316.,621) (4,226,383)

$ 65,287,902 $§ 57,165,926

The Debt Facility includes a factoring arrangement whereby GMAC advances against receivables from customers
with debt ratings above BBB and factors the other receivables with credit insurance. We do not receive advances
against receivables covered by credit insurance of GMAC, and are paid only upon collection of proceeds. For this
credit insurance arrangement, we pay the factor a commission of 60 basis points.

3. Inventory

Inventory consists of the following:

December 31,
2002 2003
Raw materials, fabric and trim aCCESSOTIES .....vvvrvevrererrrrereeesrereeesesnerens $ 12451447 $ 5,859,558
RAW COEOM . .itiiiiiieciii ittt ee s e st ee et sbae st e esenea e 1,017,963 --
WOTK=IN-PIOCESS ..evvivrererieiiiiie ettt eb st seebe st 9,948,700 1,094,786
Finished goods shipments-In-transit.......cc.cccceoeriiniienninieinineannn, 4,877,002 7,522,464
Finished g00dS. ... oottt 16,487.042 8.774.783

$ 44782154 § 23,251,591

We recorded a write down of our inventory totaling $10,986,153 in 2003 following our decision to withdraw from
our owned and operated facilities in Mexico effective September 1, 2003. The write down reflected an adjustment to
net realizable value of inventory identified for liquidation at reduced prices.
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4. Property and Equipment

Property and equipment consists of the following:

December 31,
2002 2003

51 Vo OO OO O OO OO OO PO $ 4,592,991 $ 4,301,138
Buildings.....cooveiieirinie e 58,389,310 54,871,724
EQUIPIIENE. ..o 120,270,968 111,742,558
Fumiture and fIXTUTES ...ooovvviii e et 2,428,858 2,441,058
Leasehold iMProvements ......cooviveviniiiie et 10,657,364 11,357,892
VERICIES ..o 1,099,538 496,942

197,439,029 185,211,312
Less accumulated depreciation and amortization ............ccccccervreneen (37.440.400) (49.565.561)

$ 159,998,629 $ 135,645,751

Depreciation expense, including amortization of assets recorded under capital leases, totaled $10,903,237,
$10,056,154 and $15,663,248 for the years ended December 31, 2001, 2002 and 2003, respectively.

5. Acquisitions
Twill Mill

On December 2, 1998, we contracted to acquire a fully operational facility being constructed in Puebla, Mexico by
Tex Transas, S.A. de C.V. (“Tex Transas”). Construction of this facility commenced in the third quarter of 1998,
and it was anticipated that we would take possession of this facility in fiscal 2000. On October 16, 2000, we revised
our agreement regarding the fully operational facility to extend our option to purchase the facility.

On December 31, 2002, we acquired certain assets of this twill mill located in Puebla, Mexico from Tex Transas,
S.A. de C.V. (“Tex Transas”™) and Inmobiliaria Cuadros, S.A. de C.V. ("Cuadros"), both of which were affiliated
with Kamel Nacif. The price paid for the asset acquisition consisted of 100,000 shares (the Shares) of our Series A
Preferred Stock valued at $8.8 million, a 25% equity stake in Tarrant's wholly-owned subsidiary, Tarrant Mexico S.
de R.L. de C.V, the cancellation of approximately $56.9 million of certain notes and accounts receivables due from
the sellers and their affiliates and a cash payment of $500 resulting in a total purchase price of $87.4 million. The
acquisition of the twill mill had been accounted for as the acquisition of a discrete operating asset. Therefore no
amounts were recorded as goodwill, but were allocated to either the assets acquired or the consideration paid based
on independent valuations received by us. As discussed in Note 7, we ceased operating our facilities in Mexico and
leased these assets back to affiliates of Mr. Kamel Nacif.

On December 31, 2002, we recorded $4.5 million of interest income, which represented accrued interest on one of
the canceled notes receivable. The interest was recorded as the cash was collected. Pursuant to the terms of the .
purchase agreement, interest was accrued through December 31, 2002 as part of the purchase price.

United Apparel Ventures

On July 1, 2001, we formed an entity to jointly market, share certain risks and achieve economics of scale with
Azteca Production International, Inc. (“Azteca”), a corporation owned by the brothers of Gerard Guez, the Chairman
of the Company, called United Apparel Ventures, LLC (“UAV”). This entity was created to coordinate the
production of apparel for a single customer of our branded business. UAV is owned 50.1% by Tag Mex, Inc., our
wholly owned subsidiary, and 49.9% by Azteca. Results of the operation of UAV have been consolidated into our
results since July 2001 with the minority partner’s share of gain and losses eliminated through the minority interest
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line in our financial statements. Since October 2002 and March 2003, UAV has begun to service both parties'
business with Express and Levi Strauss & Co., respectively. UAV makes purchases from two related parties in
Mexico, an affiliate of Azteca and Tag-It Pacific, Inc.

Ajalpan

On March 29, 2001, we completed the acquisition of a sewing facility located in Ajalpan Mexico from Confecciones
Jamil, S.A. de C.V, which is majority owned by Kamel Nacif, one of our shareholders. We used this facility, which
was newly constructed during 1999 and commenced operations in 2000, for production during 2000 and 2001. The
results of Ajalpan have been consolidated into our results commencing on March 29, 2001.

We paid $11 million for this operating facility. This entire amount had been paid in cash and the transfer of certain
of our receivables to the seller. The assets acquired include land, buildings and all equipment. This transfer had been
accounted for as a purchase and the purchase price had been allocated based on the fair market value of assets
acquired and labilities assumed. The excess of cost over fair value of net assets acquired was $4.7 million. Included
in the SFAS No. 142 charge in 2002 was a $1.7 million impairment loss related to Ajalpan. We wrote off the
remaining goodwill balance of $2.7 million during the year ended December 31, 2003, in connection with the
restructuring of our Mexico operations, as discussed in Note 7.

Jane Doe

On April 12, 2000, we formed a new company, Jane Doe International, LLC (“JDI”). This company was formed for
the purpose of purchasing the assets of Needletex, Inc., owner of the Jane Doe brand. JDI was owned 51% by
Fashion Resource (TCL), Inc., our subsidiary, and 49% by Needletex, Inc. In connection with the establishment of
JDI, JDI entered into an employment agreement with Patrick Bensimon, the principal shareholder of Needeltex, Inc.,
which provided for the payment of a salary to Patrick Bensimon and a bonus tied to the new company’s sales
performance. The existing lenders to Needletex, Inc. agreed to the asset transfer in return for, among other things,
the confirmation of Patrick Bensimon’s continuing guaranty of the loan obligations, the assumption of the loan
obligations by JDI and a guaranty of those obligations by us. We received an express indemnity by Needletex, Inc.
and Patrick Bensimon to reimburse us for all amounts we paid to those lenders for the account of Needletex and
Patrick Bensimon. The amounts paid to those lenders totaled $1.4 million and was recorded as additional goodwill.
The goodwill was included in the 2002 SFAS 142 impairment charge.

In March 2001, we converted JDI from an operating company to a licensing company and entered into two licenses
in regard to the use of the Jane Doe trademark. Thereafter a dispute arose as to whether Patrick Bensimon had
performed in accordance with his terms of employment set forth in the Employment Agreement. When an amicable
resolution of this dispute could not be achieved, Patrick Bensimon commenced an arbitration preceding against his
employer, JDI, Fashion Resource (TCL), Inc., the managing member of Jane Doe International and us. The
licensing activities on this trademark have been largely dormant since 2002 pending the outcome of the litigation
with Patrick Bensimon. Included in the SFAS No. 142 charge in 2002 was a $3.2 million impairment loss related to
JDI, see Note 7.

On January 21, 2003, after hearing, the arbitration panel issued an interim award in favor of Patrick Bensimon
awarding him $1,425,655 for salary and bonus plus interest accrued thereon and legal fees and costs to be
determined. On April 7, 2003, the panel issued a final award in favor of Patrick Bensimon confirming the prior
interim award and awarding Patrick Bensimon costs and attorneys fees in the amount of $489,640. We had a total
of $1.6 million reserve for litigation as of December 31, 2002. In January 2004, we settled the employment litigation
with Patrick Bensimon for $1.2 million in cash and forgiveness of approximately $859,000 in debts owed by
Needletex Inc. As part of the settlement, we received the remaining 49% interest in JDI. We also settled with our
insurance carrier for a cash payment of $330,000. An additional expense of approximately $379,000 was made in
the fourth quarter of 2003 to cover the forgiveness of debts.

E-16




TARRANT APPAREL GROUP

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - (Continued)

6. Other Assets

In the second quarter of 2003, we acquired a 45% equity interest in the owner of the trademark “American Rag CIE”
and the operator of American Rag retail stores for $1.4 million, and our subsidiary, Private Brands, Inc., acquired a
license to certain exclusive rights to this trademark. We have guaranteed the payment to the licensor of minimum
royalties of $10.4 million over the initial 10 year term of the agreement. Private Brands also entered into a multi-
year exclusive distribution agreement with Federated Merchandising Group (“FMG”), the sourcing arm of Federated
Department Stores, to supply FMG with American Rag CIE, a new casual sportswear collection for juniors and
young men. Private Brands will design and manufacture a full collection of American Rag apparel, which will be
distributed by FMG exclusively to Federated stores across the country. Beginning in August 2003, the American
Rag collection was available in approximately 100 select Macy’s, the Bon Marche, Burdines, Goldsmith’s, Lazarus
and Rich’s-Macy’s locations. The investment in American Rag, LLC totaling $1.4 million at December 31, 2003 is
accounted for under the equity method and included in other assets.

7. Impairment of Assets
Impairment of Goodwill

Goodwill is classified as “excess of costs over fair value of net assets acquired” on the accompanying balance
sheets. SFAS No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets,” requires that goodwill and other intangibles be
tested for impairment using a two-step process. The first step is to determine the fair value of the reporting unit,
which may be calculated using a discounted cash flow methodology, and compare this value to its carrying value. If
the fair value exceeds the carrying value, no further work is required and no impairment loss would be recognized.
The second step is an allocation of the fair value of the reporting unit to all of the reporting unit’s assets and
liabilities under a hypothetical purchase price allocation. Based on the evaluation performed to adopt SFAS No. 142
along with continuing difficulties being experienced in the industry, we recorded a non-cash charge of $4.9 million
in the first quarter of 2002 to reduce the carrying value of goodwill to the estimated fair value.

The following table presents our results on a comparable basis:

Year Ended December 31,
2001 2002 2003

Reported net L0SS ....vvvvereeevecrniereesreiererieeeeeanes $ (2,889,236) $ (1,214,037) $(35,884,660)
Goodwill amortization, net of tax ........cccevnne 2,089,980 -- --
Adjusted net loss before cumulative effect

of accounting change ...........ccccoceeceeininen. (799,276) (1,214,037) (35,884,660)
Cumulative effect of accounting change .......... -- (4,871.244) --
Adjusted Net 10SS......coviiveieviiecieeee e $ _(799.276) $ (6.085.281) $(35.884.,660)
Basic and diluted earnings per common share:
Reported loss before cumulative effect

of accounting change ................ccceee v, $ (0.18) $ (0.08) § (1.97)
Goodwill amortization, net of taxes.................. 0.13 -- --
Adjusted loss before cumulative effect

of accounting change ..........c..ccooeveevriereenennn. (0.05) (0.08) (1.97)
Cumulative effect of accounting change .......... -- (0.30) --
Adjusted net 10S3.....ccoovivieieieeieeee e $ (0.05) $ (0.38) $ (1.97)
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In 2003, we ceased directly operating a substantial majority of our equipment and fixed assets in Mexico, and started
leasing a large portion of our manufacturing facilities and operations in Mexico to affiliates of Mr. Kamel Nacif, one
of our shareholders, effective September 1, 2003. During 2003, we made an interim review of our goodwill and
intangible assets and wrote off all goodwill and intangible assets affected by our strategic changes in Mexico.
Write-offs included $9.1 million and $2.7 million directly relating to Tarrant Mexico - Famian and Ajalpan
divisions, respectively, and another $7.5 million relating to of Rocky Apparel LLC (“Rocky”). It is unlikely that
Tommy Hilfiger, whose business we acquired in the Rocky acquisition, will continue to purchase merchandise from
UAYV following implementation of the restructuring in Mexico. In 2003, we had also written off the remaining
goodwill of $150,000 relating to the acquisition of JDI due to the litigation with the minority shareholder.

The following table displays the change in the gross carrying amount of goodwill by reporting units at the end of
December 31, 2003:

Reporting Units
‘Tag Mex
Tag Mex Inc. -
Tarrant Tarrant Inc. - Chazzz &
Mexico - Mexico - Rocky MGl
Total Jane Doe Ajalpan Famian Division Division

Balance as of

December 31, 2001 $29,196,886  $1,904,529  $4427.843  $7,260,133  $7,521,536  $8,082,845
Additional purchase price 3,050,000 -- - 2,550,000 -- 500,000
Additional liabilities

assumed 1,428,588 1,428,588 - -- -- -
Impairment losses (4,871,244)  (3,182,779) (1,688,465) - -- --
Foreign currency

translation (740.211) -- -- (740.211) -- -
Balance as of

December 31, 2002 28,064,019 150,338 2,739,378 9,069,922 7,521,536 8,582,345
Impairment losses (19,504,521) (150,338)  (2,739,378) (9,093,269) (7,521,536) --
Foreign currency

translations 23,347 -- -- 23,347 -- --
Balance as of

December 31, 2003 § 8,582,845 $ 0 $ 0 9§ 0 $ 0 $8.582,845

Impairment of Other Assets

On June 28, 2000, we signed an exclusive production agreement with Manufactures Cheja (“Cheja”) through February
2002. We had agreed on a new contract to extend the agreement for an additional quantity of 6.4 million units beginning
April 1, 2002, which was amended on November 8, 2002, for the manufacturing of 5.7 million units through September 30,
2004. In June 2003, we determined that we no longer expected to recoup advances to Cheja related to the production
agreement. In June 2003, we wrote off $2.8 million of remaining advances to Cheja.
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8. Debt

Debt consists of the following:

2002 2003
Short term bank borrowings:
Import trade bills payable...........ccooveinennrcninennencnn, $ 5686327 $ 3,113,030
Bank direct aCCePLances .....ccevvivieeererienesesre e 11,272,375 12,660,945
Other Hong Kong credit facilities .........c.ccecnviovvcccnnnene. 6,206,103 11,375,363
Other Mexican credit facilities .......ccceeoeviivieieeiiveeee 4,968,309 2,143,985
Uncleared checkS......ocooovieiiiiiiiiiiecccee e 1,193,810 --
$_ 29326924 $ 29293323
Long term debt:
Vendor fiNanCing..........ocooveiieeeiiiie e ecre e eveenee $ 7,257,683 $ 3,971,490
Equipment financing ...........ccooeeiiieeeninins e 9,682,290 3,710,355
Debt facility ..ooooviveeei e 58,193,505 31,611,667
Other debt (including capital leases) ..........cooovvvererninn 2.477.000 --
77,610,478 39,293,512
Less current portion......c.ccoeeueeererinieesnesee e evreseecaseneseens (21,706.502) (38.705,240)

$_55903.976 § 588272

Import Trade Bills Payable and Bank Direct Acceptances

On June 13, 2002, we entered into a letter of credit facility of $25 million with UPS Capital Global Trade Finance
Corporation (“UPS”) to replace the credit facility of The Hong Kong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited in
Hong Kong. Under this facility, we may arrange for the issuance of letters of credit and acceptances. The facility is
a one-year facility subject to renewal on its anniversary and is collateralized by the shares and debentures of all of
our subsidiaries in Hong Kong, as well as our permanent quota holdings in Hong Kong. In addition to the guarantees
provided by Tarrant Apparel Group and our subsidiaries, Fashion Resource (TCL) Inc. and Tarrant Luxembourg
Sarl, Gerard Guez, our Chairman, also signed a guarantee of $5 million in favor of UPS to secure this facility. This
facility bears interest at 4.5% per annum at December 31, 2003. Under this facility, we are subject to certain
restrictive covenants, including that we maintain a specified tangible net worth, fixed charge ratio, and leverage
ratio. We were in compliance with all the covenants in the third quarter of 2002. In the fourth quarter of 2002, we
violated the fixed charge ratio covenant and obtained a waiver at a cost of $3,000. In the first quarter of 2003, we
were in violation of the no-consecutive-quarterly-losses covenant and the fixed charge ratio covenant and obtained a
waiver for the quarter for a fee of $10,000. In the second quarter of 2003, we breached all the financial covenants
and obtained a waiver for the quarter for a fee of $25,000. In October 2003, we established new financial covenants
with UPS for the period ended September 30, 2003 and the remainder of fiscal 2003 based on projection. We were
in compliance with all the covenants in the third and fourth quarters of 2003. Tangible net worth, fixed charge ratio
and leverage ratio were fixed at $65 million, 0.74 to 1 and 2.55 to 1, respectively, for the fourth quarter of 2003.
Capital Expenditures were capped at $800,000 per quarter. As of December 31, 2003, we were in compliance with
these covenants. In December 2003, a temporary additional line of credit consisting of a $2.8 million standby letter
of credit was made available to us against a restricted deposit $2.8 million. This temporary facility was cancelled in
February 2004 and the deposit has since been released. The expiration date of our main credit facility with UPS has
been extended to December 31, 2004 with certain conditions. One of the conditions requires that on or before May
31, 2004, we have to refinance the Debt Facility currently provided by GMAC Commercial Credit LLC. If we fail to
satisfy this condition, we will incur a penalty of $100,000 payable to UPS. As of December 31, 2003, $23.7 million
was outstanding under this facility, and an additional $350,000 was available for future borrowings. In addition,
$1.2 million of open letters of credit was outstanding as of December 31, 2003.

Since March 2003, DBS Bank (Hong Kong) Limited (formerly known as Dao Heng Bank) has made available a
letter of credit facility of up to HKD 20 million (equivalent to US $2.6 million) to our subsidiaries in Hong Kong.
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This is a demand facility and is secured by the pledge of our office property, which is owned by Gerard Guez and
Todd Kay, and our guarantee. In August 2003, the letter of credit facility increased to HKD 23 million (equivalent to
US $3.0 million). In December 2003, a tax loan for HKD 2 million (equivalent to US $256,000) was also made
available to our Hong Kong subsidiaries. As of December 31, 2003, $2.9 million was outstanding under this facility.
In addition, $0.3 million of open letters of credit was outstanding as of December 31, 2003,

Other Mexican Credit Facilities

At December 31, 2003, Tarrant Mexico S. de R.L. de C.V., Famian division is indebted to Banco Nacional de
Comercio Exterior SNC in the amount of $2.1 million pursuant to a credit facility assumed by Tarrant Mexico
following its merger with Grupo Famian. We are now repaying $250,000 plus interest (LIBOR plus 6%) monthly
on this facility.

Vendor Financing

During 2000, we financed equipment purchases for a manufacturing facility with certain vendors. A total of $16.9
million was financed with five-year promissory notes, which bear interest ranging from 7.0% to 7.5%, and are
payable in semiannual payments, which commenced in February 2000. Of this amount, $4.0 million was
outstanding as of December 31, 2003. Of the $4.0 million, $2.7 million is denominated in Euros and the remainder
is payable in U.S. dollars.

An unrealized gain of $104,000 and unrealized losses of $1.0 million and $561,000 were recorded at December 31,
2001, 2002 and 2003, respectively, related to foreign currency fluctuations and were recorded in other income in the
accompanying financial statements.

From time to time, we open letters of credit under an uncommitted credit arrangement with Aurora Capital
Associates, which issues these credits through Israeli Discount Bank. As of December 31, 2003, $564,000 was
outstanding under this facility and $3.9 million of letters of credit were open under this arrangement.

Equipment Financing

We have an equipment loan with an initial borrowing of $16.25 million from GE Capital Leasing (“GE Capital”), which
matures in November 2005. The loan is secured by equipment located in Puebla and Tlaxcala, Mexico. As of December
31, 2003, this facility had a balance of $3.6 million. Interest accrues at a rate of 2.5% over LIBOR. Under this facility, we
are subject to covenants on tangible net worth of $30 million, leverage ratio of not more than two times at the end of each
financial year, and no losses for two consecutive quarters. In the first quarter of 2002, we breached the no-consecutive-
quarterly-losses covenant and obtained a waiver at a cost of $10,000. We complied with all the covenants in the
other three quarters. In the first and second quarters of 2003, we were in violation of the no-consecutive-quarterly-
losses covenant and obtained waivers at the cost of $25,000 and $50,000 respectively. We were in compliance with
all the covenants in the third and fourth quarters of 2003. The waiver for breach of covenants in the previous quarter
required additional collateral in the form of a second lien on our headquarters, which is owned by Messrs. Guez, our
Chairman of the Board and Kay, our Vice Chairman. Due to an objection by the first-lien holder to the second lien, we have
agreed to accelerate the monthly repayment installment by approximately $75,000 commencing January 2004 in lieu of the
additional collateral. In addition, there was approximately $100,000 of notes payable to various vendors.

We also had an equipment loan of $5.2 million from Bank of America Leasing (“BOA”). The amount outstanding
as of December 31, 2002 was $2.4 million. In October 2003, we paid off the BOA facility in its entirety.

The Debt Facility with GMAC Commercial Credit, LLC (“GMAC”) (described below) and the credit facilities with
GE Capital and UPS all carry cross-default clauses. A breach of a financial covenant set by GMAC, UPS or GE
Capital constitutes an event of default, entitling these banks to demand payment in full of all outstanding amounts
under their respective debt and credit facilities.
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Debt Facility

We are party to a revolving credit, factoring and security agreement (the “Debt Facility”) with GMAC Commercial
Credit, LLC. The Debt Facility provides a revolving facility of $90 million, including a letter of credit facility not to
exceed $20 million, and matures on January 31, 2005. The Debt Facility also provides a term loan of $25 million,
which is being repaid in monthly installments of $687,500. The amount we can borrow under the Debt Facility is
determined based on a defined borrowing base formula related to eligible accounts receivable and inventories. The
Debt Facility provides for interest at LIBOR plus the LIBOR rate margin determined by the Total Leverage Ratio
(as defined), and is collateralized by our receivables, intangibles, inventory and various other specified non-
equipment assets. This facility bears interest at 6% per annum at December 31, 2003. Under the facility, we are
subject to various financial covenants on tangible net worth, interest coverage, fixed charge ratio and leverage ratio,
and are prohibited from paying dividends. In 2002, we violated the net worth and fixed charge covenants in the
third quarter and obtained a waiver for the quarter for a fee of $50,000. We complied with all the covenants in the
other three quarters. In the first and second quarters of 2003, we were in violation of all the financial covenants and
obtained waivers from GMAC for each quarter at the cost of $45,000 and $100,000 respectively. In October 2003,
we established new financial covenants with GMAC for the period ended September 30, 2003 and the remainder of
fiscal 2003 based on our projections. We were in compliance with all the covenants in the third and fourth quarters
of 2003. Tangible net worth, fixed charge ratio and leverage ratio in the final quarter were fixed at $65 million, 0.74
to 1 and 2.55 to 1, respectively. A total of $31.6 million (of which $4.8 million related to the term portion) was
outstanding under the Debt Facility at December 31, 2003. Based on the borrowing base formula, no additional
amounts were available for borrowing under the Debt Facility at December 31, 2003. '

Debt covenants for the GMAC facility and UPS facility have not been established for fiscal 2004 and are expected
to be set before the end of April 2004. We believe that the covenants will be no more restrictive than the covenants
set in 2003.

The Debt Facility with GMAC and the credit facilities with UPS and GE Capital all carry cross-default clauses. A
breach of a financial covenant set by GMAC, UPS or GE Capital constitutes an event of default under all of the
credit facilities, entitling these financial institutions to demand payment in full of all outstanding amounts under
their respective debt and credit facilities.

Annual maturities for the long term debt and capital lease obligations are $38,705,240 (2004), $543,670 (2005),
$12,854 (2006), $13,647 (2007), $14,489 (2008) and $3,613 (thereafter). The effective interest rate on short-term
bank borrowing as of December 31, 2001, 2002 and 2003 were 6.7%, 4.1% and 5.3%, respectively.

Guarantees

Guarantees have been issued since 2001 in favor of YKK, Universal Fasteners, and RVL Inc. for $750,000,
$500,000 and unspecified amount, respectively, to cover trim purchased by Tag-It Pacific Inc. on our behalf. We
have not reported a liability for these guarantees. We issued the guarantees to cover trim purchased by Tag-it in
order to ensure our production in a timely manner. If Tag-it ever defaults, we would have to pay the outstanding
liability due to these vendors by Tag-it for purchases made on our behalf. We have not had to perform under these
guarantees since inception. It is not predictable to estimate the fair value of the guarantee; however, we do not
anticipate that we will incur losses as a result of these guarantees. As of December 31, 2003, Tag-It Pacific Inc. had
approximately $83,000 due to RVL Inc.
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9. Income Taxes

The provision (credit) for domestic and foreign income taxes is as follows:

Year Ended December 31,
2001 2002 2003
Current:
Federal......cccoovviiiiiiiiicc e $(1,272,918) $ (307,684) $(2,400,000)
StALE vt 1,079 293,055 (241,948)
FOreign...oocoii i 850,511 1,162.798 2,106,199
(421,328) 1,148,169 4264,251
Deferred:
Federal ..o, 999,201 -- --
SALE oo 232,821 - --
FOreign....coovviiieiciecie e 41,283 (97.151) (132.622)
1,273,305 (97.151) (132.622)
Total.viiiicieecee e $ 851977 $1.051,018 $4,131,629

The source of loss before the provision for taxes and cumulative effect of accounting change is as follows:

Year Ended December 31,
2001 2002 2003
Federal......coo oo $ (8,582,448) $(11,061,937) $(18,609,818)
FOT@IGN ..ottt 6.545.169 10,898,918 (13.143.213)
TOtal e $ (2,037.279) 3 (163,019) $(13,753.031)

Our effective tax rate differs from the statutory rate principally due to the following reasons: (1) A full valuation
allowance has been provided for deferred tax assets as a result of the operating losses in the United States and
Mexico, since recoverability of those assets has not been assessed as more likely than not; (2) Although we have
taxable losses in Mexico, it is subject to a minimum tax; and (3) The eamings of our Hong Kong subsidiary are

taxed at a rate of 17.5% versus the 35% U.S. federal rate.
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A reconciliation of the statutory federal income tax provision (benefit) to the reported tax provision (benefit) on
income is as follows:

Year Ended December 31,
2001 2002 2003

Income tax (benefit) based on federal

SLALUEOTY TALE .viveeevisiee e e e eveeaa e $ (713,048) $(1,761,992) $(11,113,561)
State income taxes, net of federal benefit............. 152,035 190,486 (157,266)
Effect of foreign income taxes..........cccoccvvverereennn. 1,494,708 1,162,798 2,862,550
Nondeductible goodwill impairment .................... -- -- 4,141,426
Increase in tax rESEIVE ..vviiiviiceirririeeeeeen e eiienes -- - 2,400,000
Increase (decrease) in valuation allowance

ANd OLher .oovvivieicc s (81.718) 1,459,726 5.998.480

§_ 851,977 $ 1,051,018 $ 4,131,629

Deferred income taxes reflect the net effects of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for income tax purposes. Significant components of
the deferred tax assets (liabilities) are as follows:

December 31,
2002 2003
Deferred tax assets:
Provision for doubtful accounts and unissued credits.................. $ 835,980 $ 1,149,051
Provision for Other TESEIVES ....oooviviiiriiiie e e 1,347,609 2,711,566
Domestic and foreign loss carry forwards and foreign tax credits - 850,326 2,050,179
Deferred compensation and benefits..........ccc.ocvevviiieciieenicnne 238,232 197,486
GoodWill IMPAIIMENT ....oiii it 1.260.492 4.422.837
Total deferred tax aSSES......cvvvveeeevivieieeeee e 4,532,639 10,531,119
Deferred tax liabilities:
OthET ottt e (407.751) (275.129)
(407,751 . (275,129)
Valuation allowance for deferred tax assets ..........ccceeevviiieiceiininnne (4,532.639) (10.531.119)
Net deferred tax Labilities ........ocecivveiievieinenieirci e $ (407,751) § (275,129)

In January 2004, the Internal Revenue Service completed its examination of our Federal income tax returns for the
years ended December 31, 1996 through 2001. The IRS has proposed adjustments to increase our income tax
payable for the six years under examination by an aggregate of approximately $14.5 million. This adjustment would
also result in additional state taxes and interest of approximately $12.6 million. We believe that we have
meritorious defenses to and intend to vigorously contest the proposed adjustments. If the proposed adjustments are
upheld through the administrative and legal process, they could have a material impact on our earnings and cash
flow. We believe we have provided adequate reserves for any reasonably foreseeable outcome related to these
matters on the balance sheet included in the Consolidated Financial Statements under the caption “Income Taxes”.
We do not believe that the adjustments, if any, arising from the IRS examination, will result in an additional income
tax liability beyond what is recorded in the accompanying balance sheet.
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10. Commitments and Contingencies
We have entered into various non-cancelable operating lease agreements, principally for executive office,
warehousing facilities and production facilities with unexpired terms in excess of one year. Certain of these leases

provided for scheduled rent increases. We record rent expense on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease.
The future minimum lease payments under these non-cancelable operating leases are as follows:

Related Party Other

2004ttt nan st renan $ 336,774 $ 479,633
20005 e -- 195,459
2006 . e e -- 156,083
2007 e ettt -- 102,163
2008 . ettt ettt re e - --
ThET@after «..viiviiieie e -- --

Total future minimum lease payments .........c.coevevevererrnrenns h 336,774 3 933,338

Several of the operating leases contain provisions for additional rent based upon increases in the operating costs, as
defined, per the agreement. Total rent expense under the operating leases amounted to approximately $2,968,000,
$3,166,000 and $3,101,000 for 2001, 2002 and 2003, respectively.

We had open letters of credit of $17,778,561, $15,458,189 and $5,975,908 as of December 31, 2001, 2002 and
2003, respectively.

We have two employment contracts dated January 1, 1998 with two executives providing for base compensation and other
incentives. On April 1, 2003, we amended each of these contracts to extend the term through March 31, 2006, and to
provide for base salary per annum of $500,000 for the period from April 1, 2003 to March 31, 2004, $750,000 for the period
from April 1, 2004 to March 31, 2005, and $1,000,000 for the period from April 1, 2005 to March 31, 2006. Additionally,
we agreed to pay each of these executives an annual bonus (the “Annual Bonus™) for fiscal years ended December 31, 2003,
2004 and 2005 in an amount, if any, equal to ten percent (10%) of the amount by which our actual pre-tax income for such
fiscal year exceeds the amount of projected pre-tax income set forth in our annual budget for the same fiscal year as
approved by our Board of Directors. No bonuses were paid to these executives for the fiscal year ended December 31,
2003.

On October 16, 2003, we entered into a lease with affiliates of Mr. Kamel Nacif, a substantial portion of our
manufacturing facilities and operations in Mexico including real estate and equipment. The lease was effective as of
September 1, 2003. We leased our twill mill in Tlaxcala, Mexico, and our sewing plant in Ajalpan, Mexico, for a
period of 6 years and for an annual rental fee of $11 million. Mr. Nacif is one of our stockholders. In connection
with this transaction, we also entered into a management services agreement pursuant to which Mr. Nacif’s affiliates
will manage the operation of our remaining facilities in Mexico in exchange for use of the remaining facilities. The
term of the management services agreement is also for a period of 6 years. Additionally, we have agreed to
purchase annually, six million yards of fabric manufactured at the facilities leased and/or operated by Mr. Nacif’s
affiliates at market prices to be negotiated. See Note 14. Using current market prices, the purchase commitment
would be approximately $18 million per year.

Following the reduction in workforce in our MexXico operations, we became the target of workers rights activists
who have picketed our customers, stuffed electronic mailboxes with protests and threatened our customers with
retaliation for continuing business with us. While we have defended our position to our customers, some of our
larger customers for Mexico produced jeans wear have been reluctant to place orders with us in response to actions
taken and contemplated by these activist groups. As a consequence, we project a loss of approximately $75 million
in revenue from sales of Mexico-produced merchandise for 2004.
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We are involved from time to time in routine legal matters incidental to our business. In our opinion, resolution of
such matters will not have a material effect on our financial position or results of operations.

11. Equity

We have elected to follow Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to
Employees” (APB 25) and related interpretations in accounting for its employee stock options because, as discussed
below, the alternative fair value accounting provided for under FASB Statement No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-
Based Compensation”, requires use of option valuation models that were not developed for use in valuing employee
stock options. Under APB 25, when the exercise price of our employee stock options equals the market price of the
underlying stock on the date of grant, no compensation expense is recognized.

Our Employee Incentive Plan, formerly the 1995 Stock Option Plan, as amended and restated in May 1999 (the
Plan), has authorized the grant of both incentive and non-qualified stock options to officers, employees, directors
and consultants of the Company for up to 5,100,000 shares (as adjusted for a stock split effective May 1998) of our
common stock. The exercise price of incentive options must be equal to 100% of fair market value of common stock
on the date of grant and the exercise price of non-qualified options must not be less than the par value of a share of
common stock on the date of grant. The Plan was also amended to expand the types of awards, which may be
granted pursuant thereto to include stock appreciation rights, restricted stock and other performance-based benefits.
At December 31, 2003, the Plan has 2,573,913 options available for future grant.

In October 1998, we granted 1,000,000 non-qualified stock options not under the Plan. The options were granted to
our Chairman and Vice Chairman at $13.50 per share, the closing sales price of the common stock on the day of the
grant. The options expire in 2008 and vest over four years. In May 2002, we granted 3,000,000 non-qualified stock
options not under the Plan. The options were granted to our Chairman, Vice Chairman and Mr. Kamel Nacif at
$5.50 per share, the closing sales price of the common stock on the day of the grant. The options expire in 2012 and
vest over three years. In May 2003, we granted 2,000,000 non-qualified stock options not under the Plan to our
Chairman and Vice Chairman. The options were granted at $3.65 per share, the closing sales price of the common
stock on the day of the grant. The options expire in 2013 and vest over four years. In December 2003, we granted
400,000 non-qualified stock options not under the Plan to our President. The options were granted at $3.94 per
share, the closing sales price of the common stock on the day of the grant. The options expire in 2013 and vest over
four years. :
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A summary of our stock option activity, and related information is as follows:

2001 2002 2003
Weighted Weighted Weighted
Average Average Average
Exercise Exercise Exercise
‘ Options Price Options Price Options Price
Options outstanding at
beginning of year 2,697,487 $14.29 3,520,737 $ 11.90 6,376,487 $ 889
Granted 955,000 5.18 3,004,000 5.50 3,288,100 3.67
Exercised (8,500) 3.97 (5,500} 439 -- --
Forfeited (123.250) 12.65 (142.750) 12.14 (738.500) 6.91
Outstanding at end of
year 3,520,737 §11.90 6.376,487 § 8.89 8,926,087 $ 7.13
Exercisable at end of :
Year 2,173,587 $14.29 3,535,487 $11.35 4,028,487 $10.56
Weighted average per
option fair value
of options granted
during the year $3.89 $ 2.89 $ 1.92
The following table summarizes information about stock options outstanding at December 31, 2003:
Options Outstanding Options Exercisable
Weighted
Average  Weighted Weighted
Remaining  Average Average
Number Contractual  Exercise Number Exercise
Exercise Price Qutstanding Life Price Exercisable Price
$284-% 3.65 2,688,100 9.5 $ 3.63 - § 0.00
$394-§ 5.09 1,121,862 8.0 4.47 487,862 4.87
$ 5.50 3,004,000 83 5.50 1,501,000 5.50
§ 555-% 997 503,000 4.6 7.03 430,500 7.20
$13.50- $15.50 1,026,000 4.7 13.51 1,026,000 13.51
$18.44 - $18.54 39,625 4.7 18.49 39,625 18.49
$25.00 500,000 53 25.00 500,000 25.00
$33.13-839.97 41,500 5.2 39.31 41,500 39.31
$45.50 2,000 53 45.50 2.000 4550
$ 2.84-545.50 8,926,087 7.8 $ 713 4,028 487 $10.56

12. Equity Transactions

In connection with the twill mill acquisition in December 2002, we issued 100,000 Series A Convertible Preferred
Shares (“Preferred Shares”). The Preferred Shares accrue dividends at an annual rate of 7% of the initial stated
value of $88.20 per share and have no voting rights. The Shares issued had been converted into 3,000,000 shares of
common stock at the annual meeting held on May 28, 2003 in accordance with the original conversion terms. We
granted the holder of the shares of common stock issuable upon conversion of the Preferred Shares "piggyback”
registration rights, which provide such holder the right, under certain circumstances, to have such shares registered
for resale under the Securities Act of 1933. In the event of our liquidation, dissolution or winding-up, the Preferred
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Shares were entitled to receive, prior to any distribution on the common stock, a distribution equal to the initial
stated value of the Preferred Shares plus all accrued and unpaid dividends.

In October 2003, we sold an aggregate of 881,732 shares of the Series A Convertible Preferred Stock, at $38 per
share, to a group of institutional investors and high net worth individuals and raised an aggregate of approximately
$31 million, after payment of commissions and expenses. We used the proceeds of this offering to pay down
vendors and reduce debts. The preferred stock was converted into an aggregate of 8,817,320 shares of common
stock following a special meeting of shareholders held on December 4, 2003 in accordance with the original
conversion terms. We have registered the shares of common stock issued upon conversion of the Series A Preferred
Stock with the Securities and Exchange Commission for resale by the investors. In conjunction with the private
placement transaction, we issued a warrant to purchase 881,732 shares of common stock to the placement agent.
The warrants are exercisable beginning April 17, 2004 through October 17, 2008 and have a per share exercise price
of $4.65. Warrant was valued using the Black-Scholes option valuation model with the following assumptions: risk-
free interest rate of 4%; dividend yields of 0%; volatility factors of the expected market price of our common stock
of 0.51; and an expected life of four years.

In November 2003, we issued an aggregate of 200,000 shares of common stock to Antonio Haddad Haddad, Miguel Angel
Haddad Yunes, Mario Alberto Haddad Yunes, and Marco Antonio Haddad Yunes in partial settlement of the balance of
approximately $2.5 million in obligations owed these parties arising from our acquisition of their factories in 1998. The fair
value of the common stock issued on the date of issuance was $3.94 per share, resulting in a reduction of our obligation by
$788,000. Each of these investors represented to us that the investor was an “accredited investor” within the meaning of
Rule 501 of Regulation D under the Securities Act of 1933, and that the investor was purchasing the securities for
investment and not in connection with a distribution thereof. The issuance and sale of the common stock was exempt from
the registration and prospectus delivery requirements of the Securities Act pursuant to Section 4(2) of the Securities Act and
Regulation D promulgated thereunder as a transaction not involving any public offering.

During the year of 2003, we retired a total of 248,872 shares of common stock relating to shares repurchased but
uncancelled before 2001 and shares repurchased this year from Gabe Zeitouni, upon exercising his put option under
an agreement dated July 10, 2000.

In November 2003, our board of directors adopted a shareholders rights plan. Pursuant to the plan, we issued a
dividend of one right for each share of our common stock held by shareholders of record as of the close of business
on December 12, 2003. Each right initially entitled shareholders to purchase a fractional share of our Series B
Preferred Stock for $25.00. However, the rights are not immediately exercisable and will become exercisable only
upon the occurrence of certain events. Generally, if a person or group acquires, or announces a tender or exchange
offer that would result in the acquisition of 15% or more of our common stock while the shareholder rights plan
remains in place, then, unless the rights are redeemed by us for $0.001 per right, the rights will become exercisable,
by all rights holders other than the acquiring person or group, for our shares or shares of the third party acquirer
having a value of twice the right's then-current exercise price. The shareholder rights plan is designed to guard
against partial tender offers and other coercive tactics to gain control of our company without offering a fair and
adequate price and terms to all of our shareholders. The plan was not adopted in response to any efforts to acquire
our company, and we are not aware of any such efforts.

Our credit agreement prohibits the payment of dividends during the term of the agreement.

13. Supplemental Schedule of Cash Flow Information

2001 2002 2003
Cash paid for INTEreSt.........ccruvercricre et $ 4.473.000 $ 2,361,000 3 2,856,000
Cash paid (refunded) for income taxes..........ccorecrens $ (2.554,000) 3 (5.086,000) $ (378,000)
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During 2001, we transferred $5.5 million in receivables to the seller in connection with the purchase of Ajalpan. In
2002, we acquired certain assets of a twill mill located in Puebla, Mexico. Included in the consideration paid were
100,000 shares of Series A Preferred Stock valued at $8.8 million, a 25% equity stake in our wholly-owned
subsidiary, Tarrant Mexico and the cancellation of approximately $56.9 million of certain notes and accounts
receivable due from the sellers and their affiliates for a total purchase price of $87.4 million. These non-cash
transactions have been excluded from the respective statements of cash flows.

In 1999, we acquired Industrial Exportadora Famian from the Haddad family. In accordance with the acquisition
agreement, we had to pay certain amount of earnouts to the vendors annually. As of October 31, 2003, total earnouts
accrued but not paid amounted to about $2.5 million. In November 2003, we entered into an agreement with the
Haddad family to satisfy the amount owed by issuing to four family members a total of 200,000 shares of common
stock, with a fair value of $788,000. In addition, we gave them 400,000 yards of our stock fabric, 100,000 pairs of
pants, and a fleet of old vehicles, with an aggregate book value of approximately $1.5 million. Included in other
income was a gain of $236,000 resulting from this settlement.

In 2003, we reduced a shareholder receivable for $722,000 from Mr. Kamel Nacif against vendor payables owed to
entities controlled by Mr. Nacif,

14. Related-Party Transactions

Related-party transactions, consisting primarily of purchases and sales of finished goods and raw materials, are as
follows:

2001 2002 2003
Sales to related parties.........ccocvverrevirevrnreereierrnineinns $ 8,340,000 $ 4,364,000 $22,296,000
Purchases from related parties ........cocovvveeeeeennne $ 32,095,000 $76,231,000 $72,329,000

As of December 31, 2002 and 2003, related party affiliates were indebted to us in the amounts of $14.6 million and
$22.9 million, respectively. These include amounts due from our shareholders of $5.6 million and $4.8 million at
December 31, 2002 and 2003, respectively, which have been shown as reductions to shareholders’ equity in the
accompanying financial statements. Total interest paid by related party affiliates, the Chairman and the Vice
Chairman were $368,000 and $374,000 for the years ended December 31, 2002 and 2003, respectively. During
2001, Kamel Nacif advanced us a total of $18.1 million for working capital purposes. Such advances were short-
term and were paid back within 30 days of the advance.

From time to time, we have borrowed funds from, and advanced funds to, certain officers and principal shareholders,
including Messrs. Guez, Kay and Nacif. The maximum amount of such borrowings from Mr. Kay during 2003 was
$487,000. The maximum amount of such advances to Mr. Guez during 2003 was approximately $4,879,000. Mr.
Guez had an outstanding advance from us in the amount of $4,796,000 as of December 31, 2003. As of December
31, 2002, we were indebted to Mr. Kay in the amount of $487,000. Mr. Guez had an outstanding advance from us of
$4,879,000 as of December 31, 2002. As of December 31, 2002 Mr. Kamel Nacif was indebted to us for $723,000.
All advances to, and borrowings from, Mr. Guez and Mr. Kay in 2003 bore interest at the rate of 7.75%. All existing
loans to officers and directors before July 30, 2002 are grandfathered under the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. No
further personal loans will be made to officers and directors in compliance with the Sarbanes-Oxley Act.

Since June 2003, United Apparel Venture, LLC has been selling to Seven Licensing Company, LLC (“Seven Licensing™),
jeans wear bearing the brand “Seven7”, which is ultimately purchased by Express. Seven Licensing is beneficially owned
by Gerard Guez. Total sales to Seven Licensing during the year ended December 31, 2003 was $8.1 million. In 1998, a
California limited liability company owned by our Chairman and Vice Chairman purchased 2,300,000 shares of the
common stock of Tag- It Pacific, Inc. (“Tag-It”) (or approximately 37% of such common stock then outstanding).
Tag-It is a provider of brand identity programs to manufacturers and retailers of apparel and accessories. Starting
from 1998, Tag-It assumed the responsibility for managing and sourcing all trim and packaging used in connection
with products manufactured by or on behalf of us in Mexico. This arrangement is terminable by Tag-It or us at any

F-28



TARRANT APPAREL GROUP
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

time. We believe that the terms of this arrangement, which is subject to the acceptance of our customers, are no less
favorable to us than could be obtained from unaffiliated third parties. We purchased $17.9 million; $23.9 million and
$16.8 million of trim inventory from Tag-It for the years ended December 31, 2001, 2002 and 2003, respectively.
We also sold to Tag-It $1.5 million from our trim and fabric inventory for the year ended December 31, 2003. We
purchased $5.8 million, $37.0 million and $37.1 million of finished goods and service from Azteca and its affiliates
for the years ended December 31, 2001, 2002 and 2003, respectively. Our total sales of fabric and service to Azteca
in 2001, 2002 and 2003 were $7.2 million, $2.9 million and $9.9 million, respectively. Two and one half percent of
gross sales as management fees were paid in 2002 and 2003 to each of the members of UAV, per the operating
agreement. The amount paid to Azteca, the minority member of UAV, totaled $2.0 million and $1.7 million in 2002
and 2003, respectively. Net amounts due from these related parties as of December 31, 2002 and 2003 were $3.2
million and $17.5 million, respectively.

On December 31, 2002, our wholly owned subsidiaries, Tarrant Mexico and Tarrant Luxembourg Sarl (previously
known as Machrima Luxembourg Sarl), acquired a denim and twill manufacturing plant in Tlaxcala, Mexico,
including all machinery and equipment used in the plant, the buildings, and the real estate on which the plant is
located. Pursuant to an Agreement for the Purchase of Assets and Stock, dated as of December 31, 2002, Tarrant
Mexico purchased from Trans Textil International, S.A. de C.V. (“Trans Textil”) all of the machinery and
equipment used in and located at the plant, and the Purchasers acquired from Jorge Miguel Echevarria Vazquez and
Rosa Lisette Nacif Benavides (the “Inmobiliaria Shareholders™) all the issued and outstanding capital stock of
Inmobiliaria Cuadros, S.A. de C.V. (“Inmobiliaria”), which owns the buildings and real estate. The purchase price
for the machinery and equipment was paid by cancellation of $42 million in indebtedness owed by Trans Textil to
Tarrant Mexico. The purchase price for the Inmobiliaria shares consisted of a nominal cash payment to the
Inmobiliaria Shareholders of $500, and subsequent repayment by us and our affiliates of approximately $34.7
million in indebtedness of Inmobiliaria to Kamel Nacif Borge, his daughter Rosa Lisette Nacif Benavides, and
certain of their affiliates, which payment was made by: (i) delivery to Rosa Lisette Nacif Benavides of 100,000
shares of our newly created, non-voting Series A Convertible Preferred Stock, which shares will become convertible
into 3,000,000 shares of common stock if our common stockholders approve the conversion at the Annual Meeting;
(ii) delivery to Rosa Lisette Nacif Benavides of an ownership interest representing twenty-five percent of the voting
power of and profit participation in Tarrant Mexico; and (iii) cancellation of approximately $14.9 million of
indebtedness of Mr. Nacif and his affiliates. The Series A Preferred Stock was converted into 3,000,000 shares of
common stock following approval of the conversion by our shareholders at the annual shareholders’ meeting held on
May 28, 2003.

Trans Textil, an entity controlled by Mr, Nacif and his family members, was initially commissioned by us to
construct and develop the plant in December 1998. Subsequent to completion, Trans Textil purchased and/or leased
the plant’s manufacturing equipment from us and entered into a production agreement that gave us the first right to
all production capacity of the plant. This production agreement included the option for us to purchase the facility
and discontinue the production agreement with Trans Textil through September 30, 2002. We exercised the option
and acquired the plant as described above. We purchased $8.5 million, $12.3 million and $14.9 million of fabric
from Trans Textil in 2001, 2002 and 2003, respectively. We sold $0.3 million, $2.0 million and $2.6 miltion of
fabric to Trans Textil in 2001, 2002 and 2003, respectively. We purchased $3.6 million of fabric from Acabados y
Terminados, an affiliate of Mr. Nacif, in the year ended December 31, 2003.

On October 16, 2003, we entered into a lease with affiliates of Mr. Kamel Nacif, a substantial portion of our
manufacturing facilities and operations in Mexico including real estate and equipment. The lease was effective as of
September 1, 2003. We leased our twill mill in Tlaxcala, Mexico, and our sewing plant in Ajalpan, Mexico, for a
period of 6 years and for an annual rental fee of $11 million. The assets subject to these leases have a net book value of
approximately $92 million as of December 31, 2003. Mr. Nacif is one of our shareholders. In connection with this
transaction, we also entered into a management services agreement pursuant to which Mr. Nacif’s affiliates will
manage the operation of our remaining facilities in Mexico. The term of the management services agreement is also
for a period of 6 years. Additionally, we entered into a purchase commitment agreement with Mr. Nacif’s affiliates
to purchase annually, six million yards of fabric manufactured at the facilities leased and/or operated by Mr. Nacif’s
affiliates at market prices to be negotiated. See Note 10, “Commitments and Contingencies.” Using current market
prices, the purchase commitment would be approximately $18 million per year.
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We were indebted to Mr. Kamel Nacif and his affiliates in the amount of $5.2 million and $5.4 million as of
December 31, 2002 and December 31, 2003, respectively.

Under lease agreements entered into between two entities owned by the Chairman, Vice Chairman and us, we paid
$1,299,000 in 2001, $1,330,000 in 2002 and $1,330,000 in 2003 for rent for office and warehouse facilities. One of
these lease agreements expires in June 2004; the second lease is currently on a month-to-month basis pending our
planned relocation.

We reimbursed our principal shareholder for fuel and related expenses whenever our executives used the aircraft for
business purposes from 477 Aviation LLC, which is wholly owned by our principal shareholder.

At December 31, 2002 and 2003, we had various employee receivables totaling $457,000 and $450,000,
respectively, included in due from related parties.

We entered lease agreements with the former owners of Industrial Exportadora Famian and our former employees.
Under theses leases, we paid $832,000 in 2001, $843,000 in 2002 and $943,000 in 2003 for rent for sewing and
washing facilities in Tehuacan, Mexico. All these lease agreements were cancelled in November 2003.

On February 12, 2001, we entered into an agreement with Aris Industries, Inc. (“Aris”) under which Aris issued 1.5
million shares of its common stock to us and undertook to repay either $2.5 million in cash or its equivalent in
common stock to us on December 31, 2001 in full satisfaction of the debt of approximately $5.8 million. As of
February 20, 2002, Aris had issued us an aggregate of 8,117,647 shares of its common stock including 1.5 million
shares previously issued in full satisfaction of this debt. On March 27, 2002, we sold this stock to an unrelated third
party for an aggregate of $1,785,882. As of December 31, 2002, Messrs. Guez and Kay jointly owned approximately
7% of the outstanding shares of Aris.
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15. Operations by Geographic Areas

Our predominant business is the design, distribution and importation of private label and private brand casual apparel.
Substantially all of our revenues are from the sales of apparel. We are organized into three geographic regions: the United
States, Asia and Mexico. We evaluate performance of each region based on profit or loss from operations before income
taxes not including the cumulative effect of change in accounting principles. Information about our operations in the United
States, Asia, and Mexico is presented below. Inter-company revenues and assets have been eliminated to arrive at the

consolidated amounts.

2001

Inter-company sales...
Total revenue.......cccceevioenne

Income (loss) from operations
Interest income
Interest expense
Provision for depreciation

and amortization ..................
Capital expenditures .............

Total assets .....ccovvvevveereennnn,
2002

Inter-company sales.............
Total revenue .......cccoeovenenen.

Income (loss) from operations
Interest iNCOME ..o.covcvrerecrnen
Interest eXpense ..........coeeu.e.
Provision for depreciation
and amortization .................
Capital expenditures .............

Total assets ........ccceevvveeeennee.,
2003

Inter-company sales..............
Total revenue .........ccccceceee.

Income (loss) from operations
Interest income .......cooecrrnennn.
Interest expense .........coooueee
Provision for depreciation
and amortization .................
Capital expenditures .............

Total assets .......covevevvecvveennn,

Adjustments
and

United States Asia Mexico Eliminations Total
$ 312,587,000 $ 5,952,000 $ 11,714,000 $ - $ 330,253,000

12.341.000 86.291.000 77.062.000 (175.694.000) -
$ 324,928,000 $ 92243000 $ 88,776,000 $(175,694,000) $ 330,253,000
$  5.364,000 S 5,369,000 $_ (8,803.000) 3§ -- § 1,930,000
3 -- S 2.000 $ 3254000 $ -- $ 3,256,000
$  7.373.000 $ 33,000 $ 402,000 $ -- $ 7,808,000
$ _ 3,537.000 $_ 2.057.000 $ 8971.000 $ -- $ 14,565,000
$ 764,000 3 35.000 S 3,120,000 $ -- $ 3,919,000
$ 176,178,000 $ 97,175,000 $ 121,188,000 $(106,074,000) $ 288,467,000
$ 332,877,000 $ 3,943,000 $ 10,571,000 $ -- $ 347,391,000

14,474,000 90,830.000 82.531.000 (187.835.000) --
$ 347,351,000 $ 94,773,000 $ 93,102,000 $(187,835,000) $ 347,391,000
$ 6,916,000 $ 4,950,000 $ (7,396,000) § -- $ 4470000
$ 287,000 $ 4,453,000 3 8,000 3 -- $ 4748000
§ 5,160,000 $ -- $ 284,000 $ -- $ 5444000
S 1,231,000 $ 452,000 $ 8447000 $ -- $ 10,130,000
$ 367,000 $ 34,000 S 2,584.000 $ -- $ 2,985,000
$ 165,036,000 $ 107,266,000 $ 292,113,000 $ 247.971.000 $ 316,444,000
$ 291,993,000 § 7,359,000 $ 21,071,000 $ -- $ 320,423,000

33,441,000 112,481,000 75,716.000 (221.638.000) --
$ 325,434,000 $ 119,840,000 $ 96,787,000 $(221,638.000) § 320,423,000
$ (25.537,000) 8§ 7,556,000 $ (15,414,000) § -- $ (33,395,000)
3 419,000 5 - 3 6,000 $ -- $ 425,000
$ 5,215,000 $ 41,000 S 347,000 $ -- $ 5,603,000
$ 1,547,000 $ 261,000 $ 14,290,000 3 -- $ 16,098,000
$ 94,000 $ 84,000 A 190,000 $ -- 3 368,000

§ 128,058,000

$ 117,783,000

$ 201,050,000

$(193.786,000)

$ 253,105,000
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16. Employee Benefit Plans

On August 1, 1992, Tarrant Hong Kong established a defined contribution retirement plan covering all of its Hong
Kong employees whose period of service exceeds 12 months. Plan assets are monitored by a third-party investment
manager and are segregated from those of Tarrant Hong Kong. Participants may contribute up to 5% of their salary
to the plan. We make annual matching contributions. Costs of the plan charged to operations for 2001, 2002 and
2003 amounted to approximately $155,000, $149,000 and $157,000 respectively.

On July 1, 1994, we established a defined contribution retirement plan covering all of our U.S. employees whose
period of service exceeds 12 months. Plan assets are monitored by a third-party investment manager and are
segregated from those of ours. Participants may contribute from 1% to 15% of their pre-tax compensation up to
effective limitations specified by the Internal Revenue Service. Qur contributions to the plan are based on a 50%
(100% effective July 1, 1995) matching of participants’ contributions, not to exceed 6% (5% effective July 1, 1995)
of the participants’ annual compensation. In addition, we may also make a discretionary annual contribution to the
plan. Costs of the plan charged to operations for 2001, 2002 and 2003 amounted to approximately $289,000,
$249,000 and $256,000 respectively.

On December 27, 1995, we established a deferred compensation plan for executive officers. Participants may
contribute a specific portion of their salary to such plan. We do not contribute to the Plan.

17. Other Income and Expense

Other income and expense consists of the following:

2001 2002 2003
Rental INCOME ...vvvnvericreieeeee e $ 586,305 $ 495,754 $ 3,957,365
Unrealized gain on foreign currency ...... 103,705 -- --
Realized gain on foreign currency.......... -- 1,123,076 304,060
Royalty income ......ccoooveviniiiiiciiiens 180,833 62,166 --
Sales of damaged goods and samples..... 192,680 -- --
Gain on legal settlement ...................... - 473,041 235,785
Other items .......ccoevvverne.. e, 789.543 493,938 287,269
Total other income .......cocovvviviinieienan $ 1.853.066 § 2,647975 $4,784 479
Royalty eXpense .....c..ooooeeeniiinnrccniinnns $ 500,000 $ 655,691 $ 242,426
Unrealized loss on foreign currency....... -- 1,014,696 560,602
Loss on sale of fixed assets .................... : -- -- 593,626
Other Items .....ccovvvvrvrieerrii e 355.994 333.686 28,692
Total other eXpense .........ccccoveevervcrieennnn § 855994 $ 2,004,073 $ 1,425,346
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18. Quarterly Results of Operations (Unaudited)

(1)  Effective January 1, 2002, we adopted SFAS No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets.” According
to this statement, goodwill and other intangible assets with indefinite lives are no longer subject to
amortization, but rather an annual assessment of impairment applied on a fair-value-based test. We adopted
SFAS No. 142 in fiscal 2002 and performed its first annual assessment of impairment, which resulted in an

Year
Quarter Ended Ended
Mar.31(1) Jun. 30 Sep. 30 Dec. 31 Dec. 31
(In thousands, except per share data)

2002
NEESALES ..t § 65164 $ 95307 § 94,328 $ 92,592 $347,391
Gross Profit.......ccceiremiecirennrecresre 8,419 14,424 14,230 8,236 45,309
Operating income (l0SS).....cccccovveivinriirrriennns (831) 4,780 3,626 (3,105) 4,470
Income (loss) before cumulative effect of

accounting change..........ococevvvveeercrnnnenen. $ (1,726) § 1,302 $ 1,127 $(1,917) $ (1,214)
Net income (108S)...covvrriirrenenririeiceienenen $ (6,597) §$§ 1,302 $ 1,127 $ (1,917) § (6,085)
Income (loss) per share before cumulative

effect of accounting change:

BasiCo i $ 11y $ .08 $ .07 $ (0.12) $ (0.08)

Diluted ..oovieiiiceie e $ (1) $ .08 $ 07 § (0.12) $ (0.08)
Net income (loss) per common share:

BaSIiC...vvvieiiierieie e $§ (41) S .08 $ .07 $ (0.12) § (0.38)

Diluted ...oooooviiiiie $§ (41) $ .08 $ .07 § 012) S (0.38)
Weighted average shares outstanding:

BaSIC. .o 15,832 15,832 15,836 15,836 15,834

Diluted ... 15,832 16,099 15,931 15,836 15,834

2003

NEE SALES....ecov ettt $78,736 $ 78,194 § 96,458 $ 67,035 $320,423
Gross Profit. ... 8,802 (432) 11,514 12,094 31,978
Operating income (10S8)........ccoveverieerrccrreinnen. (1,310) (34,367) 1,448 834 (33,395)
Income (loss) before cumulative effect of

accounting change........ccocoveeceverienenienennan, $ (3.879) $ (32,57) § 138 § 427  $(35,885)
Net income (1088).veeveiveieieririierieeeriereeie e $ (3,879) $(32,571) § 138 § 427  $(35,885)
Income (loss) per share before cumulative

effect of accounting change:

BaSIC.ovieieiiiciiiee e $ (024) $ (194) §$ 0.01 3 002 § (1.97)

Diluted ..o $ (024) $ (194) § 001 $ 002 $§ (1.97)
Net income (loss) per common share:

BaSIC.uuiiiiiiiieiiee e § ©24) $ (94 $ 001 $ 002 § (1.97)

Diluted ..o $ (024) $ (194) § o0.01 § 002 $ (1.97)
Weighted average shares outstanding:

BasiCuuui i 15,837 16,832 18,765 21,426 18,215

Diluted ..o 15,837 16,832 18,767 26,250 18,215

impairment loss of $4.9 million recorded in the first quarter of 2002.
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19. Subsequent Events

In January 2004, we sold an aggregate of 1,200,000 shares of our common stock at a price of $3.35 per share, for aggregate
proceeds to us of approximately $3.7 million after payment of placement agent fees and other offering expenses. We used
the proceeds of this offering for working capital purposes. The securities sold in the offering were registered under the
Securities Act of 1933, as amended, pursuant to our effective shelf registration statement. In conjunction with this public
offering, we issued a warrant to purchase 30,000 shares of our common stock to the placement agent. The warrant has an
exercise price of $3.35 per share, is fully vested and exercisable, and has a term of five years.
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VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS

Additions Additions
Balance at Charged to Charged Balance
Beginning Costs and to Other at End
of Year Expenses Accounts Deductions of Year
For the year ended December 31, 2001
Allowance for returns and discounts..
For the year ended December 31, 2001
Allowance for returns and discounts.. $ 3,892,740 $ - § (758,754) $ (452,385) $ 2,681,601
Allowance for bad debt...................... § 442,667 $§ 2283226 § 758,754 § -- $ 3484647
For the year ended December 31, 2002
Allowance for returns and discounts.. $ 2,681,601 $ 453,167 S - 5 - S 3,134,768
Allowance for bad debt...........c.......... $§ 3,484,647 $ - § - $ (2.302,794) $ 1.181.853
For the year ended December 31, 2003
Allowance for returns and discounts.. $ 3,134,768 $ - 3 - $ (324387) $ 2,810,381
Allowance for bad debt...................... $ 1,181,853 $ 234,149 § - § - $ 1416,002
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the
Registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly
authorized.

TARRANT APPAREL GROUP

By: /s/ Gerard Guez
Gerard Guez
Chairman of the Board

POWER OF ATTORNEY

The undersigned directors and officers of Tarrant Apparel Group do hereby constitute and
appoint Patrick Chow and Gerard Guez, and each of them, with full power of substitution and
resubstitution, as their true and lawful attorneys and agents, to do any and all acts and things in our name
and behalf in our capacities as directors and officers and to execute any and all instruments for us and in
our names in the capacities indicated below, which said attorney and agent, may deem necessary or
advisable to enable said corporation to comply with the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended and
any rules, regulations and requirements of the Securities and Exchange Commission, in connection with
this Annual Report on Form 10-K, including specifically but without limitation, power and authority to
sign for us or any of us in our names in the capacities indicated below, any and all amendments (including
post-effective amendments) hereto, and we do hereby ratify and confirm all that said attorneys and agents,
or either of them, shall do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed
below by the following persons on behalf of the Registrant and in the capacities and on the dates
indicated.

Signature Title Date
/s} Gerard Guez Chief Executive Officer and Chairman April 7,2004
Gerard Guez of the Board of Directors
/s/ Todd Kay Vice Chairman of the Board of Directors April 7,2004
Todd Kay
/s/ Patrick Chow Chief Financial Officer, Treasurer and Director April 7, 2004
Patrick Chow (Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)
/s/ Barry Aved President and Director April 7,2004
Barry Aved
/s/ Larry Russ Director April 7,2004
Larry Russ
/s/ Stephane Farouze Director April 7,2004
Stephane Farouze
/s/ Mitchell Simbal Director April 7, 2004
Mitchell Simbal
/s/ Joseph Mizrachi Director April 7,2004
Joseph Mizrachi
/s/ Milton Koffiman Director April 7, 2004

Milton Koffiman
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Exhibit

Number Description

3.1 Restated Articles of Incorporation of the Company. (1)

311 Certificate of Amendment of Restated Articles of Incorporation. (16)

3.1.2 Certificate of Amendment of Restated Articles of Incorporation. (16)

3.13 Certificate of Amendment of Restated Articles of Incorporation. (25)

32 Restated Bylaws of the Company. (1)

4.1 Specimen of Common Stock Certificate. (2)

4.2 Rights Agreement dated as of November 21, 2003, by and between the Company and
Computershare Trust Company, as Rights Agent, including the Form of Rights Certificate and the
Summary of Rights to Purchase Preferred Stock, attached thereto as Exhibits B and C,
respectively. (24)

43 Certificate of Determination of Preferences, Rights and Limitations of Series B Preferred Stock.
(26)

10.1 1995 Stock Option Plan dated as of May 1, 1995. (1)

10.2 Tenancy Agreement dated July 15, 1994 between Lynx International Limited and Tarrant
Company Limited as amended by that certain Supplementary Tenancy Agreement dated
December 30, 1994 and that certain Second Supplementary Tenancy Agreement dated December
31,1994. (1)

10.3 Services Agreement dated as of October 1, 1994, by and between the Company and Lynx
International Limited. (1)

10.4 Indemnification Agreement dated as of March 14, 1995, by and among the Company, Gerard
Guez and Todd Kay. (2)

10.5 Registration Rights Agreement dated as of July 28, 1995, by and among the Company and Limited
Direct Associates, L.P.(3)

10.6 Reorganization and Tax Indemnification Agreement dated as of June 13, 1993, by and among the
Company and its shareholders. (3)

10.7 Employment Agreement effective January 1, 1998, by and between the Company and Gerard
Guez. (6)

10.7.1 First amendment to Employment Agreement dated as of January 10, 2000 by and between Gerard

Guez and the Company. (12)




Exhibit

Number Description

10.7.2 Second Amendment to Employment Agreement dated April 1, 2003 between Tarrant Apparel
Group and Gerard Guez. (20)

10.8 Employment Agreement effective January 1, 1998, by and between the Company and Todd Kay.
©)

10.8.1 First Amendment to Employment Agreement dated as of January 10, 2000 by and between Todd
Kay and the Company. (12)

10.8.2 Second Amendment to Employment Agreement dated April 1, 2003 between Tarrant Apparel
Group and Todd Kay. (20)

10.9 Buying Agency Agreement executed as of April 4, 1995, by Azteca Production Intemational, Inc.
and Tarrant Company Ltd., with the Company acknowledging as to certain matters. (2)

10.10 Guaranty, Pledge & Security Agreement entered into as of March 25, 1996, by and between
Gerard Guez and the Company. (4)

10.11 Guaranty, Pledge & Security Agreement entered into as of March 25, 1996, by and between Todd
Kay and the Company. (4)

10.12 Form of Indemnification Agreement with directors and certain executive officers. (5)

10.13 Special Deposit Account Agreement. (5)

10.14 Employment Agreement effective as of the twenty-third day of March, 1999, by and between
Charles Ghailian and the Company to pay CMG Inc. (7)

10.15 Noncompetition Agreement dated as of August 1, 1999, by and among Tag Mex, Inc., NO! Jeans,
Inc., Antonio Haddad, Tarrant Apparel Group and the shareholders of Industrial Exportadora
Famian, S.A. de C.V. and Coordinados Elite, S.A, de C.V. (8)

10.16 Loan Agreement dated September 1, 1999 by and between General Electric Capital Corporation
and Tarrant Apparel Group (8)

10.16.1 Amendment No. 1 to Loan Agreement dated September 12, 1999 by and between General Electric
Capital Corporation and Tarrant Apparel Group (8)

10.16.2 Modification Agreement entered into as of June 7, 2002, by and between General Electric Capital
Corporation and Tarrant Apparel Group. (16)

10.17 Promissory Note dated September 1, 1999 to pay to the order of General Electric Capital
Corporation the loan amount referred to in Exhibit 10.77. (8)

10.18 Corporate Guaranty dated September 1, 1999 by Tarrant Mexico, S. de R.L. de C.V. in connection

with loan agreement referred to in Exhibit 10.77. (8)




Exhibit

Number Description

10.18.1 Amendment No. 1 to Corporate Guaranty dated September 12, 1999 by Tarrant Mexico, S. de R.L.
de C.V. in connection with loan agreement referred to in Exhibit 10.77 (8)

10.19 Master Security Agreement made as of September 1, 1999 by and between General Electric
Capital Corporation and Tarrant Mexico, S. de R.L. de C.V. in connection with loan agreement
referred to in Exhibit 10.77 (8)

10.19.1 Amendment No. 1 to Master Security Agreement made as of September 12, 1999 by and between
General Electric Capital Corporation and Tarrant Mexico, S. de R.L. de C.V. in connection with
loan agreement referred to in Exhibit 10.77 (8)

10.20 Loan Agreement dated December 30, 1999 by and between Standard Chartered Bank and Tarrant
Apparel Group. (9)

10.21 Factoring Agreement dated November 24, 1999 by and between MTB Bank and Rocky Apparel,
LLC.(9)

10.22 Machinery and Equipment Agreement dated November 17, 1999 by and between Tarrant Mexico,
S.de R.L. de C.V and Banc of America Leasing & Capital, L.L.C. (9)

10.23 Revolving Credit, Factoring and Security Agreement dated January 21, 2000 by and between
Tarrant Apparel Group, Tag Mex, Inc., and GMAC Commercial Credit LLC. (9)

10.23.1 First Amendment to Revolving Credit, factoring and security agreement dated January 21, 2000 by
and between Tarrant Apparel Group, Tag Mex, Inc. and GMAC Commercial Credit LLC, (11)

10.23.2 Second Amendment to Revolving Credit, factoring and security agreement dated January 21, 2000
by and between Tarrant Apparel Group, Tag Mex, Inc. and GMAC Commercial Credit LLC, (11)

10.23.3 Third Amendment to Revolving Credit, factoring and security agreement dated January 21, 2000
by and between Tarrant Apparel Group, Tag Mex, Inc. and GMAC Commercial Credit LLC. (11)

10.23.4 Letter agreement dated June 29,2001 by and between the Company and GMAC Commercial
Credit. (13)

10.23.5 Waiver agreement dated November 2001 by and between Tarrant Apparel Group And GMAC
Commercial Credit LLC. (14)

10.23.6 Letter Amendment dated March 2002 by and between Tarrant Apparel Group, Tag Mex, Inc.,
Fashion Resource (TCL), Inc., United Apparel Ventures, LL.C and GMAC Commercial Credit,
LLC. Reference is made to Revolving Credit, Factoring and Security Agreement dated January 21,
2000. (15)

10.23.7 Letter Amendment dated January 24, 2003 between Tarrant Apparel Group, Tag Mex, Inc.,

Fashion Resource (TCL), Inc., United Apparel Ventures, LLC and GMAC Commercial Credit,
LLC. Reference is made to Revolving Credit, Factoring and Security Agreement dated January 21,
2000. (18)



Exhibit
Number

Description

10.23.8

10.23.9

10.23.10

10.23.11

10.24

10.25

10.26

10.27

10.27.1

10.28

Waiver dated November 13, 2002 between Tarrant Apparel Group, Tag Mex, Inc., Fashion
Resource (TCL), Inc., United Apparel Ventures, LLC and GMAC Commercial Credit, LLC.
Reference is made to Revolving Credit, Factoring and Security Agreement dated January 21, 2000.

(18)

Letter Amendment dated May 9, 2003, between Tarrant Apparel Group, Tag Mex, Inc., Fashion
Resource (TCL), Inc., United Apparel Ventures, LLC and GMAC Commercial Credit, LLC.
Reference is made to Revolving Credit, Factoring and Security Agreement dated January 21, 2000.

(19)

Letter Amendment dated August 14, 2003, between Tarrant Apparel Group, Tag Mex, Inc.,
Fashion Resource (TCL), Inc., United Apparel Ventures, LLC and GMAC Commercial Credit,
LLC. Reference is made to Revolving Credit, Factoring and Security Agreement dated January 21,
2000. (23)

Letter Amendment dated October 28, 2003, between Tarrant Apparel Group, Tag Mex, Inc.,
Fashion Resource (TCL), Inc., United Apparel Ventures, LLC and GMAC Commercial Credit,
LLC. Reference is made to Revolving Credit, Factoring and Security Agreement dated January 21,
2000. (23)

Agreement for Purchase of Assets dated April 12, 2000, by and among Harvest Wear, Inc., a
California corporation (HW), Mapa Trading, LTD, a Hong Kong corporation (Mapa), Needletex,
Inc., a Califomia corporation (Needletex), Patrick Bensimon (the Shareholder), Jane Doe
Intemnational LLC, (formally Needletex, LLC) a Delaware limited liability company (the
Purchaser). (10)

Promissory note dated February 28, 2001 in the amount of US $4,119,545.06 to pay to the order of
Standard Chartered Bank (11)

Amended and Restated Limited Liability Company Operating Agreement of United Apparel
Ventures, dated as of October 1, 2002, between Azteca Production International, Inc. and Tag
Mex, Inc. (19)

Employment Agreement effective January 7, 2002 by and between Patrick Chow and the
Company. (14)

First Amendment to Employment Agreement dated April 1, 2003 between Tarrant Apparel Group
and Patrick Chow. (20)

Security Agreement entered in to as of April 9, 2001, by and between Banco Nacional De
Comercio Exterior, Industrial Exportadora Famian S.A. and Tarrant Apparel Group. (14)

Guaranty Agreement dated as of May 30, 2002 by and between UPS Capital Global Trade Finance
Corporation and Tarrant Apparel Group and Fashion Resource (TCL), Inc. (16)

Conditional Consent Agreement dated December 31, 2002, between UPS Capital Global Trade
Finance Corporation and Fashion Resource (TCL), Inc. (18)




Exhibit

Number Description

10.30 Guaranty Agreement dated as of May 30, 2002 by and between UPS Capital Global Trade Finance
Corporation and Gerard Guez. (16)

10.31 Syndicated Letter of Credit Facility dated June 13, 2002 by and between Tarrant Company
Limited, Marble Limited and Trade Link Holdings Limited as Borrowers and UPS Capital Global
Trade Finance Corporation as Agent and Issuer and Certain Banks and Financial Institutions as
Banks. (16)

10.31.1 Charge Over Shares dated June 13, 2002 by Fashion Resource (TCL), Inc. in favor of UPS Capital
Global Trade Finance Corporation. (16)

10.31.2 Syndicated Composite Guarantee and Debenture dated June 13, 2002 between Tarrant Company
Limited, Marble Limited and Trade link Holdings Limited and UPS Capital Global Trade Finance
Corporation. (16)

10.31.3 Fourth Deed of Variation to Syndicated Letter of Credit Facility dated June 18, 2003 among
Tarrant Company Limited, Marble Limited and Trade Link Holdings Limited and UPS Capital
Global Trade Finance Corporation (20)

10.31.4 Letter Agreement dated September 1, 2003, among Tarrant Company Limited, Marble Limited,
Trade Link Holdings Limited and UPS Capital Global Trade Finance Corporation. (23)

10315 Fifth Deed of Variation to Syndicated Letter of Credit Facility dated December 23, 2003 among
Tarrant Company Limited, Marble Limited and Trade Link Holdings Limited and UPS Capital
Global Trade Finance Corporation

10.32 Assignment of Promissory Note by Tarrant Apparel Group to Tarrant Company Limited and to
Trade Link Holdings Company dated December 26, 2001. (16)

10.33 Promissory Note dated July 1, 2002 by Tarrant Apparel Group in favor of Todd Kay. (16)

10.33.1 Amendment to Promissory Note dated January 2, 2003, between Todd Kay and the Company. (18)

10.34 Agreement for Purchase of Assets and Stock dated December 31, 2002, by and among the
Company, Tarrant Mexico, S. de R.L. de C.V., Machrima Luxembourg International, Sarl, Trans
Textil International, S.A. de C.V., Inmobiliaria Cuadros, S.A. de C.V., Rosa Lisette Nacif
Benavides, Gazi Nacif Borge, Jorge Miguel Echevarria Vazquez, and Kamel Nacif Borge.+ (17)

10.35 Exclusive Distribution Agreement dated April 1, 2003, between Federated Merchandising Group,
an unincorporated division of Federated Department Stores, and Private Brands, Inc. (19)

10.36 Unconditional Guaranty of Performance dated April 1, 2003, by Tarrant Apparel Group. (19)

10.37 Charge Over Shares dated February 26, 2003, between Machrima Luxembourg International Sarl
and UPS Global Trade Finance Corporation. (19)

10.38 Promissory Note dated May 31, 2003 made by Gerard Guez in favor of Tarrant Apparel Group.

(20)
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Number Description

10.39 Indemnification Agreement dated April 10, 2003 between Tarrant Apparel Group and Seven
Licensing Company, LLC. (20)

10.40 Form of Subscription Agreement, by and among the Company and the Purchaser to be identified
therein. (21)

1041 Registration Rights Agreement dated October 17, 2003, by and among the Company and Sanders
Morris Harris Inc. as agent and attorney-in-fact for the Purchasers identified therein. (21)

10.42 Placement Agent Agreement dated October 13, 2003, by and among the Company and Sanders
Morris Harris Inc. (21)

1043 Common Stock Purchase Warrant dated October 17, 2003, by and between the Company and
Sanders Morris Harris Inc. (21)

10.44 Form of Voting Agreement, by and between Sanders Morris Harris Inc. and the Shareholder to be
identified therein. (22)

1045 Lease Agreement, dated as of August 29, 2003, between Tarrant Mexico S. de R.L.. de C.V. and
Acabados Y Cortes Textiles S.A. de C.V. (21)

10.46 Lease Agreement, dated as of August 29, 2003, between Tarrant Mexico S. de R.L. de C.V. and
Acabados Y Cortes Textiles S.A. de C.V. (21)

10.47 Purchase Commitment Agreement, dated October 16, 2003, between Tarrant Mexico S. de R.L. de
C.V. and Acabados Y Cortes Textiles S.A. de C.V. (21)

10.48 Employment Agreement, effective as of September 1, 2003, between the Company and Barry
Aved. (23)

10.49 Employment Agreement, dated October 24, 2003, between the Company and Henry Chu. (23)

10.50 Placement Agent Agreement dated January 23, 2004 between the Company and Sanders Morris
Harris Inc. (27)

10.51 Form of Subscription Agreement between the Company and the investor to be identified therein.
@7

10.52 Common Stock Purchase Warrant dated January 26, 2004 between the Company and Sanders
Morris Harris Inc. (27)

14.1 Code of Ethical Conduct.

23.1 Consent of Grant Thormton LLP.

23.2 - Consent of Ernst & Young LLP.

31.1 Certificate of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) under the Securities and
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.

31.2 Certificate of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) under the Securities and

Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.
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Number Description

321 Certificate of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(b) under the Securities and
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.

322 Certificate of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(b) under the Securities and

Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.

+  All schedules and or exhibits have been omitted. Any omitted schedule or exhibit will be furnished
supplementally to the Securities and Exchange Commission upon request.

(1) Filed as an exhibit to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission on May 4, 1995 (File No. 33-91874).

(2) Filed as an exhibit to Amendment No. 1 to Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed with the Securities
and Exchange Commission on July 15, 1995. '

(3) Filed as an exhibit to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-X for the year ended December 30,
199s.

(4) Filed as an exhibit to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31,
1996.

(5) Filed as an exhibit to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 1997.

(6) Filed as an exhibit to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31,
1998.

(7) Filed as an exhibit to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31,
1999.

(8) Filed as an exhibit to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30,
1999.

(9) Filed as an exhibit to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31,
1999.

(10) Filed as an exhibit to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2000.

(11) Filed as an exhibit to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10K for the year ending December 31,
2000.

(12) Filed as an exhibit to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10Q for the quarter ending March 31,
2001.

(13) Filed as an exhibit to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10Q for the quarter ending June 30, 2001.

(14) Filed as an exhibit to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10K for the year ending December 31,
2001.

(15) Filed as an exhibit to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10Q for the quarter ending March 31,
2002.

(16) Filed as an exhibit to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10Q for the quarter ending June 30, 2002.

(17) Filed as an exhibit to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8K dated December 31, 2002 and filed on
January 15, 2003.

(18) Filed as an exhibit to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10K for the year ending December 31,
2002. ’




(19) Filed as an exhibit to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10Q for the quarter ending March 31,
2003.

(20) Filed as an exhibit to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10Q for the quarter ending June 30, 2003.
(21) Filed as an exhibit to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated October 16, 2003.

(22) Filed as an exhibit to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-3 filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission on October 30, 2003 (File No. 333-110090).

(23) Filed as an exhibit to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10Q for the quarter ending September 30,
2003.

(24) Filed as an exhibit to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated November 12, 2003.
(25) Filed as an exhibit to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated December 4, 2003.

(26) Filed as an exhibit to the Company’s Amendment to Current Report on Form 8-K/A, filed December 12,
2003.

(27) Filed as an exhibit to the Company’s Current Report on Form &-K dated January 23, 2004.




EXHIBIT 31.1

Certification of CEO Pursuant to
Securities Exchange Act Rules 13a-14 and 15d-14
as Adopted Pursuant to
Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

I, Gerard Guez, certify that:

L. T have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Tarrant Apparel Group;

2. Based on my knowledge, this annual report does not contain any untrue statement of a material
fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which
such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this annual report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this
annual report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of
the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this annual report;

4. The registrant's other certifying officers and | are responsible for establishing and maintaining
disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-14 and 15d-14) for the registrant and we
have:

a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures to ensure that material information
relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this annual report is being prepared,;

b) evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures as of a
date within 90 days prior to the filing date of this annual report (the "Evaluation Date"); and

c) presented in this annual report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure
controls and procedures based on our evaluation as of the Evaluation Date;

5. The registrant's other certifying officers and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation,
to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the
equivalent function):

a) all significant deficiencies in the design or operation of internal controls which could
adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial data and have identified for
the registrant's auditors any material weaknesses in internal controls; and

b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who
have a significant role in the registrant's internal controls; and

6. The registrant's other certifying officers and I have indicated in this annual report whether or not
there were significant changes in internal controls or in other factors that could significantly affect internal controls
subsequent to the date of our most recent evaluation, including any corrective actions with regard to significant
deficiencies and material weaknesses.

Date:  April 7, 2004
/s/ Gerard Guez
Gerard Guez
Chief Executive Officer




EXHIBIT 31.2

Certification of CFO Pursuant to
Securities Exchange Act Rules 13a-14 and 15d-14
as Adopted Pursuant to
Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

I, Patrick Chow, certify that:

I. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Tarrant Apparel Group;

2. Based on my knowledge, this annual report does not contain any untrue statement of a material
fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which
such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this annual report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this
annual report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of
the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this annual report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officers and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining
disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-14 and 15d-14) for the registrant and we
have:

a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures to ensure that material information
relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this annual report is being prepared;

b) evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures as of a
date within 90 days prior to the filing date of this annual report (the "Evaluation Date"); and

¢) presented in this annual report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure
controls and procedures based on our evaluation as of the Evaluation Date;

5. The registrant's other certifying officers and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation,
to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the
equivalent function):

a) all significant deficiencies in the design or operation of internal controls which could
adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial data and have identified for
the registrant's auditors any material weaknesses in internal controls; and

b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who
have a significant role in the registrant's internal controls; and

6. The registrant's other certifying officers and 1 have indicated in this annual report whether or not
there were significant changes in internal controls or in other factors that could significantly affect internal controls
subsequent to the date of our most recent evaluation, including any corrective actions with regard to significant
deficiencies and material weaknesses.

Date:  April 7, 2004
/s/ Patrick Chow
Patrick Chow
Chief Financial Officer
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Investor Relations

Any shareholder wishing a copy of the Company's annual
report on Form 10-K or the quarterly reports on Form 10-Q
as filed with The Securities and Exchange Commission, may
obtain such report, without charge, upon written request to
the Company, Attn: Investor Relations.

Stock Listing

The Company's common stock is traded on the Nasdaq
National Market (Symbol: TAGS).

For Additional Information, Contact:
Tarrant Apparel Group

Patrick Chow — Chief Financial Officer

Tel. 323 881 0350

Annual Shareholders' Meeting

The annual shareholders' meeting will be held at 10:00 A.M.
on Wednesday, May 26, 2004 at the offices of Tarrant Apparel
Group, located at 3151 East Washington Boulevard,

Los Angeles, California 90023




